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Characteristics of GEM of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (The “Stock Exchange”)
el a2 5 A R E] (B22PT) GEMIN Rt

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to accommodate
small and mid-sized companies to which a higher investment
risk may be attached than other companies listed on the Stock
Exchange. Prospective investors should be aware of the potential
risks of investing in such companies and should make the decision
to invest only after due and careful consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally small and
mid-sized companies, there is a risk that securities traded on GEM
may be more susceptible to high market volatility than securities
traded on the Main Board and no assurance is given that there will
be a liquid market in the securities traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock Exchange
take no responsibility for the contents of this report, make no
representation as to its accuracy or completeness and expressly disclaim
any liability whatsoever for any loss howsoever arising from or in reliance
upon the whole or any part of the contents of this report.

This report, for which the directors (the “Directors”) of RMH Holdings
Limited (the “Company”, together with its subsidiaries, the “Group”)
collectively and individually accept full responsibility, includes particulars
given in compliance with the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on GEM of the Stock Exchange (the “GEM Listing Rules”) for the
purpose of giving information with regard to the Company. The Directors,
having made all reasonable enquiries, confirm that to the best of their
knowledge and belief, the information contained in this report is accurate
and complete in all material respects and not misleading or deceptive,
and there are no other matters the omission of which would make any
statement herein or this report misleading.
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Chairman’s Statement

B

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of Directors, | would like to present
to you the annual report of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2021.

REVIEW

We remain the leading specialist dermatological and surgical practice
and solution provider in Singapore by providing comprehensive,
quality specialty care services for a full range of dermatological and
aesthetic service. We continue to be the leading center for skin cancer
management in particular Mohs Micrographic Surgery in Singapore and
South East Asia. We increased the pace of our expansion in aesthetic
medicine with the opening of a new clinic at Paragon focusing on laser
and aesthetic dermatology.

The unprecedented COVID-19 Pandemic with stringent government anti-
COVID-19 measures and lockdown at both Singapore and Hong Kong,
combining with the collapse of medical tourism due to the shut down of
international travel and the border between China and Hong Kong closed
since 2020, has been resulting in heavy losses for the year ended 31
December 2021.

The group remained optimistic about the future of healthcare industry in
Hong Kong despite the headwinds in recent years. However, we shifted
focus to Medical Health Screening and Imaging Centre due to the rapidly
aging society in Hong Kong and the long waiting list for such services in
government hospitals worsened by the COVID-19 Pandemic. The Centre
will be much less dependent on medical tourism from the mainland China
which may take some time to recover to pre-COVID-19 level.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Board exercised caution
while actively managing its business in accordance with the Company’s
investment objective and policy for the best interest of our shareholders.
The operating revenue of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2021 was approximately S$10,289,000, representing a significant
increase of approximately 32% from approximately S$7,809,000 for the
year ended 31 December 2020. The increase in revenue was mainly due
to the increase in the number of patient visits for our services during for
the year ended 31 December 2021. The loss attributable to owners of the
Company has been decreased to approximately S$8,785,000 for the year
ended 31 December 2021 (2020: loss of approximately S$9,272,000) as
a result of the decrease in the impairment loss during the year ended 31
December 2021.

4 RMH HOLDINGS LIMITED e Annual Report 2021

BIRER :

KAANEBRRESTY (EFF))  rMABDBETIREERZ
ERBREWB AT #hiEAER)) B E2021
F12B3HIEFENFER-

[B]E&

FRAPI A 18 A T NN 32 9B 55 BY B2 S e S s T A0 A2
RERREHBE REFUNKERESRBR
HEEMEBENEREERB - RAFERN
ML ERmREENREEEENESLPL LH
R R T M - faE EParagonfR — &
BRSO E B KBRS P - IR
THEZAESRENERD K-

MAESKEERBRIFAARE  MLEHMNBERE
8 T RS B A B9 B TS AR R 3 B R R R e
B> LUB B PR AR 4T AP B D AR B 42 1 B 20204 #E
R < BERERE > AN E2021F1248
B EFERZIEELK

BELFERAEBESAMNER AEBNHE
BERTENRRFLERE AT ARES
HERAREL L BT E RS ERF G B
BEAMEERBESARTMESERE > &M
NI FEMBRERRERABRITZAT L -
SR O AR AR D Y o K e B R i A Y %
HoErERE—REBA EMEIMETNK
5% Al YK o

HE2021F12B31HIEFE  EEFNIRELR
NEREAERBEBHREEERNRRRT
BE UFEERRBERE (MERER)) NREM -
AEBHE2021FE12831H IEEENK SN
#97510,289,000F1 0 7T > B & Z=20205F128
31H L& E 47,809,000 103 o1 A1 4932% ©
WM EERNEE2021F128318 LEE
EREMRFEKRZ AR HREE2021
F12A31HIEEENRERIERL  XATM
A AELBERVDEEHZE2021512831H
IEFFEE498,785,000# M3 7T (20204 : E5384Y
9,272,000F N3 7T) °



Chairman’s Statement
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OUTLOOK

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the ongoing COVID-19
pandemic will continue to pose a challenge to the world in the foreseeable
future. However, with the release of different kind of vaccines in stages, it
is expected that the global immunisation, prevention and control work of
COVID-19 pandemic will be further improved. The Group has used, and
will continue to use, its best endeavors to mitigate the adverse impact of
the COVID-19 pandemic on the Group. The Group will closely monitor the
development of COVID-19 pandemic and ensure the safety of employees
and stable operations.

APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board, | wish to take this opportunity to express my
sincere gratitude to all of our shareholders, customers and business
partners for their continuous support for what has been a most difficult
year. | would also like to express my heartfelt appreciation to our
management and professional colleagues for their cohesive teamwork
and valuable contribution to the Group.

Dr. Loh Teck Hiong
Chairman and Executive Director

Hong Kong, 25 March 2022
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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BUSINESS OVERVIEW

The Group has been providing medical, dermatological and aesthetic
services and products at multiple centres in Singapore and Hong
Kong. We have seven dermatology and surgery clinics in Singapore,
one Aesthetic & Laser Centre, one Multi-Specialists Centre and one
Regenerative Medicine Centre in Hong Kong

The Group provides services to patients for medical, surgical and laser
treatment of full range of dermatology, hair and nail disorders. The Group
has particular strength and expertise in management of skin cancers from
state of the art Mole Mapping Scanning for skin cancer surveillance to
highly specialized Mohs Micrographic Surgery.

The Group also provides aesthetic services and products in Aesthetic
medicine through our clinics in Singapore and Aesthetic & Laser Centre
in Hong Kong. The Group also provides medical services at our Multi-
specialist Centre, and products in the form of regenerative skin care
products, and anti-aging oral supplement products at Regenerative
Medicine Centre in Hong Kong.

For the year ended 31 December 2021, both the global business
environment and the Group continued to be affected adversely by the
COVID-19 pandemic. The Group continued to implement preventive
and controlling measures against the outbreak of the COVID-19 so as
to minimise the impact arising therefrom and to continue to increase
revenue. The revenue of the Group of approximately S$10,289,000
for the year ended 31 December 2021 increased by approximately
S$$2,480,000 or 32% from approximately S$7,809,000 for the year ended
31 December 2020. The revenue of Aesthetic Services, Consultation
Services, Prescription and Dispensing Services, Treatment Services,
Trading Sales and other services amounted to S$520,000, S$2,022,000,
$%$3,074,000, S$2,863,000, S$239,000 and S$1,571,000, respectively,
which accounted for approximately 5.1%, 19.7%, 29.9%, 27.8%, 2.3%
and 15.2% of the total revenue of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2021, respectively.
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The Group has set up a Mohs Micrographic Surgery Centre and a Mole
Mapping Centre at Orchard Clinic with 5 Mohs Dermato-Surgeon, as well
as a new dermatology clinic at Gleneagles Medical Centre in Singapore
as of 31 December 2021. We have 7 clinics at multiple locations in
Singapore with a total of 8 dermatologists, having become the largest
private dermatology group in Singapore.

For the year ended 31 December 2021, in view of the Group’s long-term
strategy in further developing its business, the Group entered into contract
to acquire one unit of Siemens Healthineers MAGNETOM Lumina, a
Revolution CT with postprocessing review workstation and accessories
and a LOGIQ S8. The Directors consider that the aforesaid acquisitions
will broaden the variety of treatments, offered by the Group by providing
medical imaging service which is oriented on preventive and proactive
care, and empower people to make better decisions for their own health.

BUSINESS OUTLOOK

While the business operating environment in Singapore and Hong Kong
remains unfavourable due to the ongoing government measures in
controlling the COVID-19 Pandemic, we are cautiously optimistic that the
worse is over and we will return to be profitable after the pandemic.

Looking forward, with easing of the government anti-COVID-19 measures
and the rapid roll out of mass vaccination on going currently, we are
cautiously optimistic that the performance of the Group will rebound
strongly to be profitable after the pandemic. The Directors will closely
monitor the situation and evaluate the potential impact on our operations
and financial position on a continuing basis. Moreover, the Group is
exploring business opportunities in China, especially Big Bay Area, which
is growing rapidly.

The Group will also continue to adopt and maintain a prudent but
proactive investment approach and will closely monitor the performance
of the operation with the goal of maximizing the results and value to the
Shareholders.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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FINANCIAL REVIEW
Revenue

The Group’s overall revenue amounted to approximately S$10,289,000
for the year ended 31 December 2021, representing an increase of
approximately S$2,480,000 or 32% as compared with the revenue of
approximately S$7,809,000 for the year ended 31 December 2020.

The Group provides an all-round treatment solution that is tailored to the
patients’ individual needs in the field of dermatology. These are achieved
through the provision of personalised services, including Aesthetic
Services, Consultation Services, Prescription and Dispensing Services,
Treatment Services, Other Services and Trading Sales. The following table
sets forth a breakdown of our revenue for the periods indicated:

B 7% [0l B8

s

HE2021FE12831F L EE  AEEMNEREI
A9 %10,289,00037 N3 70 » BX & 2020412
A318 I FEE R 497,809,000% 1l 70+
#J2,480,000F7 103 75 332% ©

FEFFINERBREIEABERANEASR
EREE2FUFREIR BBREHEBEZEER
B BARE B RECERS  ERERT H
iR KR EZHEFEIEERS  RASUE
RZFBR - TR P AR HI U B AR

2021 2020
20215 20204
S$°000 S$'000
TN T TN T

Types of services: BRFS4EE .
Aesthetic Services ERIRTE 520 220
Consultation Services B AR 2,022 1,328
Prescription and Dispensing Services B2 75 R BCEE AR 75 3,074 1,949
Treatment Services FEAZARTS 2,863 1,835
Other services HMAR 1,571 692
Trading Sales B2IHE 239 1,785
10,289 7,809

Revenue generated from Aesthetic services increased by approximately
S$300,000 from approximately S$220,000 for the year ended 31
December 2020 to approximately S$520,000 for the year ended 31
December 2021.

Revenue generated from Consultation Services increased by
approximately S$694,000 from approximately S$1,328,000 for the year
ended 31 December 2020 to approximately S$2,022,000 for the year
ended 31 December in 2021. With an increase in the number of patient
visits for Consultations Services from 17,074 to 24,493 for the year ended
31 December 2021, the Group recorded an approximately 43.4% growth
in the total number of patient visits for the year ended 31 December
2021.
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Revenue generated from Prescription and Dispensing Services
also increased by approximately S$1,125,000 from approximately
S$1,949,000 for the year ended 31 December 2020 to approximately
S$$3,074,000 for the year ended 31 December 2021. The increase was
in line with the increase in patient visits from Consultation Services for the
year ended 31 December 2021.

Revenue generated from Treatment Services increased by approximately
S%$1,028,000 from approximately S$1,835,000 for the year ended 31
December 2020 to approximately $$2,863,000 for the year ended 31
December 2021, which was predominantly increase from excision, MOHS
light, HISTOFREEZE and cryosurgery. The increase was attributable to
additional capacity of 5 Mohs Dermatology Surgeon on board to service
at Mohs Micrographic Surgery Centre and a Mole Mapping Centre
compare with the last year.

Revenue generated from other services also increased by approximately
S$$879,000 from approximately S$692,000 for the year ended 31
December 2020 to approximately S$1,571,000 for the year ended 31
December 2021. Revenue from other services mainly represents service
income from patient in relation to laboratory test and medical examination.

Revenue generated from Trading Sales mainly represents income from
supplement products based on stem cells and other medical products.
Our Trading Sales contribute approximately S$239,000 for the year
ended 31 December 2021 which represented a significant decrease
of approximately S$1,546,000 as compared to the Trading Sales of
approximately S$1,785,000 for the year ended 31 December 2020.
The decrease was mainly attributable to the continuously shutdown of
international travel and closure of border between Hong Kong and China
resulted on collapse of medical tourism since year 2020.

Other operating income

Other operating income for the year ended 31 December 2021 was
approximately S$1,430,000, which represented a significant decrease of
approximately S$1,347,000 as compared to the other operating income
of approximately S$2,777,000 for the year ended 31 December 2020.
The decrease was mainly attributable to the gain on the disposal of
right-of-use assets of approximately S$1,061,000 for the year ended 31
December 2020, while the Group recorded S$82,000 of such income for
the year ended 31 December 2021.

B RECERFEFTEE W m N HE E202045F
128318 L FE 491,949,000 103 T 1 049
1,125,000 M3 T EEH E2021F128331 0 LA
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Consumables and medical supplies used

Our consumables and medical supplies used for the years ended 31
December 2020 and 2021 amounted to approximately S$2,467,000
and S$1,898,000, representing approximately 32% and 18% of the total
revenue, respectively.

Cost of consumables and medical supplies used decreased by
approximately S$569,000 or 23%, from approximately S$2,467,000 for
the year ended 31 December 2020 to approximately S$1,898,000 for the
year ended 31 December 2021. The decrease was primarily attributable
to the significant decrease of the Trading Sales during the year ended 31
December 2021.

Besides, our cost of medication and consumables was predominantly
driven by the amounts of medication and consumables we used and
our procurement costs. The amount of medication and consumables we
used was primarily driven by the number of patient visits, the number and
complexity of treatments and other dermatological and surgical services
provided.

Other direct costs

Other direct costs were mainly attributable to laboratory charges, which
were fees charged by laboratories engaged by us for providing blood,
urine and other testing services for our patients.

We generally outsource medical tests such as blood testing, urine testing,
and other testing services where we believe that there is insufficient
demand to warrant the necessary investment for the development
of the expertise and the in-house infrastructure. Therefore, we have
subcontracted such testing services to external service providers and
incurred laboratory charges for the provision of such testing services. The
amount remained immaterial during the years ended 31 December 2021
and 2020.
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Employee benefits expense BEEMNMAXZ
2021 2020
20214 20204
S$’000 S$'000
TN T FEINR T
Director’s remunerations E RN 1,666 1,736

Other staff costs: HME T :

— Salaries, bonus and other benefits — e TEAL R H AR 5,071 1,985
— Contributions to retirement benefits scheme —RBREF5HE R 208 163
Employee benefits expense BEEMNHEZ 7,035 3,884

Employee benefits expense relate to Directors’ remuneration, salaries,
bonus and other benefits for other professional staff such as trained
therapists, clinic executives and other administrative staff, contributions
to retirement benefits scheme. The increase was largely attributable to
additional staff headcounts during the year ended 31 December 2021.

Our total staff count for employees (including part time staff and our
doctors), as at the end of the respective financial years is as follow:

EBERABI I RESHH HtBHXAE A0
ZAEIM 2B EABREMITHET) W
e TCAREMBH RS EIHE R - HRIIY
MEBRBEHZE2021F128310 L EELEEA

Fo

RPN EMBEERNES (BERBETIRE

H)WETRHENT !

2021 2020
20214 20204
Total staff count BT 4 68 44
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Depreciation of plant and equipment

Depreciation is calculated over the depreciable amount, which is the
cost of an asset, or other amount substituted for cost, less its residual
value. Depreciation is recognised on a straight-line basis over the
estimated useful lives of each part of an item of plant and equipment. Our
depreciation expenses primarily comprised:

(@  professional equipment, mainly our medical equipment such as
dermatological laser equipment used at our clinics;

(o)  computer and office equipment at our various premises used for
our operations; and

(c) leasehold improvements in relation to the leased premises for our
operations.

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed, and
adjusted as appropriate at the end of the reporting period. Our medical
equipment and office equipment are generally depreciated over three
to five years, which we considered as reasonable for the useful lives
for assets of such nature. The increase in the depreciation of plant and
equipment of approximately S$319,000 for the year ended 31 December
2021 was mainly attributable to the additional of plant and equipment
during the year.

Depreciation of right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are depreciated over the shorter period of lease term
and useful life of the underlying asset. If a lease transfers ownership of
the underlying asset or the cost of the right-of-use asset reflects that
the group expects to exercise a purchase option, the related right-of-
use asset is depreciated over the useful life of the underlying asset. The
depreciation starts at the commencement date of the lease.
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Other operating expenses

The Group’s other operating expenses comprised rental and property
upkeep, administrative fees, professional and consulting fees, net foreign
currency exchange (gain)/loss and other expenses.

The other operating expenses for the year ended 31 December 2021
increased by approximately $$1,300,000 or 30% from approximately
S%$4,302,000 for the year ended 31 December 2020 to approximately
$%$5,602,000 for the year ended 31 December 2021.

HEER%

FEENEMEERSBREESRYERE
THE BXRARNER IMEER (Km) B
BFBRUSEMA

HZE2021F12831HIEFEENEMESERZ B
B E2020512831 H LEF E #4,302,000%7 10 3%
TCIE AN#%91,300,000%7 03K 7T 50 30% = &) 22021
F12831H IEFEE£5,602,000%7 113 7t ©

2021 2020
20214 20204
S$°000 S$°000
T T TN T
Realised losses on fair value through profit or AT EFF ABHEMN T A
loss instrument (‘FVTPL instrument”) (M AFEHABRNTAY)

IR 18 265 =

Unrealised gain on FVTPL instrument, net BAFEFAB@mNTAN
REIRW T RE (15) =
Rental and property upkeep HERMERE 79 17
Administrative fees THER 372 279
Professional and consulting fees SHEEBEEER 3,738 2,604
Audit fees BZER 244 164
Net foreign currency exchange (gain)/loss SNEE (Weam) E51E R R (220) 454
Credit card & nets charges EAFRNETSE A 136 82
Government rate BT =8 103 78
Research fees IR ER 112 92
Travelling expenses RERZ 22 113
Other expenses Hihfasz 766 419
Other operating expenses Hini&SEmsz 5,602 4,302

The increase in professional and consulting fees for approximately
S$1,134,000 was related to the professional fee payable to medical
practitioners.

The other expenses comprised primarily management service fee,
software support, marketing expenses and other miscellaneous
expenses. The increase of other expenses was mainly due to non-
recurring marketing expenses and advertising expenses to create market
awareness for the new aesthetic clinic.

FE BB E B N4I1,134,000 0K T Th B
BUTBRENEEERER-

HitMZ T EEFEERBTE R ERZ
EIHMA R EMERAS - At mEE
REDTEBRLAIETSREINIFEEMTE
R ES -
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Finance costs

Finance costs for the year ended 31 December 2021 was approximately
S$$340,000, which represented a significant increase of approximately
S$$79,000 as compared to the finance costs of approximately S$261,000
for the year ended 2020. The increase was mainly attributable to the
additional of interest expenses on short-term loans during the year ended
31 December 2021.

Finance costs on lease liabilities

The finance costs were attributable to interest expense on lease liabilities
under IFRS16.

Income tax (credit)/expense

Income tax credit was approximately S$86,000 for the year ended 31
December 2021 and income tax expense was approximately S$75,000
for the year ended 31 December 2020. The income tax credit was mainly
attributable to the Group has recognised overprovision for deferred tax
liabilities in prior year.

Loss attributable to owners of the Company

Loss attributable to owners of the Company was approximately
S$8,785,000 for the year ended 31 December 2021 (for the year ended
31 December 2020: loss of approximately S$9,272,000). The decrease of
loss was mainly due to the increase in revenue during the year.

Consolidated statement of financial position of the
Company

As at 31 December 2021, the Group had net assets of approximately
S$4,567,000 (31 December 2020: approximately S$5,531,000). The
decrease in net assets was mainly resulted from the loss suffered by the
Group for the year ended 31 December 2021.

DIVIDENDS

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend for the
year ended 31 December 2021 (31 December 2020: Nil).
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CAPITAL STRUCTURE, LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL
RESOURCES

The capital of the Group only comprises ordinary shares.

As at 31 December 2021, the total equity of the Group was approximately
S%$4,567,000 (2020: approximately S$5,531,000). The Group generally
financed its operation with internally generated cash flows. The Group
had bank balances and cash of approximately S$2,138,000 as at 31
December 2021 (2020: approximately S$4,932,000). As at 31 December
2021, the Group had net current assets of approximately S$2,777,000
(2020: approximately S$1,254,000).

Gearing ratio of the Group as at 31 December 2021 was approximately
109.31% (831 December 2020: 102.57%) calculated based on total debt
divided by total equity as at the end of year. As at 31 December 2021,
the Group had four secured bank loan amounting to approximately
S$4,992,000.

As at 31 December 2021, the capital structure of the Group consisted
of equity attributable to owners of the Company of approximately
S$4,567,000. During the year, the changes of share capital structure of
the Company were as follows:

On 12 January 2021, a total of 120,000,000 new ordinary shares of the
Company were successfully placed by placing agent to not less than
six placees at the placing price of HK$0.225 per placing share under
the general mandate obtained at the annual general meeting of the
Company held on 26 June 2020. Upon the completion of the aforesaid
placing of new shares, the total number of issued shares increased from
600,000,000 ordinary shares to 720,000,000 ordinary shares.

On 18 October 2021, a total of 144,000,000 new ordinary shares of the
Company were successfully placed by placing agent to not less than
six placees at the placing price of HK$0.135 per placing share under
the general mandate obtained at the annual general meeting of the
Company held on 11 May 2021. Upon the completion of the aforesaid
placing of new shares, the total number of issued shares increased from
720,000,000 ordinary shares to 864,000,000 ordinary shares.

BFGR RBEERMBER
FERANEREDELBER-

R20215F12831H A BN RBIEOS
4,567,000% M3 75 (20204 : £95,531,000%
M) cAEE—RUATEENRESRES
HEEBERHBES AEEN2021F12831HH
IRIT4E R RIRE4942,138,0005 M3 7T (2020
£ 1 494,932,000 03 7T) © 712021512831
B> AEENREEEFENA2,777,000H 10
7T (20204F @ #91,254,0003F fI 7T) ©

AEBP2021F12831HWBEIREEN A
109.31% (2020F12831H : 102.57%) > ]}
BERNBEERUBERSE - R2021F
12838 1H  AEBEENBEFIRFRITERY
4,992,000%7 103K 7T ©

R2021FE12831H KAEBNEREBEELR
NEFEE AEE T A4,567, 0005 N It o F
AN AABPIRAEBEEUWT ¢

R2021FE1H128  IRENR AN QB E20205F6
B26HETHREFBEBFAGEREN —RITE
EEERECSRESREERH0.225BTHNEE
BRIBAT DR ALEARARELSQAT G H
120,000,000 # & @A o 7t FiBCE MR H T
B 1% B 817 IR11 42 8 F600,000,0000% & 3 A%
H#ANZE720,000,0008% % 38 §% ©
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SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS
As at 31 December 2021, the Group had significant investments in
equity securities of companies listed on the Stock Exchange which were
classified as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, and the

performance of such equity securities are as follows:

BAKE

1R2021FE12831H  KEBH R EHW
NE)ZRAZBHEHEARE BRREDE
ARAFEFAEBENESHEE MAMKRE
BENRBUT

Unrealized
gain/(loss)
on change in
fair value for
Percentage of Market value the year
share capital as at ended
Number of owned by Investment 31 December 31 December
Stock code Name of investee company shares held the Group cost 2021 2021
HZ20214
12831H
LEEER
TE 1220215 REW
BEN BAENRE 128318 AT EEE
R AR 5% KREBRARAE R &E ZEAL BREME MHE  WE S (BE)
(HK$) (HK9) (HKS)
(BT (BT =5
204 China Investment 3,000,000 0.13% 194,772 213,000 18,228
Development Limited
HEREHERRAR
1143 Link-Asia International 3,000,000 0.32% 538,626 585,000 46,374
MedTech Group Limited
RuERERENKER
BIRAE
1901 Feiyang International 2,522,000 0.42% 2,614,858 2,648,100 33,242
Holdings Group Limited
RGEIRZERE (EB) BRAR
2212 Future Bright Mining 3,040,000 0.07% 121,180 109,440 (11,740)
Holdings Limited
EEEEERERAD
Total 425t 3,469,436 3,555,540 86,104
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Brief description of principal business of investee KREBEATNEEEZRM

companies

Name of investee company

REBRAERE

Principal business and future prospect

FEEBRRRAR

China Investment
Development Limited

PRIRERMERRAT

Link-Asia International
MedTech Group Limited

RUERBENRERBRAR

The group is engaged in investment holding for medium to long-term capital appreciation
purposes, and investment in listed and unlisted securities. As disclosed in the interim
report for the six months ended 30 September 2021, the group’s operating revenue
was approximately HK$2.40 million and profit attributable to owners of the company
was approximately HK$5.79 million. China Investment Development Limited will remain
diversified by aiming at identifying suitable investment opportunities with potential of
asset appreciation and will adopt a pragmatic and enterprising approach to deploy its
investment strategy, with an objective to contribute favorable return for its shareholders.
ZEBENSEFEREUESTHERPABEARGE  UKRKRER th&IFEHEH oM
MBE2021F9A30B L AEANFHARESIKE  ZEBNKEE RN H2.4088
B MZABERE ABEEFAAA 7988 Bt -PEKEREFRASFNR
FEZb ERYEEREENREBENINSBRER S  TRREFEBENRN K
EERBE R LUEARHE IR R ARIZALR

The group is engaged in the electronic manufacturing services, distribution of
communications products, real estate supply chain services and the securities and
other assets investment. As disclosed in the interim report for the six months ended 30
June 2021, the group’s operating revenue was approximately HK$324.80 million and
loss attributable to owners of the company was approximately HK$32.04 million. Link-
Asia International MedTech Group Limited aims to be the leading medium-and-high-
end assisted reproductive technologies medical group in Asia Pacific, leveraging on its
core medical technologies and proven capabilities to acquire customers and provide
internationalised, integrated and professional assisted reproductive services to meet the
medical needs of the reproduction, as well as provides customers with a comprehensive
and systematic prenatal and postnatal care solutions to their fertility needs. The group
will adopt a sound business strategy that combines a diversified approach to business to
drive the growth in profits.

ZEENREEFRERY DHEENER BHERBRERBZURZSRAMEE
BE I B E2021F68308 (L AEA MNP IREFMIRE  ZEBMAKEWHNS
324.80E BB MZABHE AL G AA5832.048 8B IR T HREER R
EEAERADEETEMADRBENTSHEMEERRRKER BEZLBER
iR RENENER AEEABMER R REBRL K5 -BENEHEE
TERT AN AZFRESEBER - RAENEEBER RS X - ZE BB RIGRED
KR BEZ T bRER (REFIBE R
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Name of investee company

REEBRAFLHE

Principal business and future prospect

FEEBRRRAR

Feiyang International Holdings
Group Limited

RIZEIRIER (M) BRAF

Future Bright Mining
Holdings Limited

SIEEEIERARAT

The group is engaged in (i) the design, development and sales of package tours which
consist of traditional package tours and tailor-made tours; (i) the sales of FIT Products
which mainly include provision of air tickets and/or hotel accommodation; and (i) the
provision of ancillary travel-related products and services. As disclosed in the interim
report for the six months ended 30 June 2021, the group’s operating revenue was
approximately RMB36.62 million and loss attributable to owners of the company was
approximately RMB76.20 million. Feiyang International Holdings Group Limited has
been taking initiatives to diversify the business of the group with an objective to broaden
its income stream. The group will closely monitor the development of the COVID-19
pandemic and measures implemented by relevant government authorities and adopt
necessary measures and strategies.

ZEBREB()HR FAEREERTE (QEERERERESIIRE ;()HEB8HTE
m (FEEEREBER HEEEE) ; Ki)HERRERELEE R KRR H0
#E202146 8308 LB ARSI E  ZEBENKERTHOR36.62EEE
70 M ARHEA AEGEEBRANR76.208 B AT - RIGERZER (EE) BRAS—
EFRRBEL TERERER LIARRA KRR - ZEBREBERM T REER
1B RYEE R IB 5 LUK AR B AT 4 48 P BB B B HE 1 > 30 R ER i 2 B9 HE Tl e BR B o

The group is engaged in the production and sale of marble and marble related products.
As disclosed in the interim report for the six months ended 30 June 2021, the group’s
operating revenue was approximately RMB21.97 million and profit attributable to owners
of the company was approximately RMB2.40 million. Future Bright Mining Holdings
Limited intended to increase the variety of marble and marble-related products through
acquiring the marble projects in the PRC which would further grow the marble and
marble-related business of Future Bright Mining Holdings Limited.
ZEBMREREGRKAEGHEBERNE EREE - N8 E2021F6 8308 LL7<E
B BAREMESE ZEBNKEERaORARE21.9788 I MZABEAEA
AL EF AN B ARE24A08E T  BBEESRASRERENFENAIERIER
EMAEARREGIHERERES REE— PR BREERRRATDNREGRK
ERERAEBBRIE R
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During the year ended 31 December 2021, no dividend was received by
the Group from the above securities investments. As at 31 December
2021, the market value of the listed securities being held by the Group
was approximately HK$3.56 million and an unrealized profit on fair value
change was approximately HK$86,104. No impairment was made to the
above securities investments.

The Directors believe that the future performance of the equity securities
of companies listed on the Stock Exchange held by the Group will be
affected by the overall economic environment, equity market conditions,
investor sentiment and the business performance of the investee
companies. The Board will continue to look for attractive investment
opportunities which can generate better returns to the Shareholders.

Save as disclosed above, there were no other significant investments held
by the Group during the year ended 31 December 2021.

MAJOR ACQUISITION AND DISPOSAL OF
SUBSIDIARIES, ASSOCIATES AND JOINT
VENTURES

There were no material acquisitions and disposals of subsidiaries,
associates or joint ventures of the Group during the year ended 31
December 2021.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

The Group operate mainly in Singapore and Hong Kong with most of
the transactions settled in Singapore dollars and Hong Kong dollars
respectively. Our management considers that the business is not exposed
to any significant foreign exchange risk as there are no significant financial
assets or liabilities of our Group denominated in currencies other than
the respective functional currencies of our operating entities. We did not
hedge against any fluctuation in foreign currency during the historical
record period.

HE2021F 1283 1HIEFEE - AERTER
Ll AR EWESR B o 522021F12831H »
AEFFAEN LHESEZHELNAISEES
T MAFEEENREREF A4 486,104
Brro i\t EMESREEHIRE-

EERVR TEEFANBXA LT ATRE
BHEZARKEBRZBECERE - RETE
KRR -REERAKKREBBRERTANEB RS
NWEE - SEFTRUESRISRIFERERE
CREERSINZRERE -

fr EXXPATIREEE N REBPE E20215128
SIALEEETEFEEMEARKRSE

MEAB -MEARMRGEERENE
EWBREE

HE2021F12B31HIEFEE  ERBAE
BMERNDREGELENTBERERHE

B BE B
AEBIERTMEREBEEES KB
B DRI M TR ABTER - RFANEE
BRA ARAEETIEERTHREERNE
BEUCEERSBNEGRLUINIERSHE
FHERMI AR EMEARINERER - H IR
FE SEEC #R AR ML B LR (I SN R B HE T ¥ R o

2025 E ST o PEMPERCA IRAT] 19



Management Discussion and Analysis

o PO e 8L 9 e

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS
AND CAPITAL ASSETS

Save as disclosed above and in the Prospectus, the Group does not have
other plans for material investments and capital assets.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

As at 31 December 2021, the Group had HK$31.68 million of capital
expenditure contracted for but not provided in the financial statements in
respect of the acquisition of plant and equipment (31 December 2020:
RMB340,000 and HK$3.75 million in respect of the acquisition of software
and development cost).

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2021, the Group did not have material contingent
liabilities.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

As at 31 December 2021, our Group had a total of 68 employees
(including part time staff and our doctors) (2020: 44). Staff costs,
including Directors’ remuneration, of our Group were approximately
S$7,035,000 for the year ended 31 December 2021 (2020: approximately
S$3,884,000). Remuneration is determined with reference to factors such
as comparable market salaries and work performance, time commitment
and responsibilities of each individual. Employees are provided with
relevant inhouse and/or external training from time to time. In addition to
a basic salary, year-end discretionary bonuses are offered to employees
who performed outstandingly to attract and retain eligible employees to
contribute to our Group.

CHARGES ON THE GROUP’S ASSETS

As at 31 December 2021 and 2020, there were no charges on the
Group’s assets.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Group’s financial condition, results of operations, and business
prospects may be affected by a number of risks and uncertainties directly
or indirectly pertaining to the Group’s business. The following are the key
risks and uncertainties identified by the Group.
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BUSINESS RISK

The Group business is dependent on our ability to attract and retain
skilled and competent professional staff. Our ability to provide our
services is reliant on the services provided by these professionals. The
ability to attract and retain them is dependent on several factors such as
our continued reputation, financial remuneration and job satisfaction. As
we engage in a service related industry, in the event that we are unable
to find suitable and timely replacements should a significant number of
our skilled professional staff resign, our financial position and results,
business operations as well as future growth and prospects may be
adversely affected. The number of doctors with necessary experience and
qualifications is limited in the market and we are competing for suitable
candidates with other dermatological and surgical service providers. We
cannot assure that we will be able to attract and retain sufficient doctors
with similar expertise, experience or network to enter into or maintain
employment agreements with our Group to keep pace with our growth
while maintaining consistent service quality across our clinics. Our
business, financial condition and results of operations could accordingly
be materially and adversely affected.

INDUSTRY RISK

The dermatological services care industry is sensitive to negative media
reports or allegations, which may affect consumer confidence, reputation
and market perception of the industry. The industry is also subject to
rapidly changing market trends and intense competition amongst other
market players. This may materially and adversely affect the Group’s
business performance. To maintain competitiveness, our doctors seek
to keep abreast the latest and most suitable treatment products and
technology available.

REPUTATION RISK

The Group’s success depends to a significant extent on the recognition
of our brand and reputation in the industry as a reliable dermatological
service provider. Any litigation, claims or complaints from our customers in
relation to the quality of services or products provided by our Clinics may
adversely affect the reputation and image of our Group, and may in turn,
materially and adversely affect the demand for our Services.
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REGULATORY RISK

The Group recognises the importance of compliance with regulatory
requirements and the risks of non-compliance with the applicable laws
and regulations. During the year ended 31 December 2021 and up to
the date of this report, the Group has complied in material respects with
the relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the
business and operation of the Group. There was no material breach or
non-compliance with the applicable laws and regulations by the Group
during the period from the Listing Date to 31 December 2021 and up to
the date of this report.

KEY STAKEHOLDER RISK

The Group’s clinics are currently on the panel of preferred healthcare
providers of various insurance companies and medical corporations.
Our business and results of business operations may be materially and
adversely affected in the event that the relevant clinics are removed from
such panels of preferred healthcare providers of insurance companies
and medical corporations. Many of our patients rely on public insurance
and healthcare schemes. If there are any changes to these schemes that
affect the amount of subsidies to patients, they may then choose to go
to public clinics or hospitals instead. We cannot assure that our financial
condition and results of operations of our Group would not be affected
as a result of any such changes to the policies and laws relating to the
healthcare system.

USE OF PROCEEDS FROM THE COMPANY’S
INITIAL PUBLIC OFFERING

The net proceeds (the “Net Proceeds”) from the Listing, after deducting
the underwriting fees and commissions and other fees and expenses
in relation to the Listing, amounted to approximately HK$44.7 million.
The Net Proceeds have been applied in accordance with the proposed
applications set out in the section headed “Future plans and use of
proceeds” contained in the Prospectus.
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Up to 31 December 2021, the Group had used the Net Proceeds as

HE2021F128310 AEBEFEHBREIIE

follows: FEEUE
Remaining
balance of
unutilised Expected
Original Change in Utilisation ~ Net Proceeds timeline on
allocation use of Net up to as at full utilising
of Net Proceeds 31 December 31 December of the Net
Intended uses of the Net Proceeds Proceeds (Note &) 2021 2021 Proceeds
20215
FiigmE 12H318 RUER
FRRIE FERR BE0215F RERAME e
R =t 12B318 RIERE BE
FERIERENEERR RENE (Hizta) EER g RERER
HK$ (million) HK$ (million) HK$ (million) HK$ (million) Note
BEAT BEBT BEET BEAT Mt
Strategically expand and strengthen our  SREEEMIIRE R RNSAH it
network of clinics in Singapore IR ks 32 - 32 = =
Enhance the quality and variety of our ~ RARBREZFINERRK
Services at our existing Clinics and REBRERMINES
establish new medical aesthetic ciinics ~ ERZ T 136 - 136 - -
Purchase additional new devices and BEBIMIRERMEMR Q2 2022
broaden the variety of treatments and R ER R EREE 2020%F
products offered 96 = 43 53 E_5F b
Improve our information technology HERMNENNEERSE
infrastructure and systems e 24 (13 1.1 = 5
General working capital —hEEES 27 6.8 95 - -
Strategically expand and strengthen our  SREEEMIIER RNSAH Fi7E
network of clinics outside Singapore MMM ARG 50 - 50 - -
Strategically invest in MedTech and digital  SREE MR E R BRI R
healthcare to create synergy to our UFBE DAIEARM
current businesses RBXENBRNE 42 24 18 = =
Development of innovative products to~ BIEEBIFIE R MAIERRE
create a new business that have synergy  FIRBEHEBBEN
with our current business b ES 40 (3.1) 09 S S
Total st 447 - 394 53
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During the year ended 31 December 2021, the utilised Net Proceeds
were approximately HK$11.9 milion and the remaining proceeds as at
31 December 2021 were approximately HK$5.3 million and they were
deposited with licensed banks as saving deposits in Singapore and Hong
Kong.

Note:

(@) On 22 March 2021, the Board had resolved to allocate not more than
HK$6.8 million out of the unutilised proceeds originally intended for
improvement our information technology infrastructure and systems;
strategical investments in MedTech and digital healthcare to create synergy
to our current businesses; and development of innovative products to create
a new business that have synergy with our current business for working
capital and other general corporate purposes including expenses for our
day-to-day operation. For details, please refer to the announcement of the
Company dated 22 March 2021.

(b) The Group has successfully secured a letter of offer dated 21 January 2021
for opening of new clinic at Parkway Parade Centre in Singapore to expand
more areas to widen our customer legal pool as well as establish dedicated
clinics providing specialty dermatological services.
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USE OF PROCEEDS FROM THE PLACING OF NEW
SHARES UNDER GENERAL MANDATE

(i)

First placing of new shares on 12 January 2021

The net proceeds from the placing of new shares under general
mandate on 12 January 2021, after deducting the commissions
and other fees and expenses in relation to the placing, amounted
to approximately HK$26.6 million. The net proceeds have been fully
utilised in accordance with the proposed applications set out in the
announcements of the Company dated 22 December 2020 and 12
January 2021.

Up to 31 December 2021, the Group had used the net proceeds as

RIE— IR ER &R BFRISRIE

B

() M2021FE1812B B R EE RS
20211 B12H B REEEMRMHFTE
IR (BNGHEEEERNEES UK
BR KRR 4926.6 BB BT FTiERIEF
BEEREBEAAT BEEA2020FE12822H
F2021F1B12B A SN EZEE B
FREHER-

B E2021F128310 > A&EBEFRHME

follows: MIEZEET -
Remaining
balance of
unused
Change in Utilisation  net proceeds
Original use of Net up to as at
allocation of Proceeds 31 December 31 December
Intended uses of the Net Proceeds net proceeds (Note) 2021 2021
20214
FriSFIE 12R831A
FRIGTIE PR BEE2021%F RENFAFRR
T B 12A31H IR
FIERIBERENEERR REDE Hzt) 2R HIEREE
HK$ (million) HK$ (million) HK$ (million) HK$ (million)
BERAET BERET BEET BEET
General working capital of the Group ~AEE—REES S 11.6 10.4 22.0 =
Usage on new products including BRHER SIERESED
development, branding, marketing Z R MIBEE TGS
and procurement for new skin care 5Kk
products 9.0 9.0 - -
Development and enhancement of BRI Z & MAIZ R
telemedicine and online appointment  IRA %7 EE HREERN
S 6.0 (1.4) 4.6 -
Total it 26.6 = 26.6 =
Note: B 5E

On 22 March 2021, the Board had resolved to allocate not more than
HK$10.4 million out of the unutilised proceeds originally intended for the
usage on new products including development, branding, marketing
and procurement for new skin care products; and development and
enhancement of telemedicine and online appointment for working capital
and other general corporate purposes including expenses for our day-to-day
operation. For detalils, please refer to the announcement of the Company
dated 22 March 2021.
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(ii) Second placing of new shares on 18 October (i) 720215108180 % ZRELERKRH
2021
The net proceeds from the placing of new shares under general R2021F10818HIRIE—RIZE AL EHM
mandate on 18 October 2021, after deducting the commissions IR BIFR1S AR R 88 (R340 BR B AC & A R
and other fees and expenses in relation to the placing, amounted to NAEURERAKRES OR19188%
approximately HK$19.1 million. JT°
Up to 31 December 2021, the Group had used the net proceeds as B E2021F12A31H AEBECFEAME
follows: MIEZEEANT -
Remaining
balance of Expected
Utilisation unused net timeline
Original upto  proceeds as at on full utilising
allocation of 31 December 31 December of the
Intended uses of the Net Proceeds net proceeds 2021 2021 Net Proceeds
120215
12A318 EYEA
FRSIE EF20215 KEEFE FRSFIE
RN 126318 HIEPE PR
FRRERENRERR RERE BER ERER bk LETHER
HKS (million) HKS (million) HKS (million) Note
BEAT BEAT EEN [
Purchase of equipment and products BEZX BERFGHE
in aesthetic, regenerative and BRERER Q2 2022
imaging medicine 77 0.9 68 202EFFE (a)
Working capital of the Group rEE-REEES 5.7 5.7 = =
Potential investments BERE Q2 2022
5.7 5.0 0.7 2020FF"FF (b)
Total st 19.1 11.6 75
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Up to 31 December 2021, the utilised net proceeds were
approximately HK$11.6 million and the remaining proceeds as at 31
December 2021 were approximately HK$7.5 million and they were
deposited with licensed banks as saving deposits in Singapore and
Hong Kong.

Notes:

() The Group intends to use the remaining proceeds of approximately
HK$6.8 million by the end of second quarter of 2022 for paying RMH
IMAGING machines down payments purpose.

(b) The Group intends to use the remaining proceeds of approximately

HK$0.7 million by the end of June 2022 for potential investments
purpose.
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Report of the Directors
HEEHRE

The Directors are pleased to present their report together with the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2021.

CORPORATE INFORMATION

The Company was incorporated and registered as an exempted company
in the Cayman Islands with limited liability under Cayman Companies Law
on 22 March 2017. The shares of the Company (the “Shares”) have been
listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange since 13 October 2017.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND BUSINESS REVIEW

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. Details of
the principal activities of the subsidiaries are set out in note 33 to the
financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2021. The Group
primarily focuses on provision of specialty care services for a variety of
dermatological conditions affecting skin, hair and nails by utilising medical,
surgical, laser and aesthetic treatments. There were no significant
changes in the nature of the Group’s principal activities during the year.

Details of the business review for the year ended 31 December 2021,
including a fair review of the Group’s business, principal risks and
uncertainties faced by the Group and an indication of likely future
developments in the Group’s business are set out in the Chairman’s
statement and Management Discussion and Analysis on pages 4 to 26 of
this report.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Dividend Distribution Policy of the Company establishes the principles
to ascertain amounts that can be distributed to the Shareholders as
dividend by the Company. Subject to the applicable law and its Articles
of Association, the Company’s dividend payout will be determined based
on available financial resources, investment requirements and taking into
account optimal shareholders return.
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Report of the Directors
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While determining the nature and quantum of dividend payout, the Board
would take into account the following factors, inter alia:

° Cash flow position of the Company

° Earnings stability

° Long term investments

° Future cash requirements for development
o Economic environment

° Industry outlook for the future years

° Changes in the Government policies, industry specific rulings &
regulatory provisions

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The financial performance of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2021 and the financial position of the Group as at that date are set out in
the consolidated financial statements on pages 112 to 207 of this report.

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend for the
year ended 31 December 2021.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

The Group is committed to the long-term sustainability of the environment
and communities in which it engages. The Group strives to improve
the efficient use of the natural resources, including electricity, water and
paper. The Group aims to develop energy saving culture. The Group has
complied with all relevant laws and regulations regarding environmental
protection, health and safety, workplace conditions and employment.

Details regarding to the Group’s environmental, social and governance

report can be found in the Environmental, Social and Governance Report
set out on pages 57 to 104 of this report.
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Report of the Directors
HEEHRE

COMPLIANCE WITH THE LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

The Group recognises the importance of compliance with regulatory
requirements and the risks of non-compliance with the applicable laws
and regulations. During the year ended 31 December 2021 and up to
the date of this report, the Group has complied in material respects with
the relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the
business and operation of the Group. There was no material breach or
non-compliance with the applicable laws and regulations by the Group for
the year ended 31 December 2021 and up to the date of this report.

RELATIONSHIP WITH EMPLOYEES, CLIENTS,
SUPPLIERS AND OTHER STAKEHOLDERS

The Group understands the success of the Group’s business depends
on the support from its key stakeholders, including employees, clients,
suppliers, banks, regulators and the Shareholders. During the year ended
31 December 2021, there were no material and significant disputes
between the Group and its key stakeholders. The Group will continue to
ensure effective communication and maintain good relationship with each
of its key stakeholders.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the published results and of the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last four years is set out on page 208 of this report. The
summary does not form part of the audited financial statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year are set out in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income on page 112
of this report.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the share capital of the Company for the year ended 31
December 2021 are set out in note 29 to the consolidated financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2021.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2021, in the opinion of the Directors, no reserves
of the Company available for distribution to shareholders under the
Companies Law of the Cayman Islands.
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BANK LOANS AND OTHER BORROWINGS

As at 31 December 2021, the Group had four secured bank loan
amounting to approximately S$4,992,000.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the articles of
association of the Company (the “Articles of Association”) or the laws of
the Cayman lIslands that would oblige the Company to offer new Shares
on a pro rata basis to existing Shareholders.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company’s shares during the year ended 31
December 2021.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

At no time during the year ended 31 December 2021 were rights to
acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in or debentures
of the Company granted to any Directors or their respective spouses
or children under 18 years of age, or were any such rights exercised by
them, or was the Company, its holding company, or any of its subsidiaries
and fellow subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the Directors
to acquire such rights in any other body corporate.

MAJOR CLIENTS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year ended 31 December 2021, the percentage of revenue
derived from our five largest customers in aggregate, accounted for
approximately 27.9% of total revenue (2020: 37.4%). Our largest
customer accounted for approximately 15.0% of total revenue (2020:
14.4%).

For the year ended 31 December 2021, our largest supplier accounted
for approximately 37.7% (2020: 41.3%) of our total purchases. For the
year ended 31 December 2021, our five largest suppliers in aggregate
accounted for approximately 69.2% (2020: 91.0%) of total purchases.

None of the Directors or any of their close associates (as defined in the
GEM Listing Rules) or any Shareholders (which, to the best knowledge
of the Directors, own more than 5% of the Company’s issued share
capital) has any beneficial interest in the Group’s five largest customers or
suppliers during the year ended 31 December 2021.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year ended 31 December 2021 and up to the
date of this report were as follows:

Executive Directors

Dr. Loh Teck Hiong (Chairman)

Mr. He Weiqing (appointed on 10 January 2022)

Mr. Liu Yang (ceased on 10 January 2022)

Dr. Seow Swee How (resigned on 10 January 2022)

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Ms. Wu Xiaoxia (appointed on 27 September 20217)

Mr. Yang Zhangxin

Mr. Loke Wai Ming (appointed on 11 May 2021)

Mr. Ong Kian Guan (resigned on 24 Septermber 2021)
Mr. Cheung Kiu Cho Vincent (resigned on 21 April 2021)

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, Mr. He Weiging, Mr. Yang
Zhangxin, Ms. Wu Xiaoxia and Mr. Loke Wai Ming will retire and, being
eligible, offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming annual general
meeting of the Company.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE

Each independent non-executive Director has given the Company an
annual confirmation of independence pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the GEM
Listing Rules. The Company considers that all the independent non-
executive Directors are independent and meet the independent guidelines
of Rules 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service agreement
with the Company for an initial term of three (3) years commencing from
the date of the Listing and continuing thereafter until terminated by either
party by giving not less than three months’ notice in writing to the other.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has entered into a letter
of appointment with our Company. Each letter of appointment is for an
initial term of two (2) year unless terminated by either party giving at least
one month’s notice in writing.

None of the Directors proposed for re-election at the AGM has a service
contract with the Company which is not determinable within one year
without payment of compensation, other than statutory compensation.
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DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

The Directors’ fees are subject to Shareholders’ approval at general
meetings. Other emoluments are determined by the Board with reference
to Directors’ duties, responsibilities and performance and the results of
the Group.

We have established a remuneration committee of the Company (the
“Remuneration Committee”) in compliance with the GEM Listing Rules.
The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee are to review and
make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration policy and
other remuneration related matters, including benefits in kind and other
compensation payable to the Directors and senior management, after
consultation with the chairman and/or chief executive officer.

Details of the emoluments of the Directors and the five highest paid
individuals of the Group are set out in note 8 to the consolidated financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2021.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

There were no transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance to
the business of the Group to which the Company, its holding Company, or
any of its subsidiaries was a party and in which a director of the Company
or his connected entities had a material interest, whether directly or
indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the year
ended 31 December 2021.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts, other than employment contracts, concerning the
management and administration of the whole and any part of the
Company’s business were entered into or existed during the year ended
31 December 2021.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES

Other than payments to the Central Provident Fund in Singapore and
a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme in Hong Kong, the Group has
not operated any other retirement benefit schemes for its employees.
Particulars of the retirement benefit schemes are set out in note 31 to the
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2021.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

A permitted indemnity provision for the benefit of the Directors is currently
in force and was in force during the year ended 31 December 2021. The
Company has arranged for appropriate insurance cover for Directors’ and
officers’ liabilities in respect of legal actions against its Directors and senior
management arising out of corporate activities.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF THE
COMPANY OR ITS ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

As at 31 December 2021, the interests and short positions of our
Directors and chief executive of our Company in the Shares, underlying
Shares and debentures of our Company or its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance
(the “SFQ”) which, once the Shares are listed on the Stock Exchange,
will have to be notified to our Company and the Stock Exchange under
Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short
positions which they are taken or deemed to have under such provisions
of the SFO) or which will be required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO,
to be entered in the register as referred to therein, or pursuant to Rules
5.46 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules relating to securities transactions
by our Directors to be notified to our Company and the Stock Exchange,
were as follows:

Name of Director Capacity/nature of interest
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B B) » BIREE F RS &G 553521458
BN ZIEFIEE L MANERE XA WER
BGEM ETHIREE5.46E5.6718FEAES
BERGHREMNEARRAB R FTER K
RBEWT

Number of  Percentage of
shares interest in our
interested Company
mEEEEN (=F: VNS

LianE 4= i FA=pane

Dr. Loh Teck Hiong (“Dr. Loh”)

Loh Teck HiongB& 4= (MLoh&& 4 ) SYEAE R

Note:  The 141,848,000 shares are held by Brisk Success Holdings Limited
(“Brisk Success”). Dr. Loh holds 50% equity interests in Brisk Success and
under the SFO, Dr. Loh is deemed to be interested in the 141,848,000
Shares held by Brisk Success.

Interest in controlled corporation e

141,848,000
(Long position)
Fe)

16.42%

BtaE ©  #%141,848,0008% B 1% HIBrisk Success Holdings
Limited (TBrisk Success)) }5 cLohB4#
ABrisk SuccessMI50% &1 » 1R 4558 5 K B
E1&F) > LonBE = #18 A 14 Brisk Successid s

141,848,0008& B 1D H #E A 1 mm o
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2021, none of the Directors
and chief executive of the Company had any interests or short positions
in any Shares, underlying Shares or debentures of the Company or any
of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO)
as recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company pursuant
to Section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange pursuant to the required standard of dealings by
directors of listed issuers as referred to in Rules 5.46 to 5.67 of the GEM
Listing Rules.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER
PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS
IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY

As at 31 December 2021, the following persons, not being a Director
or chief executive of our Company, had an interest or short position
in the Shares and underlying Shares of our Company which would fall
to be disclosed to our Company under the provisions of Divisions 2
and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which were recorded in the register of
the Company required to be kept under section 336 of the SFO (the
“Substantial Shareholders’ Register”), or, who is interested, directly or
indirectly, in 5% or more of the nominal value of any class of share capital
carrying rights to vote in all circumstances at general meetings of any
member of our Group:

f& ECREE SN fR2021E12831H  EF K
AABEBTHRABRER A QBN ETAE
oA (EXRBH RBEROIEXVE) ERE
M EARSNEREET RS EREES K
BRI FE352E BN A AT EESLMA
PRI E > A BIREBEGEM EHRE55.46
E567TRFTEAM ETETAESTETESR
SHRERESTHNEERRAB KRBT ER

KA

EERBRHMALHBATIRS
R R AR AV R

2021128310 T AL (QEIFEFH AL
B EBTHAB) RAA B RN B AR RS
BiREEH RIS EE EXVI F2 K3 ZIE
BAAAABEBENEREIRE A BLARE
BERIAEEAFEIMEIREFEENEAATE
S (TEERFELM) WESIXE  RE
BEREEEEWEEN IR EMER FERE
EEAREATNREARE LRAWTELER
B A E5%E L R

Number of Percentage of
shares interest in our
Name of Director Capacity/nature of interest interested Company
AR EEAE
B4 517 #EtE KiH#E EHEBESL
Brisk Success Beneficial owner 141,848,000 16.42%
(Long position)
BmEAA Fe)
Ms. Fung Yuen Yee Interest of spouse Mo 141,848,000 16.42%
(Long position)
Fung Yuen Yee& & Bic (S8 4k 2 () HFB)
HK MZ Health Investment Beneficial owner MNete 2 72,488,000 8.39%
Management Group Limited (Long position)
EERTBEELECEERARLE BoHEa AW HFa)
Li Mingcheng Interest in controlled corporation Mee2 72,488,000 8.39%
RPEEEE R E)
Beneficial owner 496,000 0.06%
B&E#EBA
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Notes:

(1) Ms. Fung Yuen Yee, being the spouse of Dr. Loh, is deemed to be interested
in all the Shares in which Dr. Loh is interested pursuant to the SFO.

2 The entire issued shares of HK MZ Health Investment Management Group
Limited is beneficially owned by Mr. Li Mingcheng. Accordingly, Mr. Li
Mingcheng is deemed to be interested in 72,488,000 Shares held by HK MZ
Health Investment Management Group Limited by virtue of the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2021, the Directors were
not aware of any persons who/entities which had any interest or short
position in the Shares or underlying Shares that would fall to be disclosed
to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of
the SFO, or which would be recorded in the Substantial Shareholders’
Register required to be kept under section 336 of the SFO.

COMPETING INTERESTS

During the period under review, none of the Directors or the controlling
Shareholders or their respective associates (as defined in the GEM
Listing Rules) of the Company had any interests in any businesses which
competed with or might compete with the business of the Group.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company has adopted a share option scheme (the “Share Option
Scheme”) on 22 September 2017 (the “Adoption Date”). The terms of the
Share Option Scheme are in accordance with the provisions of Chapter
17 of the Listing Rules. The following is a summary of the principal terms
of the Share Option Scheme:

(@) Purpose of the share option scheme

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to provide an incentive
or a reward to eligible persons for their contribution to the Group
and/or to enable the Group to recruit and retain high-calibre
employees and attract human resources that are valuable to the
Group or any entity in which the Group holds any equity interest
(“Invested Entity”).

P5E
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(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

36

Participants of the share option scheme

The basis of eligibility of any participant to the grant of any option
shall be determined by the Board (or as the case may be, including,
where required under the GEM Listing Rules, employees (full-
time and part-time), directors, consultants, advisers, distributors,
contractors, suppliers, agents, customers, business partners or
service providers of our Group) from time to time on the basis
of the participant’s contribution or potential contribution to the
development and growth of our Group.

Total number of shares available for issue
under the share option scheme

Under the Share Option Scheme, the total number of Shares which
may be allotted and issued upon exercise of all share options to
be granted under the Share Option Scheme and any other share
option scheme of the Company must not in aggregate exceed 10%
of all the Shares in issue as at the Listing Date unless the Company
obtains a fresh approval from the Shareholders. Therefore, it is
expected that our Company may grant options in respect of up to
60,000,000 Shares (or such numbers of Shares as shall result from
a subdivision or a consolidation of such 60,000,000 Shares from
time to time) to the participants under the Share Option Scheme.

As at the date of this annual report, a total of 60,000,000 shares,
representing approximately 6.94% of the issued share capital of the
Company are available for issue under the Share Option Scheme.

Maximum entitlement of each participant
under the share option scheme

The maximum number of shares issued and to be issued upon
exercise of options granted under the Scheme and any other
share option scheme of the Company to each participant in any
12-month period up to the date of grant shall not exceed 1% of the
total shares of the Company in issue.

The period within which the shares must be
taken up under an option

The period during which an option may be exercised is determined
by the Board at its discretion, save that such period shall not be
longer than 10 years from the date of grant.
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(f)

(9)

(h)

The minimum period for which an option must
be held before it can be exercised

As determined by the Board upon the grant of an option.

The amount payable on acceptance of an
option and the period within which payments
shall be made

An offer for the grant of options must be accepted within seven
days inclusive of the day on which such offer was made. The
amount payable by the grantee of an option to our Company on
acceptance of the offer for the grant of an option is HK$1.00.

The basis of determining the exercise price

The subscription price of a Share in respect of any particular option
granted under the Share Option Scheme shall be a price solely
determined by the Board and notified to a participant and shall be
at least the higher of: (i) the closing price of the Shares as stated
in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the date of
grant of the option, which must be a business day; (i) the average
closing prices of the Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily
quotations sheets for the five business days immediately preceding
the date of grant of the option; and (i) the nominal value of a Share
on the date of grant of the option, provided that in the event of
fractional prices, the subscription price per Share shall be rounded
upwards to the nearest whole cent.

The remaining life of the share option scheme

An option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the
Share Option Scheme at any time during a period as the Board may
determine which shall not exceed 10 years from the date of grant
subject to the provisions of early termination thereof.

During the period from 22 September 2017 to the date of this report, no
share options were granted by the Company.
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COMPLIANCE WITH THE CODE OF CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE

A full corporate governance report is set out on pages 44 to 56 of this
report.

COMPLIANCE OF NON-COMPETITION
UNDERTAKING

As disclosed in the Prospectus pursuant to the non-competition
undertakings set out in the deed of non-competition dated 22 September
2017, Brisk Success and Dr. Loh, collectively the then controlling
Shareholders upon Listing, have undertaken to the Company (for itself
and on behalf of its subsidiaries) that, amongst other things, are not or
will not, and will procure each of their close associates not to, directly
or indirectly, carry on, participate in, be engaged, interested directly or
indirectly, either for their own account or in conjunction with or on behalf
of or for any other person in any business in competition with or similar
to or is likely to be in competition with the business of the Group upon
the Listing of the Company. Particulars of which are set out in the section
headed “Relationship with Controlling Shareholders — Independence
from Controlling Shareholders — Non-Competition Undertaking” of the
Prospectus.

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the
implementation of the deed of non-competition and are of the view that
Brisk Success and Dr. Loh had complied with their undertakings given
under the deed of non-competition for the year ended 31 December
2021.

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company (the “AGM”) will
be held at 11:00 a.m. on 10 May 2022. A notice of which shall be sent to
the Shareholders in accordance with the Articles, the GEM Listing Rules
and other applicable laws and regulations.
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CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

For determining the entitlement to attend and vote at the forthcoming
AGM, the register of members of the Company will be closed from
Wednesday, 4 May 2022 to Tuesday, 10 May 2022, both dates inclusive,
during which period no transfer of shares can be registered. In order to
be eligible to attend and vote at the AGM, all transfers accompanied by
the relevant share certificates must be lodged with the Company’s branch
share registrar and transfer office in Hong Kong, Tricor Investor Services
Limited, at Level 54, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong
Kong for registration not later than 4:30 p.m. on Tuesday, 3 May 2022.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENT

No equity-linked agreements were entered into during the year ended 31
December 2021 or subsisted as at 31 December 2021.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and within
the knowledge of the Directors, at least 25% of the Company’s total
issued share capital was held by the public as at the latest practicable
date prior to the issue of this report.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group had no
transactions which need to be disclosed as connected transactions in
accordance with the requirements of the GEM Listing Rules.
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EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
Fund Raising Activities - Rights Issue

On 19 January 2022, the Company proposed to raise gross proceeds of
approximately HK$43.2 million before expense by way of a rights issue
of up to 432,000,000 rights shares at a price of HK$0.1 per rights share
on the basis of one rights share for every two existing shares held by
the Shareholders. The completion of the rights issue took place on 21
March 2022. The net proceeds from the rights issue after deduction of all
relevant expenses, was approximately HK$41.0 million, which will be used
as below:

(i) Approximately 30% (or approximately HK$12.3 million) will be used
as general working capital of the Group;

(ii) Approximately 40% (or approximately HK$16.4 million) will be used
for potential development plan of the i) aesthetic business in PRC; ii)
medical imaging business; and iii) dental services related business;

(i) Approximately 20% (or approximately HK$8.2 million) will be used
for repayment of part of the outstanding debt of the Group; and

(iv)  Approximately 10% (or approximately HK$4.1 million) will be used
for purchase of equipment and products in aesthetic.

AUDITOR

Deloitte & Touche LLP resigned as the auditor of the Company with
effect from 8 November 2021 and SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited was
appointed as the auditor of the Company on 19 November 2021.

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December
2021 have been audited by SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited, who will retire
and being eligible, offer itself for re-appointment at the forthcoming AGM.

On Behalf of the Board

RMH Holdings Limited
Dr. Loh Teck Hiong
Chairman and Executive Director

Hong Kong
25 March 2022
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Biographies of the Directors and Senior Management

B R AR BN B

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Dr. Loh Teck Hiong (“Dr. Loh”), aged 52, is our executive Director,
compliance officer, chairman of our Board and the chairman of the
nomination committee. He is responsible for the overall management,
branding, compliance and business development of our Group. Dr. Loh
joined our Group in September 2013, was appointed as a Director on
22 March 2017 and was re-designated as an executive Director and
appointed as the chairman on 18 May 2017.

Dr. Loh graduated from the University of Melbourne in Australia in
December 1995 with a Bachelor of Medicine & Bachelor of Surgery
and was admitted as a member of the Royal College of Physicians of
the United Kingdom in 1998. He is currently a fellow of the Academy of
Medicine in Dermatology in Singapore. Dr. Loh was the author of three
published medical articles relating to urticarial vasculitis, unna thost
palmar-plantar keratoderma and occupational dermatosis.

Dr. Loh has over 20 years medical practice specialising in dermatology
and has extensive experience in medical, surgical and laser dermatology
with special interest in atopic eczema, skin allergy, paediatric dermatology,
moles or birthmarks and skin cancers. Prior to becoming a founder
of our Group, from May 1996 to August 1996, Dr. Loh worked as a
Pre-registration House Officer in the Department of Surgery at the
Aberdeen Royal Infirmary, United Kingdom, where he was responsible
for consultation and diagnostic of patients under supervision of a
registrar and consultant. Between August 1996 and February 1997, Dr.
Loh worked as a House Officer of General Medicine department at the
Northampton General Hospital in United Kingdom. From February 1997
to February 1998, Dr. Loh worked as a senior house officer in General
and Neonatal Paediatrics at St. Peter’'s Hospital in the United Kingdom.
From February 1998 to February 1999, Dr. Loh worked as a senior house
officer at Guy’s Hospital in the United Kingdom. His main duties included
caring for patients from neonatology, paediatric cardiology and paediatric
nephrology departments under the guidance of registrar and consultant.
From September 1999 to March 2000, Dr. Loh was a Registrar in the
Department of Paediatric, National University Hospital, Singapore and
from May 2000 to April 2003, a Registrar at the National Skin Center in
Singapore conducting consultation and diagnostic services to patients.
From May 2003 to July 2005, Dr. Loh was an associate consultant
dermatologist at the NSC, an outpatient specialist dermatological center
in Singapore, where he was responsible for consultation and diagnosing
patients, prescription and conducting treatments. Dr. Loh then established
Dermatology Associates Pte. Ltd. in Singapore in November 2004 where
he provided dermatology consultation and treatment until June 2014.
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Mr. He Weiqing ({T{&;%) (“Mr. He”), aged 57, graduated from the
Atmospheric Science Department of the Sun Yatsen University in
Guangzhou with a Bachelor of Science Degree in 1986 and graduated
from the Management School of the same university with a Master’s
Degree in Economics in 1989.

Mr. He has long been engaged in corporate management, financial
management and project investment and management. He had held
senior positions at the headquarters and branches of a number of
renowned companies in the People’s Republic of China, and acted
as the project manager of various asset management companies and
private equity investment companies in Shenzhen. From September
2015 to November 2017, Mr. He held senior management positions
at Long Success International (Holdings) Limited (Stock Code: 8017),
and subsequently from December 2017 to July 2020, he acted as an
executive director of Grand Peace Group Holdings Limited (Stock Code:
8108), both of which were delisted on 19 October 2016 and 27 August
2021, respectively, pursuant to Rule 9.14 of the GEM Listing Rules.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Ms. Wu Xiaoxia (2BEE) (“Ms. Wu”), aged 42, completed the course
on Computer and Applications (5t & # K fEMH) from Zhejiang Radio &
TV University G L E#EBE 1R A Z) (currently known as Zhejiang Open
University GIIBIMAZ)) in 2001, and obtained professional and
technical qualifications in economics and accounting from the Ministry of
Human Resources and Social Security of the People’s Republic of China
in 2019. Ms. Wu has extensive experience in various fields including
finance, investments, mergers and acquisitions and internal audit.

Ms. Wu has been an independent non-executive director of National
Investments Fund Limited (a company listed on the Main Board of Stock
Exchange, stock code: 1227) since 13 June 2019. Ms. Wu has been the
general manager of Xuntong Wangji (Shenzhen) Network Technology Co.,
Ltd. GREBAARE CRII) 4848 B IRA B) since 2017. Ms. Wu served as
the manager of the investment department of Zhejiang Orient Holdings
Co., Ltd. from 2001 to 2009, and the deputy general manager and chief
financial officer of Zhejiang Fifth Season Industrial Co., Ltd. G IE R ZE=
BEABMRAE) from 2010 to 2017.
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Biographies of the Directors and Senior Management

B R AR BN B

Mr. Yang Zhangxin (#Z %) (“Mr. Yang”), aged 31, graduated from
Shandong Xiehe University with bachelor’s degree of Nursing in 2014. Mr.
Yang held the position of operating director of M GEII) ERIZFFE
A E/A S from June 2019 to April 2020. He was a Head Nurse of The
Second Affiliated hospital of Zhejiang University School of Medicine from
June 2013 to May 2019 and a practice nurse from July 2012 to March
2013. Mr. Yang has extensive experience in healthcare and knowledge of
nursing.

Mr. Loke Wai Ming (F£{£8H) (‘Mr. Loke”), Mr. Loke, aged 48, obtained
a bachelor’s degree in Accountancy from Nanyang Technological
University in 1996 and obtained a master's degree of Business
Administration from Goizueta Business School, Emory University in 2002.

Mr. Loke has over 2 decades of experience in commercial banking,
capital markets and investment banking, institutional broking and direct
investment businesses. He is currently an accountant, a registered license
holder, licensed to carry out Type 6 (advising on corporate finance)
regulated activities under the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter
571 of the Laws of Hong Kong) and a managing director of Titan Financial
Services Limited since January 2020.

Mr. Loke served as an investment banking professional at multiple
international investment banks in Hong Kong, including an assistant vice
president in corporate banking of Overseas Union Bank from June 1996
to February 2000, an associate in finance institutions department of J.P.
Morgan Securities Hong Kong Limited from August 2002 to January
2004, a vice president of Merrill Lynch (Asia Pacific) Limited from March
2004 to April 2007, a senior vice president in Macquarie Securities
Limited from July 2007 to February 2009, an executive director of Daiwa
Capital Markets Hong Kong Limited from July 2009 to November 2011,
a managing director in investment banking divisions of Chief Securities
Limited and a chief executive officer and managing director of Chief
(Cambodia) Specialized Bank from November 2012 to April 2014, a
general manager and board director of Anbang Asset Management (Hong
Kong) Co. Limited from April 2014 to March 2015, a managing director of
Ceneric Asia Limited, which is a subsidiary of Ceneric Holdings Limited,
a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code:
542) from April 2015 to March 2017, a managing director in corporate
finance department of China Everbright Securities International Limited
from March 2017 to October 2017 and a chief executive officer of RHB
Hong Kong Limited from November 2017 to March 2019.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Board recognises the importance of achieving the highest standard
of corporate governance consistent with the needs and requirements
of its businesses and the best interest of all of its stakeholders and is
fully committed to doing so. The board believes that high standards of
corporate governance provide a framework and solid foundation for the
Group to manage business risks, enhance transparency, achieve high
standard of accountability and protect stakeholders’ interests. Therefore,
the Board has reviewed and will continue to review and improve the
Company’s corporate governance practices from time to time.

The Company has adopted the principles and the code provisions set
out in the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) contained in
Appendix 15 to the GEM Listing Rules as its own code of corporate
governance. Save as disclosed below, the Company had complied with
all the applicable code provisions of the CG Code during year ended 31
December 2021.

Reference is made to the announcement of the Company dated 21
April 2021. Following the resignation of Mr. Cheung Kiu Cho Vincent as
an independent non-executive Director, a member of the nomination
committee of the Company and a member of the audit committee of
the Company, the Board comprised five members with three executive
Directors and two independent non-executive Directors. As a result, the
number of independent non-executive Directors was below the minimum
number prescribed under Rule 5.05 of the GEM Listing Rules and was not
representing one-third of the Board under Rule 5.05(A) of the GEM Listing
Rules. The number of members of the Audit Committee was reduced to
two which was below the minimum number prescribed under Rule 5.28
of the GEM Listing Rules. The number of members of the Nomination
Committee was reduced to two, therefore the Nomination Committee did
not comprise a majority of independent non-executive Directors under
Rule A.5.1 of Appendix 15 of the GEM Listing Rules.

Reference is made to the announcement of the Company date 11 May
2021. Following the appointment of Mr. Loke Wai Ming as an independent
non-executive Director, a member of the Nomination Committee and
a member of the Audit Committee with effect from 11 May 2021, the
Company had complied with Rules 5.05, 5.05(A), 5.28 and A.5.1 of
Appendix 15 to the GEM Listing Rules.
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Reference is made to the announcement of the Company dated 24
September 2021. Following the resignation of Mr. Ong as an independent
non-executive Director, the Board comprised five members with three
executive Directors and two independent non-executive Directors. As a
result, the number of independent non-executive Directors of the Board
was below the minimum number prescribed under Rule 5.05 of the GEM
Listing Rules. The Audit Committee had no chairman and the number of
members of the Audit Committee was reduced to two which was below
the minimum number prescribed under Rule 5.28 of the GEM Listing
Rules.

Reference is made to the announcement of the Company dated 27
September 2021. Following the appointment of Ms. Wu Xiaoxia as
an independent non-executive Director, the chairlady of the Audit
Committee, a member of the Nomination Committee and a member of
the Remuneration Committee with effect from 27 September 2021, the
Company had complied with Rules 5.05 and 5.28 of Appendix 15 to the
GEM Listing Rules.

COMPLIANCE OF CODE OF CONDUCT FOR
DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by directors on terms no less exacting than the required
standard of dealings set out in Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing
Rules. Having made specific enquiry of all the Directors, all Directors
confirmed that they have complied with the required standard of dealings
and the code of conduct regarding securities transactions by directors
adopted by the Company throughout the year ended 31 December 2021.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Board Composition

As at the date of this report, the Board comprised five Directors, of which
two are executive Directors and three are independent non-executive
Directors. The composition of the Board during the year ended 31
December 2021 and up to the date of this report was:

Executive Directors

Dr. Loh Teck Hiong (Chairman)

Mr. He Weiqing (appointed on 10 January 2022)

Mr. Liu Yang (ceased on 10 January 2022)

Dr. Seow Swee How (resigned on 10 January 2022)
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Independent non-executive Directors

Ms. Wu Xiaoxia (@ppointed on 27 Septermber 2021)

Mr. Yang Zhangxin

Mr. Loke Wai Ming (appointed on 11 May 2021)

Mr. Ong Kian Guan (resigned on 24 September 2021)
Mr. Cheung Kiu Cho Vincent (resigned on 21 April 2021)

During the year ended 31 December 2021, save as disclosed under the
section headed “Corporate Governance Practices” above, the Board had
complied with the requirements of the GEM Listing Rules to have at least
three independent non-executive Directors who represent more than one-
third of the Board and with at least one of whom possesses appropriate
professional qualifications or accounting or related financial management
expertise pursuant to Rule 5.05 of the GEM Listing Rules.

ROLES AND RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE BOARD

The Board is responsible for the overall management of the Group by
providing leadership and managing control of the resource allocation
and is collectively responsible for promoting the success of the Group
by directing and supervising the Group’s affairs. The Board focuses on
formulating the Group’s overall strategies, authorising the development
plan and budget; monitoring financial and operating performance;
reviewing the effectiveness of the internal control system; supervising
and managing management’s performance of the Group; and setting the
Group’s values and standards.

The management team is delegated with the authority and responsibility
by the Board for the daily management of the Group. The delegated
functions and work tasks are periodically reviewed. Major corporate
matters that are specifically delegated by the Board to the management
include (1) the preparation of quarterly, interim and annual reports
and announcements for the Board’s approval before publishing; (2)
implementation of adequate systems of internal controls and risk
management procedures; and (3) compliance with relevant statutory and
regulatory requirements and rules and regulations.
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The independent non-executive Directors bring a wide range of business
and financial expertise, experience and independent judgement to
the Board, on issues of strategic direction, policies, development,
performance and risk management. Through active participation in
Board meetings, taking the lead in managing issues involving potential
conflict of interests and serving on Board committees, they scrutinise the
Company’s performance in achieving corporate goals and objectives and
monitor performance reporting. By doing so, they are able to contribute
positively to the Company’s strategy and policies through independent,
constructive and informed comments at Board and committee meetings.

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance coverage for Directors’
liabilities in respect of legal actions against them for corporate activities.

BOARD/BOARD COMMITTEE MEETINGS

The Board regularly meets in person or through other electronic means
of communication to discuss amongst other matters, the direction and
strategy of the Group, financial and operating performance and to review
and approve the Group’s quarterly, interim and annual results.

In respect of regular board meetings, and so far as practicable in all other
cases, an agenda and accompanying board papers are sent in full to all
Directors at least 3 days before the intended date of a board or board
committee meeting to enable the Directors to make informed decisions.
The Board and each Director have separate and independent access to
the senior management whenever necessary. Upon reasonable request,
the Directors are allowed to seek independent professional advice in
appropriate circumstances, at the Company’s expense, to assist the
Director to discharge his/her duties to the Company.

The company secretary takes detailed minutes of the meetings and keeps
records of matters discussed and decisions resolved at the meetings,
including any concerns raised or dissenting views expressed by Directors,
and the voting results of Board meetings fairly reflect Board consensus.
Both draft and final versions of the minutes are sent to all Directors for
their comments and records respectively, within a reasonable time after
each meeting, and such minutes are open for inspection with reasonable
advance notice by any Director. Directors are entitled to have access to
board papers and related materials, and any queries will be responded to
fully.
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Directors must abstain from voting and not be counted in the quorum at
meetings for approving transactions in which such Directors or any of their
associates have a material interest.

EEANMEZSEESAREZBEMBHEA
REFEEARGZRZFHERERTE
g n?t/fﬂi)\%(m °

Attendance/Number of Meetings held

B/ BTEERY
Annual
Board Audit  Nomination Remuneration General
Meeting Committee ~ Committee =~ Committee Meeting
EX8EE BrREET RYZRT  FHEEE KREEEKRE
Executive Directors HTES
Dr. Loh Teck Hiong Loh Teck Hiong® % 8/8 S 3/3 = 11
Mr. He Weiqing (aopointed on fAEAELRE
10 January 2022) (R20226F 15 10HEZ1F) S S = = =
Mr. Liu Yang (ceased on 10 January 2022)  2IR544E
(F20226F 15108 % 8) 0/8 - - - on
Dr. Seow Swee How (resjgned on ek
10 January 2022) (72202215 10H GE) 8/8 = = 4/4 11
Independent Non-Executive Directors B FHITES
Ms. Wu Xiaoxia (appointed on BBEEYT
27 September 2021) (1202149527 FEST) 33 111 - 11 -
Mr. Yang Zhangxin BEELE 8/8 4/4 = 4/4 11
Mr. Loke Wai Ming (aopointed on EEREE
11 May 2021) (2021465511 FES(E) 6/6 33 1A - -
Mr. Ong Kian Guan (resigned on TRRESE
24 September 2021) (720219524 HFE) 4/4 3/3 2/2 2/2 11
Mr. Cheung Kiu Cho Vincent fresigned on ~ REIR &4
21 April 2021) (2021464521 A FHE) 1 1/1 1/1 - 11
APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF ZREREESSE

DIRECTORS

The executive Directors have entered into service contracts with the
Company for an initial term of three (3) years commencing from the date
of Listing and continuing thereafter until terminated by either party with a
not less than three months’ notice in writing.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has entered into a letter
of appointment with the Company. Each appointment is for the term of
one (1) year subject to subject to termination in certain circumstances as
stipulated in the relevant letters of appointment.

In compliance with the code provision A.4.2 of the CG Code, pursuant
to the Articles of Association of the Company, at each annual general
meeting one-third of the Directors for the time being (or, if their number
is not three or a multiple of three, then the number nearest to but not
less than one-third) shall retire from office by rotation provided that every
Director shall be subject to retirement at an annual general meeting at
least once every three years. A retiring Director shall be eligible for re-
election.
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DIRECTORS’ CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL
DEVELOPMENT

Directors are aware of code provision A.6.5 of the CG Code regarding
continuing professional development programme for Directors. The
Company would arrange and/or introduce suitable training and
information for the Directors to ensure they are fully aware of their
responsibilities under statute and common law, the GEM Listing Rules
and other applicable legal and regulatory requirements. During the year
ended 31 December 2021, the Company had arranged a seminar on
the GEM Listing Rules, the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (Chapter
622 of the Laws of Hong Kong, the “Companies Ordinance”) and the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong
Kong) for the Directors. All Directors attended the seminar.

The training record of each Director as at 31 December 2021 is set out as
below

EFFESXER

EEMBEEEABTRSTAMEEAB.5KFTIE
EREENHESELRENE AR BAE
BELHR /RO EBEEIRER  UBRE
EREABFREEREREE L GEME™
RAREMBERALIEZAEERE TNEE P
HE2021F12B31HILEFE A RBEAES
ZH—RBMCGEMLEHRA BB ARKH (F
BIEAISE622% ) IABEA) UKES RAE
&G (BBEFEST1E) Mg -2RBESEE
HEZME -

120215128310 FEFMEIIEEHUW T o

Attending seminar or
briefings/perusal of
materials in relation

to business or
Directors’ duties

HEBRESS
EEREN
st g
Bheg SRR
Executive Directors HITES

Dr. Loh Teck Hiong Loh Teck Hiongg& 4 Yes &
Mr. Liu Yang 2bEE Yes &
Dr. Seow Swee How HinxiEL Yes 2

Independent non-executive Directors J&IIJEHITES
Ms. Wu Xiaoxia REEwt Yes 2
Mr. Yang Zhangxin BEELE Yes &
Mr. Loke Wai Ming BE@BRST A Yes &
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Directors’ and Officers’ Liabilities

The Company has in place appropriate insurance coverage on Directors’
and officers’ liabilities in respect of any legal actions taken against
Directors and senior management arising out of corporate activities. The
insurance coverage is reviewed on an annual basis by the Company.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The board is supported by three Board committees to oversee specific
aspects of the Company’s affairs. The audit committee of the Company
(the “Audit Committee”), the Remuneration Committee and the
nomination committee of the Company (the “Nomination Committee”)
each has its defined scope of duties and terms of reference. The Board
committees are provided sufficient resources and are empowered
to make decisions/recommendations within their respective terms of
reference to the Board.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Group established the Audit Committee on 22 September 2017
with written terms of reference in compliance with Rule 5.28 of the GEM
Listing Rules and code provision C.3 of the CG Code. As at the date
of this report, the Audit Committee consists of three independent non-
executive Directors, namely Ms. Wu Xiaoxia, Mr. Yang Zhangxin and Mr.
Loke Wai Ming. Ms. Wu Xiaoxia, our independent non-executive Director
with the appropriate professional qualifications, serves as the chairlady of
the Audit Committee.

The primary duties of the Audit Committee are to review and supervise the
financial reporting process and internal control system of the Company,
make recommendations to the Board on the appointment, reappointment
and removal of the external auditor, and review the Company’s financial
information.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Audit Committee held four

meetings and the attendance of meetings is set out under the section
headed “Board/Board Committees Meetings” on page 48 in this report.
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The Audit Committee performed the following work during the year ended
31 December 2021:

a. reviewed the Group’s audited consolidated financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2021, the unaudited condensed
consolidated first quarterly financial results for the three months
ended 31 March 2021, the unaudited condensed consolidated
interim financial results for the six months ended 30 June 2021
and the unaudited condensed consolidated third quarterly financial
results for the nine months ended 30 September 2021 including the
accounting principles and practices adopted by the Group;

b. reviewed the changes in accounting standards and assessed their
potential impacts on the Group’s financial statements;

(o} reviewed the Group’s internal control system and related matters;
and

d. considered and made recommendations on the re-appointment
of the independent auditor of the Group, and the terms of
engagement.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Our Company established a Remuneration Committee on 22 September
2017 with written terms of reference in compliance with code provision
B.1.2 of the CG Code. The primary duties of the Remuneration
Committee are to make recommmendation to the Board on the overall
remuneration policy and structure relating to all Directors and senior
management of our Group; review performance based remuneration;
and ensure none of our Directors determine their own remuneration.
As at the date of this report, the Remuneration Committee consists of
three members, namely Mr. Yang Zhangxin, Ms. Wu Xiaoxia and Mr.
He Weiging. Mr. Yang Zhangxin is the chairman of the Remuneration
Committee. During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Remuneration
Committee convened four committee meetings.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the remuneration of Directors
was determined by their experience, responsibility, workload and the time
devoted to the Group. Executive Directors and employees also participate
in bonus arrangements determined in accordance with the performance
of the Group and the individual’s performance. Details of the Directors’
remuneration are set out in note 8 to the consolidated financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2021. The attendance of Remuneration
Committee meeting is set out under the section headed “Board/Board
Committees Meetings” on page 48 of this report.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

Our Company established a Nomination Committee on 22 September
2017 with written terms of reference in compliance with code provision
A.5.2 of the CG Code. The primary duties of the Nomination Committee
are to review the structure, size and composition of the Board on regular
basis; identify individuals suitably qualified to become Board members;
access the independence of independent non-executive Directors; and
make recommendations to the Board on relevant matters relating to the
appointment or reappointment of Director. As at the date of this report,
the Nomination Committee consists of three members, namely Dr. Loh
Teck Hiong, Ms. Wu Xiaoxia and Mr. Loke Wai Ming. Dr. Loh Teck Hiong
is the chairman of the Nomination Committee. During the year ended 31
December 2021, the Nomination Committee convened three committee
meetings. It had assessed the independence of independent non-
executive Directors, considered the re-appointment of retired Directors
and discussed matters relating to procedure of nomination of director
candidate by Shareholders, Directors’ evaluation and succession plan etc.
The attendance of Nomination Committee meeting is set out under the
section headed “Board/Board Committees Meetings” on page 48 of this
report.

The Company is aware of the benefits of having a diverse Board as an
essential element to improving governance and performance, and to
creating a competitive advantage. In structuring of the Board composition,
by taking into account the Group’s board diversity policy board diversity
has been considered from a number of aspects, including but not
limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity,
professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of service. All Board
appointments will ultimately be based on merit and the contribution that
the selected candidates will bring to the Board which the Board as a
whole requires to be effective.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for overseeing the
preparation of consolidated financial statements of the Group on an
on-going concern basis, with supporting assumptions or qualifications
as necessary, for each financial period with a view to ensure that such
financial statement gives a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the
Group, and of the results and cash flows for the financial year.

The responsibility of the Company’s auditor, SHINEWING (HK) CPA

Limited, is set out in the section headed “Independent Auditor's Report”
of this report.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board is responsible for the risk management and internal control
systems of the Group and for reviewing their effectiveness. We have
established an Audit Committee to review and supervise the effectiveness
of the financial reporting process and internal control and risk
management system, and overseeing the audit process.

The risk management and internal control systems of the Company are
designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failures in operational
systems and achievement of the Group’s objectives, and can only provide
reasonable and not absolute assurance against material misstatement or
loss. Our Board will regularly review the administration and the adequacy
of our internal system and develop and revise our internal control system
to later for our expansion.

The Group has engaged internal auditor, GRC Chamber Limited, to
undertake a review of the internal control system of the Group under
rotation basis.

Accordingly, the internal auditor is of the view that the systems of internal
control and risk management are effective and there are no irregularities,
improprieties, fraud or other deficiencies that suggest material deficiency
in the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control system.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited was appointed by the Board as the auditor
of the Company. The remuneration paid or payable to SHINEWING (HK)
CPA Limited and its member firms for services rendered for the year
ended 31 December 2021 were as follows:
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Audit services

There was no non-audit service provided by SHINEWING (HK) CPA
Limited to the Company during the year ended 31 December 2021.

COMPLIANCE OFFICER

Dr. Loh Teck Hiong has been appointed as the compliance officer of
our Company. His biographical details are set out in section headed
“Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management” of this report.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Man Yun Wah (“Mr. Man”), aged 39, was appointed as our
company secretary on 18 May 2017.

Mr. Man is an associate member of The Hong Kong Chartered
Governance Institute and The Chartered Governance Institute. He
graduated from the University of Huddersfield in England with a Bachelor
of Arts in business administration and management in March 2010. He
further obtained a degree of Master of Corporate Governance from the
Open University of Hong Kong in November 2014.

The primary duties of the company secretary include, but are not limited
to, the following: (a) to ensure the Board procedures are followed and that
the activities of the Board are carried out efficiently and effectively; (b) to
assist the chairman to prepare agendas and Board papers for meetings
and disseminate such documents to the Directors and Board committees
in a timely manner; (c) to timely disseminate announcements and
information relating to the Group; and (d) to maintain formal minutes of the
Board meetings and other Board committee meetings. He has been in
contact with the Board and the chief financial officer directly.

Mr. Man has confirmed that he had received no less than 15 hours of
relevant professional training for the year ended 31 December 2021, in
compliance with Rule 5.15 of the GEM Listing Rules.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Company communicates with the Shareholders and potential
investors of the Company via the following:

(i) the timely public announcements and publications of quarterly, half
yearly and annual reports and/or circulars as required under the
GEM Listing rules and/or press releases of the Company providing
updated information on the Group; and

(ii) the holding of annual general meetings and general meetings of
the Company, if any, which may convened for specific purpose and
provide an avenue for the Shareholders to engage actively with the
Board.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS
Right to convene an extraordinary general meeting

Pursuant to the Company’s articles of association, the Board may
whenever it thinks fit call an extraordinary general meeting (the “EGM”).
Any one or more members holding at the date of deposit of the requisition
not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company carrying
the right of voting at general meetings of the Company shall at all times
have the right, by written requisition to the Board or the secretary of the
Company, to require an EGM to be called by the Board for the transaction
of any business specified in such requisition; and such meeting shall
be held within two (2) months after the deposit of such requisition. If
within twenty-one (21) days of such deposit the Board fails to proceed
to convene such meeting the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may
do so in the same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the
requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to
the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

Right to put forward proposals at general meetings

There are no provisions allowing the Shareholders to propose new
resolutions at the general meetings under the Cayman Islands Companies
Law, Chapter 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised). However,
the Shareholders may follow the procedure set out in the section headed
“Rights to convene an EGM” above for including a resolution at an EGM.
The requirements and procedures are set out above.

Right to Put Enquiries to the Board

Shareholders may send their enquiries and concerns, in written form, to
the Board by addressing them to the company secretary at Unit 912,
9/F., Two Harbourfront, 22 Tak Fung Street, Hunghom, Kowloon, Hong
Kong. Shareholders may also make enquiries to the Board at the general
meeting of the Company. In addition, shareholders can contact Tricor
Investor Services Limited, the branch share registrar of the Company
in Hong Kong, if they have any enquiries about their shareholdings and
entitlements to dividend.
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INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company believes that maintaining effective communication with
the investment industry is crucial to having a deeper understanding of
the Company’s business and its development among investors. The
Company has established a range of communication channels between
itself and its Shareholders, investors and other stakeholders. These
include the annual general meeting, the annual, interim and quarterly
reports, notices, announcements and circulars and the Company’s
website at https://rmhholdings.com.sg.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

During the period from the Listing Date to 31 December 2021, there had
been no change in the Company’s constitutional documents.
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ABOUT THE REPORT

This report is the fourth Environmental, Social and Governance Report
(“ESG Report”) of RMH Holdings Limited (“RMH” “the Company” or
“We”). We are committed to deliver the highest quality of Dermatological,
Medical and Aesthetic standards to take care of our customers’ skin.
This report intends to disclose the performance of the Company and its
subsidiaries (collectively as “the Group”) in terms of environmental, social,
and governance issues in a transparent and open manner over the last
year, in response to all stakeholders’ concerns and expectations for the
Group’s long-term viability. In the long run, the Group will strengthen the
data collection and reporting system for environmental management,
social responsibility, and governance performance, gradually expanding
the disclosure scope and improving the quality and comprehensiveness of
the ESG Report.

REPORTING SCOPE

The Group’s directors are responsible for determining the reporting scope.
This report examines all data and activities for the period from 1 January
to 31 December 2021 (“Reporting Period”), unless stated otherwise.
This report aims to provide an overview of environmental, social and
governance (“ESG”) performance of RMH’s operations in the Reporting
Period. It highlights relevant strategies and business initiatives and
demonstrates how RMH is a sustainable and responsible business with a
positive impact on our stakeholders.

REPORTING STANDARDS

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “SEHK”) amended
the “Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide” (“ESG
Reporting Guide”), which is the Appendix 20 of the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on GEM (the “GEM Listing Rules”) in 2019.
The amendments set out the mandatory disclosures of ESG issues.
This report is prepared in accordance with the “Mandatory Disclosure
Requirements” provisions and the “Comply or Explain” principles of the
latest ESG Reporting Guide set out in Appendix 20 of the GEM Listing
Rules made by the SEHK.

REPORTING PRINCIPLES

This report is prepared in accordance with the reporting principles
of Materiality, Balance, Quantitative and Consistency, by which RMH
applies a consistent methodology for setting forth relevant materiality
level, quantitatively measurement and reporting scope and format, with
consideration of relevancy and significancy of ESG factors in relation to
the Group.
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This report includes quantitative environmental and social Key
Performance Index (“KPI”) to help stakeholders understand the Group’s
ESG performance. Wherever possible, information about the standards,
techniques, references, and sources of key emission of these KPIs is
provided. To make ESG performance more comparable between years,
the Group has used consistent reporting and calculation procedures
as far as reasonably practicable. For any changes in methodologies,
the Group has presented and explained in detail in the corresponding
sections.

The Group is dedicated to accurately and truthfully disclosing all material
ESG matters. The data in this report is produced and published using
current regulations, practices, government documents, and reports.
Furthermore, the Board has endorsed and approved this report. The
Board is dedicated to monitoring and publishing the Group’s sustainability
performance through the annual release of the ESG Report and is
responsible for overseeing and managing all ESG topics.

SUSTAINABLE GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE

We established a top-down ESG organizational structure to apply the
Group’s sustainable development concept. The Board is responsible
for developing ESG strategies, assessing and identifying the Group’s
ESG risks, and guaranteeing risk management and internal control
effectiveness. ESG work and report evaluation are carried out by
employees from several areas within the Group.

The Group is dedicated to achieving several aspects of corporate social
responsibility, including energy conservation, greenhouse gas reduction,
employee training and development, environmental compliance, and
providing a safe and healthy work environment.

THE BOARD

The Board strives to integrate sustainable development into the Group’s
business development and has taken on the following responsibilities:

o Assessing and determining the Group’s ESG-related risks and
opportunities.

° Ensuring that the Group has an appropriate and effective risk
management and internal control system.

° Developing the Group’s management policies, plans, priorities, and
goals.
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o Monitoring ESG’s work progress and performance on a regular
basis; and

° Approving the disclosed information in the Group’s ESG Report.

The Board assesses, identifies, and manages sustainable development
risks on a regular basis, and tries to create long-term value for
stakeholders by identifying possibilities while adhering to regulatory
standards and industry best practices. Furthermore, the Board examines
and adjusts the implementation of various ESG objectives on a regular
basis to ensure that the impact of business development on the
environment and society can be minimized.

ESG WORKING COMMITTEE

The Group has established an ESG Working Committee, consisting
of four members,
management from Human Resources, Finance and Operations Functions/
Departments), to assist the Board in managing the Group’s ESG affairs.
The ESG Working Committee is a management-level group that is
responsible for driving our ESG initiatives, collecting and calculating ESG
KPIs, overseeing and reporting ESG related matters across our major
businesses and operations.

(currently as an Executive Directors, and serval

The ESG Working Committee is empowered by the Board through a
<ESG Working Committee Terms of Reference> under which it shall
directly be instructed and reporting to the Board. It organizes meetings on
a regular basis to identify, assess, and monitor the Group’s ESG risk, as
well as to examine the Group’s internal control system’s implementation
It also assesses and evaluates the Group’'s ESG
performance in relation to ESG goals and targets.

and effectiveness.
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STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

We recognize that stakeholders play a strategic role in maintaining RMH’s
long-term growth, as well as responsible business development in ESG
aspects. Understanding and responding to stakeholder concerns and
expectations is critical to our long-term success. Our business activities
involve a diverse range of stakeholders, but we select our stakeholders
based on influence, representation, responsibility, dependency, and
proximity. We make sure that numerous communication channels are
in place so that key stakeholders’ views and input may be addressed
efficiently and promptly within RMH. We strive to improve our stakeholder
engagement by continuously improving our communication channels and
embedding valuable stakeholder input into our strategy.
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Multiple engagement channels were established throughout the Reporting
Period to enable constant and dynamic interaction with the Group’s

internal and external stakeholders.
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MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT

Through constant connection with our stakeholders, the Group have
accumulated crucial facts and information. Based on materiality,
quantitative metrics, balance, and consistency, our senior management
examined and analyzed the importance of ESG problems to the Group’s
stakeholders for the Reporting Period, as well as the scope and structure
of this report. The Group gather insights of how to strengthen its
sustainable governance through the process of engaging its stakeholders.

We also take into consideration of the provisions set out in the “ESG
Reporting Guide” as well as the latest industry sustainability trends. Below
tabled the relevant and important ESG issues we have identified:
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BREZFEREH -REEEM -BEER ¥
Bh—EM RMINSREEENRESHESE
RROWERE - HEREAFESAERE
DABMATHEEZEN  UAREABRENHEE KRR
BoAERBZEREDTHMALTHE WEARM
MR E A FFEE RN R MR-

BT EB(RE - HEREBREEIDAH
BEXREMITERNRBERBS - TR
MEHMNERKREZRE - HEREREE .

ESG Aspects Sub-aspects ESG Issues

RE-HEgRESEE FEE RE-HEREGEE

A. Environmental A1 — Emissions . Greenhouse gas (‘GHG”) emissions
A IRIR A1 —HER) RERE (TRERM)) B

A2 — Use of Resources
A2 —ERfEA

A3 — The Environmental and
Natural Resources
A3 —IRIE R KAEIR

o Waste management
BEEYE IR

° Energy consumption
RETRHFE

. Water consumption
KIEFE

° Paper consumption
HaRIHRE

° Management risks related to environment
and natural resources
RIBRRABRBAEIERR
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ESG Aspects

Sub-aspects

ESG Issues

RRE-HEREGER FEE RIE-HEREGEE
B. Social B1 — Employment o Equal opportunities
B.1t& Bl —f&f# TEKE
o Employee’s benefits
(=L
B2 — Health and Safety ° Occupational health and safety
B2 —EEZSE R ZS
B3 — Development and Training o Employee development and training
B3 —# @& iEs REZEREEEI
B4 — Labour Standards . Prevention of child labour and forced labour
B4 —55 T %8 FriEEE A E T Raamls T
B5 — Supply Chain Management ° Supplier selection and assessment
B5 — ARSI HAE P B R 5T
° Green procurement
R EEREE
B6 — Product Responsibility o Product quality control
B6 —Em&E 7 B R
° Product recall
7 Bl
o Customer satisfaction
BERWEE

B7 — Anti-corruption
B7 — k&S

B8 — Community Investment

B8 —HHE&RE
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° Protection of intellectual property rights and
customer data
MBERRERERRE

o Anti-corruption and Whistle-blowing policies
R&75 RBIRBER

° Concluded legal cases regarding corruption
BEBEENESTFAEN

. Anti-corruption trainings
R&5E

° Community engagement
HE2H
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B~ AL BB IRR

Among these ESG issues, we further evaluate and prioritize them by their ~ EZZFRIE - @ REAZED > HMLEARHM
relevancy and significance. Below tabled the top ten most relevant and MREBEBEME S HHEETITERIEF - T&

important ESG issues of our Group:

Significant ESG issues

BERRR - HERELREE

FIAEEREMAREZNTRIRE - HER

EAEE !

Related ESG Aspects
HARIE - ERERER

1. GHG emissions
AERBINR

2. Waste management
BEEYEIE

3. Energy consumption
AETRIHFE

4, Water consumption
KHEFE

5 Equal opportunities
TERE

6. Occupational health and safety
R ZS

7. Employee development and training
BB REIE

8. Supplier selection and assessment
H 8 7 BRI Ko 5T

9. Customer satisfaction
BERWEE

10.  Anti-corruption practices
R&FIEH

STAKEHOLDER’S FEEDBACK

A1 — Emissions

Al —BE

A1 — Emissions

A1 —BEY

A2 — Use of Resources
A2 —ERfEA

A2 — Use of Resources
A2 —EBIREA

B1 — Employment

B1 —1&f#

B2 — Health and Safety

B2 —f@EELs

B3 — Development and Training
B3 — &R I

B5 — Supply Chain Management
B5 — AR EIE

B6 — Product Responsibility

B6 —EmBTE

B7 — Anti-corruption

B7 —R&ES

HEmAMA T REE

We welcome stakeholders’ feedback on our ESG approach and FHfEMEFHEB A LTHEANEBE - HER
performance. For questions or to deliver feedback about this report, EAAHERKRIFIRERE - B THERS
please share your views with us via email rmhhelpline@dermclinic.com.sg. EBEMEERERIRHEKRE  FEBR B i’mijt

rmhhelpline@dermclinic.com.sga 3 935 #
E’O
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A. ENVIRONMENTAL

We are a leading specialist dermatological and surgical practice
in Singapore that is accredited by the Ministry of Health (“MOH”)
in Singapore. Our main environmental impacts arising from our

64

business practice includes GHG emissions, waste generation,
energy consumption and water consumption.

A1l:

Emissions

We recognize the importance of sustainability in our business
operation. We put emphasis on complying with the relevant
environmental law and regulations in Singapore. As our
business nature is service-focused, we consider that our
operation posts only a relatively insignificant impact to the
environment.

GHG emissions

Our business is conducted locally in office premises. The
emission in our daily operations is primarily from energy
consumption that is utilized to power our facilities and
equipment. In 2021, the total GHG emissions recorded is
12,966 kg CO2e (2020: 8,912 kg). In line with our Group’s
objective to minimize GHG emissions, we have implemented
energy saving practices at our clinics that are mentioned
under the section of “Use of Resources”.

Hazardous waste

We adopt a responsible management for our medical waste
and consider complying with the Singapore Environmental
Public Health (Toxic Industrial Waste) Regulations. To dispose
medical waste in a safe and reliable manner, we have entered
into a service agreement with a government-licensed toxic
industrial waste collector. The licensed service provider
collects the medical waste from our main clinic, and, to our
knowledge, they would dispose the waste in authorized
incineration plant approved under the laws of Singapore. As
for our other clinic, the hazardous waste is handled by an
independent party engaged by the hospital.
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In each of our clinics, they have a designated biological waste
bin for the disposal of medical waste such as used syringes
and needles, which will be periodically collected by the
licensed service provider. In 2021, the total hazardous waste
generated accounted to 240 litres (2020: 135 litres).

Non-hazardous waste

Our non-hazardous wastes are mainly referred to paper and
plastic waste during our daily operations. The overall amount
of non-hazardous wastes is considered minimal as we have
adopted a reasonable level of digitalization in our operation.
However, we understand the disposal of non-hazardous
waste is also an important task in consideration that certain
types of non-hazardous waste can be recycled.

Our Waste Reduction Measures

1. Place a single-sided paper collection box and a waste
paper recycling box near the photocopiers;

2. Paper and plastics waste are collected for delivery to
recycling companies;

3. Encourage our employees to use both sides of paper,
set duplex printing as the default mode for our network
printers, use recycled paper to minimize the wastage of
paper, and bring their own mug instead of disposable
paper cups;

4, Install hand dryers in our clinics’ toilets to reduce paper
towel consumption; and

B Encourage customers to bring reusable bags.
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A2:

We aim to implement a tracking system in future so as
to better track the total amount of non-hazardous waste
generated in RMH. This will enable us to reflect a more
accurate figure of the non-hazardous waste generated in
RMH in future reporting.

Overall compliance

In the Reporting Period, the Group has complied with relevant
laws and regulations, including but not limited to those listed
below, that have a significant impact on the Group relating
to air and greenhouse gas emissions, and generation of
hazardous, non-hazardous waste and sewage.

v Environmental Protection and Management Act (EPMA)
of Singapore.

v Environmental Public Health Act (EPHA) of Singapore.

v Hazardous Waste (Control of Export, Import and
Transit) Act (HWA) of Singapore.

Use of resources

As our business nature is service focused, the main
resources used in our daily operation are electricity, water
and papers. In line with our Group’s policy, we encourage our
employees to manage the resources used in an effective and
efficient manner.

Energy consumption

With an emphasis on environmental protection and energy
conservation, we have arranged all our electrical appliances
and medical equipment to be set in energy saving mode.
We also reduced excessive lighting and air-conditioning
to minimize usage of cooling towers during low loading
periods for air-conditioning. We clean dust filters and remove
obstructions at air inlets and outlets of the air-conditioners
on a regular basis to maintain optimum air-conditioning
performance. All air-conditionings of our Clinics and other
premises will be set at 25.5°C as indoor temperature. Instead
of traditional fluorescent lamps, LED panel lights have been
adopted for higher energy efficient. In 2021, the total energy
consumption accounted to 31,521 kWh (2020: 118,000
KWh).
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Water consumption

We encourage our employee to monitor the water usage in
our East Coast Clinic, Orchard Clinic, Raffles Place Clinic,
Shaw Centre Clinic (“Clinics”), back office and Hong Kong
Laboratory and office on a monthly basis to identify sudden
spikes in consumption as well as water leaking in the piping
system. Any dripping or leakage of water mains and tap
will be repaired promptly. We also place water conservation
posters in prominent places to encourage our employees to
save water. We are considering to install flow controllers and
automatic on or off sensor on taps for efficiency of water use.
In 2021, the total water consumption accounted to 39.8 m?®
(2020: 40 m9).

Packaging material used

We are primarily involved with the dermatological and surgical
practice, and the prescription of medication and skin-care
products. These medication and skin-care products are
manufactured, packed, and distributed by our suppliers.
As our business nature is service focused, there was no
significant amount of packaging material used in our daily
operation. As such, we do not track the packaging material
used for the products.
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A3: The Environment and Natural Resources

The importance of the environment and natural resources
is well understood by the Group. With the goal of attaining
environmental sustainability, we have integrated the
concept of environmental preservation and natural resource
conservation into its internal management and daily
operations. Our business operations pose an insignificant
impact toward environment and natural resources used.
Based on our business nature, the natural resources which
contributed to our daily operations are primarily from the
usage of electricity, water and paper.

In line with our Group’s policies, we strive to minimize the
impact to the environment by encouraging our employees
to monitor and manage the consumption of these natural
resources in a more efficient manner (mentioned under the
section of “Use of Resources”). The Group also identifies
important operational issues and offers employees with
trainings to raise their knowledge in order to assist all
employees in understanding key environmental variables and
associated departments in controlling potential impacts on
the environment and natural resources.
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A4: Climate Change A4 . mIREME

MIBIERBE AODBBENAD
BT ZRRESICRZSE M
N EEE o K RES1CH

As Singapore is a low-lying, densely populated tropical island
city-state, it is vulnerable to the effects of climate change and
variability. The typical effects of climate change in Singapore

include:

Warmer Weather

KRR

Four of the past five years are
among the top 10 warmest
years on record

B AR RN +FE
o EEBERENEART
“EE

P>

Heavy Rainfall

2

Increasing trends in both
intensity and frequency of
heavy rainfall events are
expected as the world gets
warmer.

SRR ERLIRRZ

PR B9 5% FE e B2 EE A 0

The Group understands that higher temperatures may
affect human health and healthcare operations. Vector
and pest populations could increase from a result of
higher temperatures and rainfall, increasing the incidence
of diseases such as dengue. However, as the Group is
principally engaged in dermatological and surgical practice,
the Board, as advised by the ESG Working Committee,
considers that those typical climate change effects have
relatively lighter impacts on the Group.

Considerations of TCFD Recommendations

Nevertheless, RMH takes reference to the recommendations
and approach set out by The Task Force of Climate-
related Financial Disclosure (“TCFD”) in assessing the
climate changes impacts on the Group. Thus, the Group
has assessed the climate-related impacts from risks and
opportunities aspects.

BREaRE:

Impact on Human Health
E2PN AR R A

Higher temperatures may
affect human health and
healthcare operations

TR EAREEEANER
REBREBEE

FEBPARBLARNERXEASE
BRERBEEG REASREE
FIAEERR K FRE £ migm.
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Climate-change-related risks

The Group divides climate-change-related risks into two
major categories: (1) risks related to the transition to a low-
carbon economy and (2) risks related to the physical impacts
of climate change.

1. Transition risks that may entail extensive policy, legal,
technology, and market changes to address mitigation
and adaptation requirements related to climate change
in the course of Transitioning to a lower-carbon
economy. There are four sub-risks, namely Policy
and Legal Risks, Technology Risk, Market Risk and
Reputation Risk.

2. Physical risks that may have financial implications
for the Group, such as direct damage to assets and
indirect impacts from supply chain disruption, which
can be driven by acute events (“Acute Events”) or
longer-term chronic shifts (“Chronic Shift”) in climate
patterns.

Climate-change-related opportunities

The Group also takes into consideration of climate-change-
related opportunities and divides them into five major
categories related to resource efficiency and cost savings, the
adoption of low-emission energy sources, the development
of new products and services, access to new markets, and
building resilience along the supply chain.

The overall-risk rating of climate-change-related risks and

opportunities of the Group is considered low as presented
below:

Low-to-medium

RS CARR AR

FEBRRRESCERRARD AT
EEXEHR (NEMERSEER
BRNER K@) R RZRECHERE
TEARENER-

1. 8RR bR 0] 55 R BT BV I
REE-BREEmBEME
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BB REZERE B E
g T R e BB R o

2. ERABIIEHAIERRE
BT MEENEEE
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RiIZECARMKE
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B wRES DA A EERE A
BIRMm R B BRI
BER RS ER KRS EANT
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Overall climate change risk at industry level
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Low-to-medium Climate-change risk

g St (L b

Low-to-medium Transition risk

fK=zrp TR B
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Climate-change opportunities
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Climate Change Impact Assessment

R ETE

The Board has instructed the ESG Working Committee to
perform an assessment on the climate-change-related risks
and opportunities of the Group. The following table presents
the summary of the Group’s assessment.

Climate-Related Risks

EFgERTRRE - HERELRSE
BEEHNAERNREECAARER
R BETHE TREIEAEE

BUEF AR -

Our measures

Type and Opportunities or approach
@8 SRR AE RE R bR e i KMIAvHEES S %

Potential Financial Impacts
when risks are realized

ERERBNEEMEREE

Transition Risk Policy and Legal

The Group is of the view that there

A& by R R AR are no regulatory or market
policies or technology changes
Technology required or on the trend that
B would have significant impact
on the Group.
REET R HEREEHNHIFH
R PTER 2 #E 8
BHAEBRBEEATE
Market Customers may have higher
iz expectations of our image
and services from an
Reputation environmentally friendly
BE perspective.

HRFRAEMS ERAEHERK
IR RRHE ESEIH

o

Remote

HIK

The risks and impacts are
considered remote.
ZERAB R EWRASER

Possible
BAIRE

There is a possible impact
on the reputation of our
Company.

HARBNEEB ORISR
S48

v
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Climate-Related Risks

Our measures

Potential Financial Impacts

Type and Opportunities or approach when risks are realized
=4 RIEERR R bR B i i RMIRETEE 75 % EARBERFNETHHETLE
Physical Risk Acute events The Group is of the view that it is Remote
EhE A REE=MH not subject to physical risks 2B
brought alone from climate
Chronic shifts change. However, the Group The risks and impacts are
REFER will take a monitoring approach ~ considered remote.
and will continuously monitor % E RS R ERBAE MR
the change in physical risks.
AEEFBETZRIEECERE
HIRNEBRE R E 24T
REBPBRIEG TR % T
HFEREERREEIEIE
Opportunities Resource Efficiency The Group is of the view that there Remote
138 BRM &= are no regulatory or market 2B

Energy Source
AETRAR IR

Products & Services
EmR AR
Market

%

Resilience

E'IRH

policies or technology changes
required or on the trend that
would have significant impact
on the Group.

REBRA BEEEHNTIHBEH
R ER 2 #E 8
BHAEEBEEATE-

Customers may have higher
expectations of our image
and services from an
environmentally friendly
perspective.

RIRRAEMS TR OEHRK
PIE R KR H =AY A

o

72 RMH HOLDINGS LIMITED e Annual Report 2021

The opportunities and benefits
are considered remote.

ZRE R ERRAEME -

Possible
BAIRE

There is a possible market
if we can build an
environmental supply chain.
KIS R AR IR IR A5
HEERBEBETEM S
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ENVIRONMENTAL KEY PERFORMANCE

IRIBRARERISR

INDICATORS

Emission type Unit 2021 2020 2021 Intensity’
B ELE B i 20214 20204 20215 % [E'
Greenhouse gas®

BERE?

Direct emissions — Scope 14 kg CO2 0 0 N/AT#E A
BHiEBHR—SEN Fr_| bk

Indirect emissions — Scope 2° kg CO2 12,860.58 8,805.88 1,249.93
M — 8525 FrR @ thk

Indirect emissions — Scope 3° kg CO2 105.59 106.12 10.26
R — 8 E3e Fr |1k

Major resource consumed Unit 2021 2020 2021 Intensity'
TEHRHE 4] 20214 20204 2021 HE"
Energy

AER

Electricity kWh 31,521.02 117,680.77 3,063.56
B TR

Water Cubic metres 39.80 40.00 3.87
B/ RVASP/

Hazardous waste’

BEEEY

Sharp container Litres 517.40 277.40 50.29
lE=FE RF
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Target Setting

In the past years, our emission and resource-use efficiency targets (scope
2) are dependent on the government COVID-19 preventive measures
(lockdown and quarantine requirement), the Group takes a prudent
approach in the target setting and hence aim to maintain a reasonable
level of emission rate (by intensity) in the future three years.

74

Intensity is calculated by the emissions by the Group’s revenue for FY2021
(approximately $$10.289 million).

GHG emissions data is presented in terms of carbon dioxide equivalent
and are based on, but not limited to, “The Greenhouse Gas Protocol: A
Corporate Accounting and Reporting Standards” issued by the World
Resources Institute and the World Business Council for Sustainable
Development, Appendix II: Reporting Guidance on Environmental KPIs”
issued by the Hong Kong Stock Exchange.

Exhaust gas such as nitrogen oxides and sulphur dioxide is not applied in
our business and hence is not included in the scope of this report.

Major source of Scope 1 emission came from usage of fuel which is not
applied in our business. The emission is hence not included include in the
scope of this report.

Major source of Scope 2 emission came from usage of purchased electricity.

Major source of Scope 3 emission came from processing fresh water and
sewage by government departments.

Non-hazardous waste totals have been deemed immaterial to our operations
and are not included in the scope of this report.
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B. SOCIAL
B1: Employment

B. &
B1: 2%

[ Female

As of 31 Dec 2021, the Group has maintained a balanced
Gender Diversity at both overall level, board level and
professional doctor level.

N\

Overall Diversity Board Diversity
Bz oL HEHEEZL
20%
83%
80% /
Male 5514 [ Female Zt% Male 55 1%

We emphasize the protection of labour rights, equal
opportunity and non-discrimination in the workplace.
We promote employee diversity and vehemently reject
discrimination, working to remove any discrimination against
candidates and employees based on variables such as
gender, age, color, religion beliefs, and gender orientations.
The Group’s working hour policies for our employees
have been in complete conformity with national laws and
regulations in order to preserve employees’ legitimate rights
and interests. Our employees work standardized hours and
have access to paid leave, maternity leave, sick leave, public
holidays, and specified rest intervals, ensuring that they get
enough rest and maintain a healthy work-life balance. If any
unfair treatment is discovered, the concerned employees
should report the incident to the head of Human Resources
Department directly. Much effort is also given by the Group
to safeguard the legitimate rights and interests of employees,
and cater for the developmental needs of employees.

HE2021FE12831H REREX
BED EECeERAEXELE
T HEEMERZ e

Doctor Diversity

HERAEZ UL
33%
TN
67%
[ Female Male 1%

RMERRES T TERE
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Z it BORIBBEAR MR~ F
B BE REEM- TR EE
BHE HERERFEANEENIL
RoAEENES TFHHEAEER
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Human Resources Policy and Staff Handbook are established
for regulating recruitment, promotion, discipline, working
hours and vacations. Our Human Resources Department
is responsible for such implementation confirms that our
employees have a full understanding of the contents of
both documents. Employees who fail to comply with the
company’s regulations are first given a warning notice and, in
serious cases, are dismissed. We have created a harmonious
working environment as well as a safe and comfortable
workplace to build a business platform for every employee
to grow with the Group. Our employment documents
and practices are formulated in compliance with relevant
Singapore law and regulations and reviewed on a regular
basis.

We have developed a standardized recruitment process with
the goal of attracting and retaining talent for our teams that
is tailored to their specific job requirements. The Group’s
hiring process considers criteria including their experience,
skills, and expertise needed for our business operations.
Regardless of gender, age, ethnicity, religion, disability, or
gender orientation, applicants who match the requirements
for a position are given equal interview opportunities.
There is also a thorough description of the job, including
responsibilities, benefits, and compensation packages.
Applicants with relatives working in the Group must clarify
personal relationships and ensure that their relatives’ work in
the Group is unaffected.

We are committed to offering competitive remuneration as
well as complete benefits and protections to our employees.
In order to attract, motivate, and retain excellent people, we
assess our compensation and benefits programs on a regular
basis. The remuneration of our employees is determined
by aspects such as their qualifications, contributions, and
years of experience. Employee performance is evaluated
on a regular basis, and those who do well are provided
opportunities for advancement.

During the Reporting period, the overall workforce turnover
rate is 38% (2020: 21.62%), which is considered as a healthy
and normal turnover in overall or by categories of age group,
gender and location of operations.
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Overall compliance

In the Reporting Period, the Group has complied with relevant
laws and regulations, including the below listed, that has a
significant impact on the Group relating to compensation and
dismissal, recruitment and promotion, working hours, rest
periods, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination, other
benefits and welfare and preventing child and forced labour.

v The Employment Act (Cap. 91) of Singapore

v The Employment of Foreign Manpower Act (Cap. 91A)
of Singapore

v The Employment of Foreign Manpower (Work Passes)
Regulations 2012 of Singapore

v The Employees’ Compensation Ordinance of
Singapore of Singapore

v Central Provident Fund Act (Cap. 36) of Singapore

Health and Safety

Occupational health and safety is of utmost importance to the
RMH'’s business operations. We have established Business
Process Manual which emphasizes on safety procedures
and awareness in handling medical devices during daily
operations. Our in-house doctors are responsible for the
provision of support and resources required to maintain safe
and ideal working conditions within the Clinics. Furthermore,
they are also responsible for the implementation and planning
of proper administrative procedures, including adhering to an
agreed reporting structure and investigation methodology in
the event of an incident occurring within the workplace.
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Occupational Safety Measures

° Provide clear and comprehensive guidelines to all staff
on how to handle bad weathers, injuries and work-
related injuries;

o Encourage staff to maintain a good and correct
posture, while maintaining an appropriate eye level with
the computer screen to reduce stress and strain on
their bodies;

° Keep passages clear and the working environment
clean and tidy;

° Place first aid kits and fire extinguishers in workplace;

° Ensure that all staff are familiar with the fire protection
equipment and fire escape routes; and

° Proper disposal of clinical and domestic waste.

In the past 3 years, there have been zero cases of work-
related injury. Yet, RMH will continuingly strive to monitor and
improve the safety standards of the workplace environment.

Our effort on COVID-19 control

The Group have fulfiled all the lockdown and quarantine
requirement imposed in Singapore. In addition, our ESG
Working Committee has set up and overseen reporting
mechanism to timely report suspected or confirmed inflection
cases of our employees and their associates. We have also
established the following necessary precaution measures.
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COVID-19 Measures

All doctors, employees and patients must scan
the Safety Entry QR Code and take temperature at
entrance before entering the premises. Hand sanitizers
are provided to all staff and patients at premises.

All clinic premises have already set up temperature
scanners at entrance.

All staff and patients must always wear masks and
keep personnel and premises hygiene.

All staff should regularly disinfect medical equipment
and change protective clothing.

Our clinics’ seats have 1-meter-mark for safe
distancing.

All treatments are on appointment basis.

Centre staff will be responsible for crowd control.

All staff are allocated self-test kits to do self-test
weekly and update in shared spreadsheet. Some staff
may require more frequent self-test if they have close
contact with patients.

All staff are encouraged to take vaccination or booster.
1 day off is given to employees for taking vaccination or
booster.
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B3:

Overall compliance

In the Reporting Period, the Group has complied with relevant
laws and regulations, including but not limited to the below
listed, that has a significant impact on the Group relating
to providing a safe working environment and protecting
employees from occupational hazards.

v Workplace Safety and Health Act (Cap. 354A) of
Singapore.

v The Workplace Safety and Health (Incident Reporting)
Regulations of Singapore.

v Guidelines on Aesthetic Practices for Doctors of
Singapore.

v Radiation Protection Act (Cap. 262) of Singapore.

v Radiation Protection (lonizing Radiation) Regulations of
Singapore.

Development and Training

Here at RMH, our employees are critical to the operations
and function of our business, and we emphasize heavily on
continual trainings so as to enhance staff performance and
upgrade their professional skillsets. Our doctors and staff
are encouraged to attend industry conferences, seminars
and workshops as well as sharing sessions organized by
our suppliers to keep abreast of evolving healthcare industry
trends and standards. All these activities were carried out
to ensure that our employees remain updated with relevant
developments and are aware of the laws and regulations that
govern the healthcare industry.
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We have also organized internal trainings which cover anti-
corruption, business ethics, ESG reporting, 2022 market
outlook on the healthcare and life sciences sector, among
others. All in-house training programmes are evaluated and
reviewed on a regular basis to ensure that they are relevant,
high-quality, and effective. The following in-house training
programmes are provided to further develop our employees’
competencies.

1. Training is provided by medical device suppliers or
senior clinic staff in relation to the use of a new product
or with regard to service-related knowledge and also
safety precautions of medical equipment.

2. During on-boarding session for new hires, training is
provided by our in-house doctors to familiarize these
new hires on daily operations and equipment handling
procedures.

Bk On-the-job assessments is also conducted by our
in-house doctors for all of our professional staff to
maintain the highest quality and standard of services to
be provided to our clients.

Labour Standards

We prohibited the use of child and forced labour. We have
adopted a range of measures to ensure positive labour
relations between management and our employees. Those
under 16 years of age must not be recruited by reviewing the
identification of personnel in the stringent screening process
on qualified candidates. Any material non-compliance with
our protocol may result in summary dismissal. In addition, we
provide written labour contracts specifying their rights with
regard to compensation and dismissal, working hours, rest
periods, and other issues related to preventing forced labour.

The Group complied the relevant labour provisions in
Singapore, namely The Employment of Children and Young
Persons Regulations, and the Employment Act. In the
Reporting Period, there was no material breach with relevant
laws and regulations recorded pertaining to child and forced
labour.
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B5: Supply Chain Management

We place a high value on maintaining a strong and
professional relationship with our major suppliers, comprising
medical device manufacturers, pharmaceutical companies
for manufacturing our DS brand skincare products, and
distributors of treatment consumables, skincare products and
medications, to ensure a high quality and safety standards. In
the Reporting Period, the Group has 6 major supplier which
are located 5 in Singapore and 1 in China.

We developed a standardized supplier selection procedure.
Prior to establishing any long-term business relationship with
potential suppliers, due diligence is conducted to ensure
suppliers’ compliance to trade laws and regulations as well
as with the requirements within the RMH’s Purchasing and
Procurement Policy. In the course, we consider important
factors such as history of the supplier's quality, quantity,
delivery timing, product source, price, the supplier’s industry
reputation, and feedback from our medical specialists. Senior
management approval is required for accepting a supplier
as our recognized supplier. Our senior management reviews
our supplier regularly in light of their overall performance and
quality.

v All our major medicine suppliers are recognized
suppliers who are qualified to offer FDA approved
medicine.

v We have centralized our medicine procurement
activities which optimism our purchase ordering and
medicine inventory transfer among our clinics, which
further enhance our effectiveness in cost control and
medicine utilization.

v Our procurement activities are carried out in a
transparent, open, and fair manner that all suppliers are
treated fairly and, for major purchase, given an equal
chance to submit a quotation or proposal.

Our management team holds regularly meeting, usually
on weekly basis, for monitoring the Group’s procurement
activities. The management team usually include an Executive
Director, professional doctor, procurement manager, cost
center manager, and finance manager.
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As of the issuance of this report, we have developed a
<Supplier Code of Conduct> which outlines the Group’s
expectations for our suppliers in terms of human rights,
labour, environmental protection, anti-corruption, ethics, and
management system compliance. We will circulate this code
of conduct to our suppliers on a rotation basis in the future as
one of the measures managing the social and environmental
risks in our supply chain.

Product Responsibility
Quality Control

Dermatological and surgical specialty services and products
provided by the Group make a substantial contribution to
people’s well-being. As a result, we are acutely aware of our
obligation to provide high-quality services and products in
order to improve and maintain the health and well-being of
our patients.

We are dedicated to improving and advancing the quality
of our dermatological and surgical specialty services on
a continuous basis. In our daily operations, we strictly
monitored our operations from patient registration, diagnosis
and treatment to efficiency management. This is clearly
communicated to our staff in the Business Process Manual,
the Group’s Staff Handbook and the internal control manual,
which are reviewed regularly to ensure the policies are up-
to-date. Moreover, regular meetings with frontline staff
to discuss industry best practices are scheduled by the
operations managers. The meetings may cover aspects of
administrative practices, industry case studies, and clinical
learning.
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We have formulated quality standards and purchasing
guidelines in selecting and sourcing of skincare products. An
approval must be obtained from our in-house doctors prior
to the acceptance of any new over-the-counter skincare
products that our Clinics will be distributing. In line with the
RMH’s Purchasing and Procurement Policy, we have also
implemented the following quality control procedures to our
DS brand skincare products:

1. In-house doctors to perform review on the medical
journals, reports, commentaries as well as the list of
ingredients used for the new type of skincare products
to ensure the products are safe for user

2. Management to request for few rounds of sample
testing on the new skincare products to observe the
quality consistency and to assess for potential defects

58 Sales and operation staff to perform inspection upon
delivery of the new skincare products to ensure the

following:
° No physically damaged on the products
° Products are not passed the expiry date

° Private labels applied to containers are clear

° Product specifications are tallied with agreed
format

° Quantity of products received are tallied with
purchase order
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4, Sales and operation staff will perform the following
inventory monitoring procedures:

° Record the delivery and manufacturing date of
products

° Monitor and maintain the stock level for all the
products in the inventory management system to
ensure products do not exceed the expiry date

° Perform regular check on the products to ensure
products are in good condition

Customer Satisfaction

By actively engaging our clients through ratings and opinions
on Google Reviews, the Group aims to create and nurture
strong connections with them. During the second quarter
of 2021, we started to boost the Google Reviews rating.
The Group have given its staff incentives to promote Google
Reviews. To obtain our clients’ opinions about our services
or skincare products, we have kept emails from Google My
Business showing Google Reviews ratings for our respective
clinics. Overall average ratings for our clinics are over 4 stars
which reflects that most of our clients are satisfied with our
services or skincare products.

We also developed Customer Complaint Policy to obtain
more comments from our clients. Our marketing manager
will be responsible for dealing with customer complaints.
The Marketing Department will investigate each complaint by
identifying potential causes. Detailed responses will be sent
to customers by our marketing manager. If necessary, we
will take corrective actions. All complaints are then properly
documented and filed for future reference and follow-up.
Complaints are examined and discussed for improvement
at the regular meetings in order to better understand how
we can improve the customer experience. Furthermore, we
decide to expand more communication channels with our
clients, including but not limited to emails, posts, suggestion
boxes placed at our clinics.
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Data Privacy Protection

Data privacy protection measures are included in RMH’s
internal control manual. Our sales and operation staff are
responsible for safeguarding the privacy, confidentiality and
security of customer data entrusted to RMH. The Group’s
staff who will be handling personal data must adhere to
the data privacy protection measures. The Operations
Department of the Group will review the measures design
and the management team will monitor the implementation of
the measures on a regular basis. Some relevant measures as
follows:

v Ensure that personal data is not read, copied,

modified, or removed without consent during electronic
transmission, transport, or storage on a data carrier.

v Ascertain that data acquired for various reasons will be
processed independently.

v When not in use, physical records containing personal

data are securely stored and locked.

v Prevent unauthorized individuals from accessing data.

v Ascertain that personal data is secured from
unintended deletion or loss.

v Ensure that all data-storage devices are appropriately
destroyed and reformatted after each use.
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Intellectual Property Rights

We respect intellectual property rights, such as trademarks,
patents, and copyrights, among others. The Group kept
a complete record of its intellectual property rights and
will seek legal advice and take appropriate action if any
of its intellectual property rights are infringed upon. If our
staff is discovered to be in violation of applicable rules and
regulations, they may not only face disciplinary action, but
they may also be prosecuted and face criminal or civil liability,
as stated in the Group’s Staff Handbook.

During the Reporting Period, we believe that we have taken
all reasonable measures to protect our intellectual property
rights and deter any such infringement. We were unaware of
any infringement (i) by us of any intellectual property rights
owned by third parties; or (i) by any third parties of any
intellectual property rights owned by us.

Overall compliance

In the Reporting Period, there were no material breach with
relevant law and regulations relating to advertising, labelling
and privacy matters recorded pertaining to our products and
services. The Group has complied with relevant laws and
regulations, including but limited to the below listed, that
have a significant impact on the Group relating to safety,
advertising, labelling and privacy matters relating to products
and services provided and method of redress.

v The Medicines Act (Cap. 176) of Singapore

v The Sale of Drugs Act of Singapore

v The Poisons Act of Singapore

v The Health Products Act of Singapore

v The Personal Data Protection (Amendment) Act 2020
of Singapore

v The Patent Act of Singapore

v The Trade Marks Act of Singapore

v Private Hospitals and Medical Clinics (Publicity)
Regulations of Singapore
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B7: Anti-Corruption

Within RMH, we contained anti-corruption provisions,
including but not limited to bribery, extortion, fraud, and
money laundering, into the Group’s Staff Handbook. Bribery,
extortion, fraud, money laundering, or other unlawful offers
are all prohibited. Soliciting, accepting, or offering any
benefits, including but not limited to gifts, coupons, and tips,
from or to our clients, suppliers, or anyone with a business
relationship with the Group is strictly banned, as stated in the
Staff Handbook. Staff are also barred from advising or dealing
in any transaction that could result in potential conflicts
of interest, and any potential conflicts of interest must be
reported to the Group’s Human Resources Department.
Any breach of behavior will result in the termination of the
employment contract or consultancy agreement (as the case
may be), as well as legal implications for the subject.

We established our own internal Whistleblowing Policy
to support the detection of fraud and corruption risks.
The Whistleblowing Policy is implemented by the Human
Resources Department, and monitored the funds paid and
received by the Group by the Finance Department. The
Whistleblowing Policy is a critical tool for uncovering corrupt,
unlawful, or otherwise unacceptable behaviour. The policy is
intended to allow employees to voice their concerns internally
and to reveal evidence that they believe demonstrates
malpractice or impropriety related to bribery, extortion, fraud,
or money laundering.

To ensure the safety and secrecy of all whistle-blowers, the
policy specifies that if employees detect any suspicious
behaviour, they should report it immediately in writing or
verbally to any of the Executive Directors. Following that,
the Executive Director and an investigating officer will handle
the situation quickly, professionally, and attentively. All of our
employees have undergone internal trainings to familiarize
themselves with the RMH’s internal Whistleblowing Policy
and thus are required to comply. This is to prevent employees
from obtaining personal interest from related parties who
have connections with RMH through bribery, extortion, and
fraud.

RMH HOLDINGS LIMITED e Annual Report 2021

B7 :

R&S

RiEHn RARRESHE (81
BARRRBEE R BERAER
2) MALAEENE T FM B
R IEF R B EMIFEEL
PWEE AL o N B T3 MAT At > 3
BERATA HEBHELEES
EHFRANENALTRR EZR
REEEM =D BFEERRIEY
BESRNE - BINTREIEME
AR EERETNDTEROIRZR
HERNETRS  MEREEF
mE RO ROAEERNANEIRE
BE-EMERTHABERRRBS
MBI BERAL GRFBERM
TE) » MR 5|3 R EIRE

HPIEHIE RSB RIREBR > MU
RAMFERES AR - BHRERA
ANNERBEBAIT » T B 5 BR B 52
BAERES N RIEAERRERNE
T BWHRRIBEES IFEHHE
MR EZITANBRIAR - ZH
REEEREEAMREHERL
WIRBEREFEEERARBE B
R -MFH A BBNTETHNE
o

RERFMIEER|ANZERERE
ZHRREMEEF R EM LT
A REEUBNEBAAHOER
AABEARITEFRE - HBEER
HITEERAEAERAE FX
REIHMEZEARBR - RIAFA
BEHEERZABPE MR I
E IR Z KB T EITHI AR IRE
RelltBNRMILEESBBERE -#
BRI ERER AL 15 B B9 B Bt 75 A EBR(E
ARz o



Environmental, Social and Governance Report

B ~

BS:

IR E R ER e

Overall compliance

In the Reporting Period, RMH is in compliance with the
Prevention of Corruption Act in Singapore and other relevant
regulations. We recorded zero material breaches with relevant
law and regulations pertaining to bribery, extortion, fraud and
money laundering.

Community Investment

RMH has consistently been committed towards corporate
social responsibility where it aims to promote and achieve
a positive impact toward the community. We actively
participate in medical conferences, seminars and workshops
in Singapore and overseas. We encourage our in-house
doctors and staff to attend these events as guest speakers
or participants, thereby raising awareness of prevention
and treatment of dermatological conditions toward the
community. In addition, our Executive Directors have also
contributed articles to medical journals, which increases
the industry awareness of our RMH and also contributed
invaluably to consumers and professionals across the
industry.
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SOCIAL KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS L ERARENIEE
KPls Unit 2021 2020 % Change
RR SR AERIEIR Bl 20214 20204 2Haoskt
Workforce By employment type
HEh RIEEER 22
Full time Persons 50 37 +35%
2 A
Part time Persons 6 2 +300%
I A
By gender
BB S
Female Persons 46 28 +75%
7 AN
Male Persons 10 11 -10%
B A#
By age group
REBRER RS
Under 30 Persons 11 6 +83%
30 AT N ¢
30-50 Persons 31 19 +63%
305% £505% N ¢
Above 50 Persons 14 14 /
505 A &£ N4
By employee category
RESEN2 S
Directors & Management Persons 10 12 -17%
BEEnEEE AE
Office staff Persons 7 6 +16%
MAEBT A
Clinic staff Persons 39 21 +86%
MBI A#
By geographical region
IR E I 2 5
Singapore Persons 53 36 +47%
Hhn g A
Hong Kong & PRC Persons 3 3 /
BEAERF N ¢
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B~ 4L & B SRS

KPIs Unit 2021 2020
RASRAE UG 1E 4] 20214 20204
Turnover Rate® By employment type
i REEERN2 S
Full time % 38.00 21.62
D
Part time % 0 0
R
By gender
iR B o
Female % 32.61 17.85
7
Male % 40 27.27
S5
By age group
HER AR RS
Under 30 % 33.33 0
30 LA™
30-50 % 38.71 36.84
305% £505%
Above 50 % 23.08 6.25
5058 LA £ % 23.08 6.25
By geographical region
B EE o
Singapore % 33.96 15.38
g
PRC % 33.33 5.18
H
8 Turnover rate = employees in the specified category leaving employment/ & MAX=BTEHEIRBES FEENREEBAK

number of employees in the specified category x 100

x 100
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HKEX ESG REPORTING GUIDE INDEX EAMZ(RIE -t ERERHREIE
VEE]

ASPECT A: ENVIRONMENTAL

BEA: IRIE
Chapter, Page
General Disclosures (“GD”)/ Reference, and/
Key Performance Indicators or Explanation for
(“KPIs”) Description Omissions Comply or Explain
BEEH-
—RRIEE (T—MRE) FARE BER %
MI51% (TRASRAERUEIR) i pa HERERTE TETHARRE
A1: Emissions
A1 BEY
GD A1 Information on: A. Environmental Complied
(@  the policies; and
(b)  compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer relating to air and
greenhouse gas emissions, discharges
into water and land, and generation of
hazardous and non-hazardous waste.
— AR I BEAT ERRBRRERBHICHREKKELE EEA RIE 2Er
MUARELERSRBEBEEYN
@@ HBK; X
) BTFHTFEGTABEATENEEZ
BRROINER
KPI'A1.1 The types of emissions and respective Environmental Complied
emissions data. Key Performance
Indicators
RA AR RS 1RAT A e B s BRI R © IRIGFAREIIER BEST
KPI A1.2 Greenhouse gas emissions in total (in tonnes)  Environmental Complied
and, where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per Key Performance
unit of production volume, per facility). Indicators
RASRAEIEIRAT .2 BERBAESME UEETE) k QER) RIEEARENIEE BET
BE WUSESSEM §EREHE ©
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ASPECT A: ENVIRONMENTAL

BEA: B8

General Disclosures (“GD”)/
Key Performance Indicators

(“KPIs”)

—fRiRE ((—RIRE) FRE
s (TRAREMIERD

KPI'A1.3

B IEIEIRA1.3

KPI A1.4

SR IE RIS IRA1.4

KPI'A1.5

RARABEMIGIEA1S

KPI'A1.6

R IEIEIRA1.6

Description

Ei::pan
Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes)

and, where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per
unit of production volume, per facility).

FRELRZERYRE CUEE) K 0
BR) ZE (WU SESE1 - SER
8-

Total non-hazardous waste produced (in
tonnes) and, where appropriate, intensity
(e.g. per unit of production volume, per
facility).

FrEL BmEEEYEE UWEEE) & @0
BR)EE WUSESEM §ERME
B o

Description of measures to mitigate
emissions and results achieved.

AR PR BB R PRISR ©

Description of how hazardous and non-
hazardous wastes are handled, reduction
initiatives and results achieved.

B ERIEA BN EEERYN ARG
EEEMNEEAFTSHR -

Chapter, Page
Reference, and/
or Explanation for
Omissions

BEEM-
BiER =%
LR RIS
Environmental
Key Performance
Indicators

RIBRREINIER

A1: Emissions

Al BEEY)

We are assessing if
any emission target
can be feasibly set.

HPEEFEES
PE B 1R AR )
HET AL o

A1: Emissions

Al BERHD

Comply or Explain

RIETRTE
Complied

Explained

B

Explained

(S

Complied
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B AL OB RS

ASPECT A: ENVIRONMENTAL

BEA: B8

General Disclosures (“GD”)/
Key Performance Indicators
(“KPIs”)

—MRiRE ((—RIRE) FRE

iR (TRARAEKISRY)

A2: Use of Resources

A2 BRIER

GD A2

—RRIREEA2

KPI A2.1

R ENIEIRA2.1

KPI'A2.2

RRAENIEIRA2.2

KPI' A2.3

RS AR
KPI A2.4

WIS1RA2.3

RREIEIRA2.4

Description

it

Policies on the efficient use of resources,
including energy, water and other raw
materials.

*ﬁ_xﬁlﬁﬁﬁé/}_ (BIEER
BB R

Direct and/or indirect energy consumption
by type (e.g. electricity, gas or oil) in total
(KWh in '000s) and intensity (e.g. per unit of
production volume, per facility).

E*ﬁ’*ﬁﬂ’\ﬁ’lﬁﬁ&/ﬁﬁﬂﬁﬁm (ill]
(lZDL,{lEE' B-8ER ﬁm.ﬁr%ﬁ)

KR E AR

Water consumption in total and intensity (e.g.
per unit of production volume, per facility).

HWHEAEREFE MMUSESEN B8IER
HETE) o

Description of energy use efficiency initiatives
and results achieved.

B RERM RSB RAIEAR -

Description of whether there is any issue in
sourcing water that is fit for purpose, water
efficiency initiatives and results achieved.

R SR EGE AR LR AR LUk
RARKN T BIRFIIFRR
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Chapter, Page
Reference, and/
or Explanation for
Omissions

2EEH-
HEER 5
HREE

A2: Use of
Resources

A2 I EIREA

Environmental
Key Performance
Indicators

RIBRREIIEE

Environmental
Key Performance
Indicators

RIBRFRBENIERE

A2: Use of
Resources

A2 I ERfEH

We do not have
problem in sourcing
water in our
operation.

HFIREEPILE
SKEKOR B9 B o

Comply or Explain

TETIARRRE

Complied

BEsr

Complied

Complied

2Esr

Complied

2ET

Explained

R
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ASPECT A: ENVIRONMENTAL

BEA: B8

General Disclosures (“GD”)/
Key Performance Indicators

(“KPIs”)

—fRiRE ((—RIRE) FRE
s (TRAREMIERD

KPI'A2.5

BRGNS 1RA2.5

Description

it
Total packaging material used for finished

products (in tonnes) and, if applicable, with
reference to per unit produced.

B ST A MR EE OB E) &
EE) SEEB LS.

A3: The Environment and Natural Resources

A3 ERIERRAER
GD A3

— %I EEAS

KPI' A3.1

B RIS IS 1RAS

Policies on minimizing the issuer’s significant
impact on the environment and natural
resources.

BEETABRERRRERENEAT
EHBR-

Description of the significant impacts of
activities on the environment and natural
resources and the actions taken to manage
them.

HtE B EHHRBERRARERNEAT
EREXENEEAREZENTTH-

Chapter, Page
Reference, and/
or Explanation for
Omissions

SEZE-
BER =
HIRRTE
A2: Use of
Resources

We do not

have significant
packaging material
used.

A2 I BIREA

FFIA AR EA
BEEAT K

A3: The
Environment and
Natural Resources
A3 I IRIERMANRE
IR

A3: The

Environment and
Natural Resources

A3 I RIBERRARE
e

Comply or Explain

TETIARRRE

Explained

(S

Complied

BT

Complied
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ASPECT A: ENVIRONMENTAL
BEA: B8

General Disclosures (“GD”)/
Key Performance Indicators
(“KPIs”)

—RIRE ((—RIKE)) ARE
MEIR (TRASRAE ISR

Ad4: Climate Change

A4 RIREE

GD A4

— AR EEA4

KPI A4.1

B RENIEIRA4 A

Description

Policies on identification and mitigation of
significant climate-related issues which have
impacted, and those which may impact, the
issuer

AR RE RIS HETAEER
ENEAREEFABENBER

Description of the significant climate-related
issues which have impacted, and those
which may impact, the issuer, and the
actions taken to manage them.

BRI SEEHET AR ENERKR
RIZIERARE > REETH-
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Chapter, Page
Reference, and/
or Explanation for
Omissions

2EEH-
HEER 5
HREE

A4: Climate Change

A4 . miEE1E

A4: Climate Change

Ad T RIREE

Comply or Explain

TETIARRRE

Complied

2EsF

Complied
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ASPECT B: SOCIAL

BEB: g
Chapter, Page
Reference, and/
or Explanation for
GD/KPIs Description Omissions Comply or Explain
BEEM-
BER %
—RRINERARENIEIE it HERARTE TETRERE
B1: Employment
B1: {EfR
GD B1 Information on: B1: Employment Complied
(@  the policies; and
(b)  compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer relating to
compensation and dismissal,
recruitment and promotion, working
hours, rest periods, equal opportunity,
diversity, antidiscrimination, and other
benefits and welfare.
— Rz BEB1 BERIF N AR B B RS TSR Bl R 2&r
fREA FEHEHE St~ RIERUREM
FBREMNN
@ B
(o) BEBFH|ITABEAZENMERDE
BRBROINER
KPI B1.1 Total workforce by gender, employment type  Social Key Complied
(for example, full- or part-time), age group Performance
and geographical region. Indicators
RSB IS 1EB1 .1 R BEEE e RE  Fitd HIERENEE BET
Bl R ith & Bl 3 (VAR 5 EY /]
KPI B1.2 Employee turnover rate by gender, age Social Key Complied
group and geographical region. Performance
Indicators
RASRAE RIS IEB1.2 ZHH FRRARN BRI SNEERE HIEARERIEE BET
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ASPECT B: SOCIAL

EBEB: g
Chapter, Page
Reference, and/
or Explanation for
GD/KPIs Description Omissions Comply or Explain
BEEM-
BER %
—MRINERARERIEIE it HERARTE TETRERE
B2: Health and Safety
B2: ERELZS
GD B2 Information on: B2: Health and Complied
(@  the policies; and Safety
(b)  compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer relating to
providing a safe working environment
and protecting employees from
occupational hazards.
— iR #EB2 ERRHZ2THRRERREREEHEE B2 #EHE%ZE BT
EMBEN:
@ HE;&
(b)) ETFHTETABEALENERE
BRRANER -
KPI B2.1 Number and rate of work-related fatalities B2: Health and Complied
occurred in each of the past three years Safety
including the reporting year.
R G I51EB2.1 BEZF (BERSEE) SFRITHN B2 #FHEZE g2&
ANHUz L
KPI B2.2 Lost days due to work injury None noted. For Complied
detail, please refer
to B2: Health and
Safety
RAEAR N IE1EB2.2 HIHEELATIEEH HmERFIEE BEST
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ASPECT B: SOCIAL

BEB: g
Chapter, Page
Reference, and/
or Explanation for
GD/KPIs Description Omissions Comply or Explain
BEEM-
BER %
—RRINERARENIEIE it HERARTE TETRERE
KPI B2.3 Description of occupational health and B2: Health and Complied
safety measures adopted, and how they are  Safety
implemented and monitored.
RS A I51EB2.3 HMPRER B B R B 248 LUK B2 fZREZE 2EsTr
MERAMITRERGE
B3: Development and Training
B3 : R IE
GD B3 Policies on improving employees’ knowledge  B3: Development Complied
and skills for discharging duties at work. and Training
Description of training activities.
— i %283 ERRAREBTILERENM#LEE B3 EERAEI gEs
HOBLER o f i 55 3l EEh o
KPI B3.1 The percentage of employees trained by We didn’t have Explained
gender and employee category formal training and
record on informal
training.
A A A5 1RB3. 1 BRI REESENBSNZIEER D BRMOTEEENXEI ERE
Ebo KIEERIEIED
ﬁ o
KPI B3.2 The average training hours completed per We didn’t have Explained
employee by gender and employee category.  formal training and
record on informal
training.
RS A I51EB3.2 BENREEREE D SRREETHT BrwmENE  BEE

EllESRSSES S8

KIFEIEIED
80
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ASPECT B: SOCIAL

EBEB: g
Chapter, Page
Reference, and/
or Explanation for
GD/KPIs Description Omissions Comply or Explain
BEEM-
BER %
—MRINERARERIEIE it HERARTE TETRERE
B4: Labour Standards
B4 : %5 T 48|
GD B4 Information on: B4: Labour Complied
(@  the policies; and Standards
(b)  compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer relating to
preventing child and forced labour.
— g $2B4 BRIBRIEAET KRl T ! B4 : 55 T %R BEsT
@ BE;X
() BEFHETABEAZENMERE
BRROINER}
KPI B4.1 Description of measures to review B4: Labour Complied
employment practices to avoid child and Standards
forced labour.
RS G NIS1EBS. 1 BRI AR B A NE LU REERET B4 | TR BEsr
REBHIHT
KPI B4.2 Description of steps taken to eliminate such B4: Labour Complied
practices when discovered. Standards
ARG NIE1EB4.2 BT B INERBEREPRZZFIBOIPIR B4 I 5T %A BT

HRIF R o
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ASPECT B: SOCIAL

[EEB: &
Chapter, Page
Reference, and/
or Explanation for
GD/KPIs Description Omissions Comply or Explain
SEEH-
BiER =%
— B RREMIEIE Ei::pan LR RIS RIETRTE
B5: Supply Chain Management
B5 : SR EIE
GD B5 Policies on managing environmental and B5: Supply Chain Complied
social risks of the supply chain. Management
—RRiEEEBS EIRMHERENIRIE Rt g REEER B5 : HAEHEIE BET
KPI B5.1 Number of suppliers by geographical region.  B5: Supply Chain Complied
Management
A # 48 51285, 1 BMEE D EEREE - B5 [ {HAEHEIE BET
KPI B5.2 Description of practices relating to engaging ~ B5: Supply Chain Complied
suppliers, number of suppliers where the Management
practices are being implemented, and how
they are implemented and monitored.
RASE A I51EB56.2 i ARZEHERNES mERNTE B5 : HEREIE BET
RABFINHEEEE ~ UL BRIIEHIRYEH
TREER %
KPI B5.3 Description of practices used to identify B5: Supply Chain Complied
environmental and social risks along the Management
supply chain, and how they are implemented
and monitored.
RA SR A 2 I515B5.3 AR HERSEIRMNIRE Rt B HEEEIE gEsT
2 REEINIERS > URERRRITRERA X
KPI B5.4 Description of practices used to promote B5: Supply Chain Complied
environmentally preferable products and Management
services when selecting suppliers, and how
they are implemented and monitored.
RA S A 25158564 BERERERREESRIRRERKR BS . HEHESE B2ETr

ARFSBVED > LURABRAAITRER T 7%
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ASPECT B: SOCIAL

EBEB: g
Chapter, Page
Reference, and/
or Explanation for
GD/KPIs Description Omissions Comply or Explain
BEEM-
BER %
—MRINERARERIEIE it HERARTE TETRERE
B6: Product Responsibility
B6 : EmEIE
GD B6 Information on: B6: Product Complied
(@  the policies; and Responsibility
(b)  compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer relating to health
and safety, advertising, labelling and
privacy matters relating to products
and services provided and methods of
redress.
— & %286 BRIBRIEAET Kookl TH ! B6: EmEE BEsT
@ HE;&
() RETHETABEAZEMNIERM
ERERRBINE R
KPI B6.1 Percentage of total products sold or shipped  There was no recall ~ Explained
subject to recalls for safety and health for safety and health
reasons. reasons noted.
R G 3NI512B6.1 BENCEXERRYETRAZTEEEREE HERNZ2HARE CORE
BmZARWNE DL - BEhmEanE
o
KPI B6.2 Number of products and service-related No products Explained
complaints received and how they are dealt complaints
with. received.
ARG NI51RB6.2 BEMRNEQKRBNRFUEUREY HMREEELE EETE
ke Bl
KPI B6.3 Description of practices relating to observing  Intellectual Property ~ Complied
and protecting intellectual property rights Rights
R G NI512B6.3 MR 2 I (R o F 8 EE 1 B RA RV 1B 451 o M E R BT
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ASPECT B: SOCIAL

BEB: g
Chapter, Page
Reference, and/
or Explanation for
GD/KPIs Description Omissions Comply or Explain
BEEM-
BER %
—RRINERARENIEIE it HERARTE TETRERE
KPI B6.4 Description of quality assurance process and  Quality Control Complied
recall procedures.
RASRAE IS 1RB6.4 it E 2R T BE K EmBIWIZRF m B g2&sr
KPI B6.5 Description of consumer data protection Data Privacy Complied
and privacy policies, and how they are Protection
implemented and monitored.
AR AE WIS 1RB6.5 HUUH B E B RMRE R FARREER » LU E BRI RIRE =y
WITRERA L
B7: Anti-corruption
B7 : REE
GD B7 Information on: B7: Anti-Corruption ~ Complied
(@  the policies; and
(b)  compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer relating to bribery,
extortion, fraud and money laundering.
— e BEB7 BRIBRIEAET Koatls T ! B7 : k&S BEr
@ BER; R
(o) RETHEITABEAZEZNEE
ERRFRBINER
KPI B7.1 Number of concluded legal cases regarding B7: Anti-Corruption ~ Complied
corrupt practices brought against the issuer
or its employees during the Reporting Period
and the
R SR AB IS 1RBT 1 RREMAHBTARERERLELEE BT RES BEr

EOESTFRRFNBE R
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ASPECT B: SOCIAL

[EEB: &
Chapter, Page
Reference, and/
or Explanation for
GD/KPIs Description Omissions Comply or Explain
SEEMH-
BiER =%
— I B RREMISIE Ei::pan L FRRE RIETARTE
KPI B7.2 Description of preventive measures and B7: Anti-Corruption ~ Complied
whistle-blowing procedures, and how they
are implemented and monitored.
RAR G NIE1RBT.2 ML FE R R IRAZ T LU ABRE T B7 : k&5 2EsTr
BTk
KPI B7.3 Description of anti-corruption training B7: Anti-Corruption ~ Complied
provided to directors and staff.
RAR G NIE1RBT.3 HWimEERETRENRESEN B7 . k&S 2EsTr
B8: Community Investment
B8 : tERE
GD B8 Policies on community engagement to B8: Community Complied
understand the needs of the communities Investment
where the issuer operates and to ensure
its activities take into consideration the
communities’ interests.
— ik EB8 BREUMEZ2ERTREEMTHESRE B8 . HEBEE BET
M REER TGS B ER &=L
Bﬁ o
KPI B8.1 Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education, B8: Community Complied
environmental concerns, labour needs, Investment
health, culture, sport).
RGN I512B8. 1 BERELHEE WHE RESEE - BTE B8 HERKE 2ET
KBRS XEfEA) o
KPI B8.2 Resources contributed (e.g. money or time) B8: Community Complied
to the focus area. Investment
RAR G NI51RB8.2 B TELSHENER (SR EERE) o B8 : (t@®&E 2Esr
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Independent Auditor’s Report

Fei N AZ R

Causeway Bay, Hong Kong

TO THE MEMBERS OF RMH HOLDINGS LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of RMH Holdings
Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (hereinafter collectively
referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 112 to 207, which comprise
the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2021,
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated
statement of cash flows of the Group for the year then ended, and
notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of
significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2021, and of its consolidated financial performance and
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with International Financial Reporting Standards (‘IFRSs”) issued by
International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards
on Auditing (“ISAs”) issued by International Auditing and Assurance
Standard Board (the “IAASB”). Our responsibilities under those standards
are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of
the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are
independent of the Group in accordance with the International Ethics
Standards Board for Accountants’ Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (“IESBA Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the IESBA
Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate
opinion on these matters.

SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited
43/F., Lee Garden One, 33 Hysan Avenue
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YT A

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Valuation of trade and other receivables

ESRAMEKKEIGE

FREXEIE @

Refer to Note 4 for relevant accounting policy and Notes 23 and 36 for breakdown and credit risk of trade and other

receivables respectively.

F0 2R a4 BRI ST IER) MURMIsE23/%36 0 U T M8 2 R HMEWIENBRREERME

The key audit matter
MREZER

How the matter was addressed in our audit

EEZERNAREMBEEZEE

As at 31 December 2021, the carrying amount of trade and
other receivables is S$2,455,000.
R2021F12831H  BS REMBEWARIENREER
2,455,000#7 I3 7T

The Group offers credit terms of 45 to 90 days from
date of invoice to corporate customers comprised of
mainly healthcare solutions and insurance companies
and the average credit period for receivables from sales
of healthcare products is 90 days. The Group determines
the expected credit losses (‘ECLs”) of trade and other
receivables either individually by making debtor-specific
assessment or collectively by using a provision matrix
for trade receivables that is based on its historical credit
loss experience, debtors’ ability to pay and forward-
looking information specific to the debtors and economic
environment. This assessment requires management to
exercise significant judgement.
EEEAURBBRASERRRABREINABTFFRM
BHEZHHAR4EHNEEHR MK B #H & REMRD
FEWHIENEERRTIIA0H EEBETES KA
MEWRIENTRRAESGE ((RREEEHEE) » FRAARRE
BRI HHEFEERETESARRT G L85 EUIE
FARAENEBTEEEBER EFAZIMENRARE
BARKBIRENS EABEMEE R A B EBE - AT
REEEEFHELRHE-
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Our audit procedures included:
EENBEZRIEAE

Evaluating of the Group’s relevant key controls over the credit
and collection process;

i BEEHEERBRAENEREREEEENG
P

Testing the reasonableness of management’s assumptions
and inputs used in the ECL model by comparing to historical
credit loss rates, and reviewed data and information that
management has used, including consideration of forward-
looking information based on specific economic data;

FELERBECEEHEXUEEEMTRLERBERE
kK (BEERARCEENAREERNNEESE) > A
AEREEHEEIMAEEERRLBABBRNSIEN;

Assessing, on sample basis, creditworthiness of the
customer by assessing the available information such as the
profile, background concentration risk, the Group’s actual
loss experience, subsequent settlement and ageing analysis
of the receivables; and
FETEERNESENNSTRER -SRERAR
REBMNBREIBLR  BRENRBIGRIEIRE 217
HETLERNEEE; &

Evaluating management’s assessment to support the
collectability of the receivables.

FEEIRE R R UGRIE 2 o B 2 B AR AT E B9 5T
%o
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Jo ST A T

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

HEEZEE®

Valuation of plant and equipment, right-of-use assets and intangible assets

B 5 REMERFBEIEE

Refer to Note 4 for relevant accounting policy and Note 15, 19, 16 for plant and equipment, right-of-use assets and

intangible assets respectively.

HEESBRFLRNT4 MEERRE EREREERETEEF D 2RMFE1519Kk16°

The key audit matter
FRBIZEIA

How the matter was addressed in our audit

BEEZERNAEERREZER

As at 31 December 2021, the carrying amount of plant
and equipment is S$1,927,000, right-of-use assets is
$%$5,857,000 and intangible assets is S$789,000.
R2021F12A31H MERRE - CARBERBTEE
2 BREE 3 5 #31,927, 00057 M3 7t ~ 5,857,000 01 7T
K2 789,000%7 N3 7T ©

In view of the loss for the year approximately S$8,785,000,
there is an indication of impairment for plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets and intangible assets. The Group
has performed the impairment assessment of plant and
equipment, right-of-use assets and intangible assets by a
value-in-use calculation derived from cash flow projection
which involved the use of significant management
judgements and estimates.

ERER15498,785,000# NN T R F MBS 18 > Rk B Fe 5% 1
FTHAREEREFLEELRABTN R SEBETTR
BR&EEUR TRAEBEERBEEEN BTG 135
ERBRERERANERAEBESE  ZRET G RE
B XEIEEH B kit

OTHER MATTERS

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended
31 December 2020 were audited by another auditor who expressed
an unmodified opinion in those consolidated financial statements on 25

March 2021.

INFORMATION OTHER THAN THE CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND AUDITOR’S
REPORT THEREON

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises all of the information included in the
Company’s annual report other than the consolidated financial statements

and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our audit procedures included:
EEZBZBREE

Evaluating the management’s assessment of the indicators
of impairment and, where such indicators were identified,
assessing the management’s impairment testing; and
SMEEIEE S AENRNTG KR (HEREHSR) 5T EE
EENREAE; &

Assessing the appropriateness of management assessment
methodology;
HEEEETEECEEN

Assessing the reasonableness of the key assumptions,
testing the input data including cash flow projection in the
valuation model and reviewing the evidence to support the
Group’s impairment assessment.

SHMEAESEEE (AEGERETHNRERERR) NE
ZRRZEEMN MBS XFHAEENREN L 2B

Hith=EH

SHEEHE2020FE 12831 H L EENLE ST
REDH B — AT R LR 2021FE3825H
HZEUHERREREFREER -

RE MR ARRE ML H IR
EERE UM EthE R

EAREEANHMENEE - HMWERES

B BEREFR GREMBRENESMAEN
ZREEMRESIRIN FRBZ 28 E K -
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Y2 A BRI v

INFORMATION OTHER THAN THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND AUDITOR’S
REPORT THEREON (Continued)

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we
have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this
other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to
report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND
AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with IFRSs and the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as
the directors of the Company determines is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the
Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue
as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the
directors of the Company either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Audit committee is responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial
reporting process.

108 RMH HOLDINGS LIMITED ¢ Annual Report 2021

e MBRRRE S HAZH
EMER S AN E M E R @)

EEHRAMBRRZERIFAREAME
B R AEREFHMEREREAT A ZZE

£ 2A
i o

MGEHMBREZEZNE  ES2E5EEH
BHMEN TELBEPEEHAMENES
BREUBRRAESEERBETETE
MARRERT BB ERERERL - BN BT
ZItE HESTHERISEMEREEX
HEERRR BB EZFEE - EE AL L EAR
HEE

ESRERZEIMAREMBERRE
AIEHNEE

M

BEADEFELERBEBRYHREENRE
BRBERAIMNKREREREREEMA M
BZERaVBERE TAE BREAESRR
PRREEMBRRAMUTHNERAEEE
M RGE S M B REVBRAFERRRGER
BHER T B B AV B A B SR PR 4t

A

ERUGEEYHREE> BLRNEFHESR
i EEEFEKENEN TIREREE
RERAMNER WER) - KIEF BRAFESR
BEER BEEBR HELEE Sz
WEHMBRAITHE SR SRTES
ARBAUFEEERERINE A

BEEREMFREMNE



Independent Auditor’s Report
BENLAZ B 5

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion, solely to you, as a body, in accordance
with our agreed terms of engagement, and for no other purpose. We do
not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person
for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of
assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance
with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material
if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors of the Company.
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BINAZ B 5

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Continued)

° Conclude on the appropriateness of the Company’s directors’ use
of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that
a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in
our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to
modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However,
future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to
continue as a going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

° Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We
are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of
the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with audit committee regarding, among other matters,
the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings,
including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify
during our audit.

We also provide audit committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
J N A% BB

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Continued)

From the matters communicated with audit committee, we determine
those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore
the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report
unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should
not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest
benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Lee Shun Ming.

SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Lee Shun Ming

Practising Certificate Number: PO7068
Hong Kong

25 March 2022
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

G 1t e FLAth A2 T 2%

For the year ended 31 December 2021 #;Z22021F 12531 HIEFZE

2021 2020
20214 2020%F
Notes S$’000 S$'000
B s TN TT ¥ T
Revenue W& 6 10,289 7,809
Other operating income H & E WA 9 1,430 2,777
Consumables and medical supplies used ERHERKRERAR (1,898) (2,467)
Other direct costs HMEZR A (382) (218)
Employee benefits expense BREfAZ (7,035) (3,884)
Amortisation of intangible assets B EE#E 16 (169) -
Depreciation of plant and equipment BB Rk EITE 15 (810) (491)
Depreciation of right-of-use assets EREEEETE 19 (2,777) (2,207)
Other operating expenses H&ERx (5,602) (4,302)
Finance costs AR 10 (340) (261)
Impairment loss on finance lease receivables B4 & 7 & FEURRIE R B 5518 17 = (541)
Impairment loss on investment in joint venture BB & & A BRI EEE 20 - (1,558)
Impairment loss on trade and other B 5k EMBUGERIEREEE
receivables, net of reversal 0B #[E] 23 (690) (2,761)
Impairment loss on plant and equipment = R s R E RS 1R 15 (887) =
Share of loss of joint venture EhEEAEEIE 20 - (1,093)
Loss before tax IR A ES 18 11 (8,871) (9,197)
Income tax credit/(expense) ik, (D) 12 86 (75)
Loss for the year FAEE (8,785) (9,272)
Other comprehensive (loss)/income BRREEMEE (R Y -
Itera'nﬂteI:at':1 )rfr:ay be reclassified HEgnEHhoEEEmNIEE
subsequently to profit or loss
Foreign currency translation (loss)/income HREARFIIIMNESIRE
on consolidation (&518) /W (57) 59
Other comprehensive (loss)/income FREME2E #BR) W
for the year, net of tax nprRE (57) 59
Total comprehensive loss for the year FREEEEETE (8,842) (9,213)
Basic and diluted loss per share BREANKRIEEEE
(Singapore cents) (RN a) 14 (1.18) (1.55)
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

IS LR IR

As at 31 December 2021 FX2021&F12531H

2021 2020
20214 20204
Notes S$°000 S$'000
Bt 5 FHrh0% T TR0 T

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BERAR

Non-current assets EREEE
Plant and equipment R 5= B 1 15 1,927 2,586
Intangible assets BLEE 16 789 316
Deposits e 21 700 2,341
Fair value through profit or loss instrument BAFEFABRN TR 18 - 91
Right-of-use assets FREEE 19 5,857 5,419
Investment in joint venture SESE AT 20 - -
Finance lease receivables MERERWRIE 17 - 111
Trade and other receivables 85 REMEWERIE 23 - =
9,273 10,864

Current assets RHEE
Inventories 75 22 1,096 849
Trade and other receivables B 5 KREMEWRIE 23 5,766 3,281
Fair value through profit or loss instrument BAFEFABRNTAR 18 616 =
Finance lease receivables B ER WA 17 18 564
Cash and cash equivalents BERIBSEEY 24 2,138 4,932
9,634 9,626
Current liabilities REaE

Trade and other payables B 5 kEMENRIE 25 2,982 2,681
Lease liabilities HEaE 26 2,544 2,776
Borrowings EEN 27 1,309 2,829
Income tax payables EISFTSHR 22 86
6,857 8,372
Net current assets RENEERE 2,777 1,254
Total assets less current liabilities WEERRBAR 12,050 12,118
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

ar o MBIN DR

As at 31 December 2021 F2021&F12H31H

2021 2020
20214 20204
Notes S$°000 S$°000
b= TN T TN T
Non-current liabilities EREAE
Lease liabilities HEAaE 26 3,523 3,307
Trade and other payables B 5 K EMENTUE 25 277 337
Borrowings EEN 27 3,683 2,844
Deferred tax liability FIERIBEE A 28 - 99
7,483 6,587
Net assets BEEE 4,567 5,531
EQUITY s
Capital and reserves B K H#E
Share capital [N 29 1,493 1,037
Share premium 1R imE 30 17,011 9,589
Reserves B 2,147 2,204
Accumulated losses RETEIE (16,084) (7,299
Equity attributable to owners of EATEE AELER
the Company 4,567 5,531

The consolidated financial statements on pages 112 to 207 were HF112FE207TB 26 FRRLESTT N
approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 25 March 202243825 B #t R BT > WL T A+

2022 and are signed on its behalf by: RRESHE
Dr. Loh Teck Hiong Mr. He Weiqging
Loh Teck HiongB& & fAfEERE
Chairman and Executive Director Executive Director
FTERNITEE HITEE

REGGHBHRRTMMEE-

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
o M SR B 7%

For the year ended 31 December 2021 #{Z20214£ 12531 H 1L FZ

Reserves
ks

Foreign Retained

currency Other earnings/

Share Share translation reserve (accumulated
capital premium reserve (Note) losses) Total

SMEmE Hihigs  REEA/

A i fE 1] )  (RHEH) At
S$'000 S$'000 S$'000 S$'000 S$000 $$'000
THMET  FEHEx  FENET O TR TENExT FROER
At 1 January 2020 20201816 1,037 9,589 (20) 2,165 1,973 14,744
Loss for the year FRERE - - - - 9,272) 9,272)
Other comprehensive income for the year ~ ERE M EE - - 59 - = 59
Total comprehensive loss for the year FREEEBBEE - - 59 - 9,272) (9,213)
At 31 December 2020 and 20205128318 &

1 January 2021 2021E1H1H 1,037 9,589 39 2,165 (7,299 5,531
Loss for the year EREE - - - - (8,785) (8,785)
Other comprehensive loss for the year EREMEEESRE = = (57) = = (57)
Total comprehensive loss for the year ERZEFBER - - (57) = (8,785) (8,842)
Issuing of shares by placing BREERTRG 456 7,542 - - - 7,998
Transaction costs attributable to issue of ~— BBEEHTRHH

shares by placing RIS . (120) S . - (120)
At 31 December 2021 #2021%F12A318 1,493 17,011 (18) 2,165 (16,084) 4,567

Note: Other reserve represents the proceeds from issue of shares of Unified Front

Limited to a pre-IPO investor and the difference between the share capital of
the Company issued pursuant to the reorganisation and the share capital of
Unified Front Limited acquired by the Company.

izt

HfhE##H5Unified Front Limitedf@ 1531778

RARBERKRESNAENIE LR MBE
BAEMBITHERR B KA ZAA T W EEUNified
Front Limitedf& 2< 2 B B Z= 28 ©

20214F %

T o TR A R AT
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
SO BB TR

For the year ended 31 December 2021 #;Z22021F 12531 HIEFZE

2021 2020
202145 20204
S$’000 S$'000
TN T TR0 T
Operating activities mEEE
Loss before tax PrIRAT RS 18 (8,871) (9,197)
Adjustments for: G
Share of loss of joint venture BihEE A TR - 1,093
Finance costs MR 340 261
Depreciation of plant and equipment BB R s BT EE 810 491
Amortisation of intangible assets mTEEEE 169 =
Depreciation of right-of-use assets EREEEINE 2,777 2,207
Interest income B U A (46) (42)
Impairment loss on finance lease receivables R E T E R IE R E RS 1R - 541
Impairment loss on investment in joint venture KRESERBHERBE - 1,558
Impairment loss on trade and other receivables, BSREMERRIERERSE
net of reversal NpxEE 690 2,761
Impairment loss on plant and equipment BB K& E R EEE 887 =
Written off of plant and equipment R 55 e 5% 15 1 3 5
Gain on disposal of plant and equipment (Note A) HEME KB ENWE (H:7A) - (9)
Gain on disposal of right-of-use assets HEFREESEN KT (82) (1,061)
Gain on termination of sublease arrangement HBIEDEZEN KGR (311) =
Unrealised gain on fair value through profit or BATEFAEZNTA
loss instruments, net BRI F B (15) -
Operating cash flows before working EEETEEINKCERERE
capital changes (3,649) (1,392)
Movements in working capital: EEETEE .
Increase in inventories FEIEm (246) (588)
Increase in trade and other receivables and B 5 REMEWRIE
deposits (Note A) DR saianm #aA) (2,113) (4,742)
Increase in trade and other payables 8 5 K B fh FE (T = IE L 0 558 2,362
Increase in fair value through profit or BATES AR@TARN
loss instruments (601) -
Cash used in operations KEFTENIRE (6,051) (4,360)
Income tax paid BEIFREHR (77) (155)
Cash used in operating activities REEEFARE (6,128) (4,515)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

o Bl R

For the year ended 31 December 2021 #2021 12531H IFFZ

2021 2020
20214 20204
S$°000 S$'000
T T TN TT
Investing activities BREEH
Purchase of plant and equipment BEWE RS (566) (1,810)
Acquisition of intangible assets WiEETEE (636) (316)
Repayment from/(advances to) joint venture BERNBERS
(MEE AT 124 (1,994)
Redemption/(investment) in convertible loan BE[o]/ (&) AJMERE™R 30 91)
Repayments of finance lease receivables RMERERGRIBER 542 173
Investment in joint venture KRESGE QT - (2,651)
Cash used in investing activities RETHFRERS (506) (6,689)
Financing activities BLEES
Interest paid BEAF S (340) (261)
Proceeds from borrowings ERNZIRCE O - 6,000
Repayment of borrowings BERR (681) (327)
Repayment of lease liabilities BERESHE (3,040) (1,939)
Proceeds from issue of shares upon placing REERETRDIERIE 7,998 =
Payment of transaction costs attributable to FTBE B S ETRIDH
issue of shares by placing B3 5 Al AR (120) =
Cash generated from financing activities MEEEMRERE 3,817 3,473
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents RERIREEBYR L FE (2,817) (7,731)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year E£#JIR & RIS EEY) 4,932 12,651
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes EXEHNWTE 23 12
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year FXRREREEZEY 2,138 4,932

Note A: During the year, sales proceeds of Nil (2020: S$120,000) from a disposal of ~ HfzFA: F£R KB HERE KR BENHEFRERIES
plant and equipment was outstanding and included in amount owing from (20204 : 120,000 N3 7T) 14 KUK EN E 5t
joint venture. ABEABRIRIE
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GENERAL

RMH Holdings Limited (the “Company”) was incorporated in the
Cayman lIslands as an exempted company and registered in the
Cayman Islands with limited liability under the Companies Law,
Cap. 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as combined and revised) of the Cayman
Islands on 22 March 2017. Its registered office is at Cricket Square,
Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman, KY1-1111,
Cayman Islands. The Company was registered with the Registrar
of Companies in Hong Kong as a non-Hong Kong Company under
Part 16 of the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of
Hong Kong) (the “Companies Ordinance”) on 25 May 2017 and
the principal place of business of the Company in Hong Kong is
at Unit 912, 9/F, Two Harbourfront, 22 Tak Fung Street, Hunghom,
Kowloon, Hong Kong. The head office and principal place of
business of the Company in Singapore is at #17-01/02 Paragon
(Office Tower), 290 Orchard Road, Singapore 238859. The shares
of the Company (the “Shares”) have been listed on GEM of the
Stock Exchange with effect from 13 October 2017 (the “Listing”) by
way of share offer (the “Share Offer”).

The Company is an investment holding company and the principal
activities of the subsidiaries are disclosed in Note 33.

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended

31 December 2021 were authorised on 25 March 2022 for issue by
the board of directors of the Company (the “Board”).
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with the applicable International Financial Reporting
Standards (“IFRSs”) issued by the International Accounting
Standards Board (the “IASB”). In addition, the consolidated financial
statements include applicable disclosures required by the GEM
Listing Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock
Exchange (the’Listing Rules”) and by the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Singapore
Dollars (“S$”) which is the same as the functional currency of the
Company and all values are rounded to the nearest thousands,
unless otherwise stated.

ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED
STANDARDS

New and amended IFRS Standards that are
effective for the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied, for the first time,
the following amendments to International Financial Reporting
Standards (“IFRSs”) issued by the International Accounting
Standard Board (the “IASB”) which are effective for the Group’s
financial year beginning 1 January 2021:

Amendments to IFRS 9 , IAS 39,
IFRS 7, IFRS 4 and IFRS 16

Interest Rate Benchmark Reform — Phase 2

In addition, the Group has early applied Amendment to IFRS 16,
COVID-19-Related Rent Concessions, beyond 30 June 2021.

The adoption of these new and revised IFRSs does not result in
changes to the Group’s accounting policies and has no material
effect on the amounts reported for the current or prior years.
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ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED
STANDARDS (Continued)

New and revised IFRS Standards in issue but
not yet effective

At the date of authorisation of these financial statements, the Group
has not applied the following new and revised IFRSs that have been
issued but are not yet effective:

IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts and related
Amendments’
Amendments to IFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual
Framework’
Amendments to IFRS 10 and Sale or Contribution of Assets between an
IAS 28 Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture®

Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-
current
Disclosure of Accounting Policies?

Amendments to IAS 1

Amendments to IAS 1 and IFRS
Practice Statement 2

Amendments to IAS 8 Definition of Accounting Estimates®

Amendments to IAS 12 Deferred Tax to Assets and Liabilities arising
from a Single Transactior?

Amendments to IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment: Proceeds

before Intended Use’

Amendments to IAS 37 Onerous Contracts — Cost of Fulfiling a
Contract’

Amendments to IFRSs Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2018-2020
cycle’

i Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022.

: Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023.
e Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be
determined.

Except as described below, the directors of the Company anticipate
that the application of other new and amendments to IFRSs will
have no material impact on the results and the financial position of
the Group.
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ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED
STANDARDS (Continued)

Amendments to IAS12 - Deferred Tax related to Assets
and Liabilities arising from a Single Transaction

The amendments narrow the scope of the recognition exemption
of deferred tax liabilities and deferred tax assets in paragraphs 15
and 24 of IAS12 so that it no longer applies to transactions that,
on initial recognition, give rise to equal taxable and deductible
temporary differences.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are
attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group currently applies
IAS12 requirements to the relevant assets and liabilities as a whole.
Temporary differences relating to relevant assets and liabilities are
assessed on a net basis.

Upon the application of the amendments, the Group will recognise
a deferred tax asset (to the extent that it is probable that taxable
profit will be available against which the deductible temporary
difference can be utilised) and a deferred tax liability for all
deductible and taxable temporary differences associated with the
right-of-use assets and the lease liabilities.

The amendments are effective for annual reporting periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2023, with early application
permitted.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the
historical cost basis except for certain financial instruments that are
measures at fair value at the end of each reporting period.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or
paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether that
price is directly observable or estimated using another valuation
technique. In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability,
the Group takes into account the characteristics of the asset or
liability if market participants would take those characteristics into
account when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date.
Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these
consolidated financial statements is determined on such a basis,
except for share-based payment transactions that are within the
scope of IFRS 2, leasing transactions that are within the scope of
IFRS 16, and measurements that have some similarities to fair value
but are not fair value, such as net realisable value in IAS 2 or value
in use in 1AS 36.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value adjustments
are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on the degree to which
the inputs to the fair value adjustments are observable and the
significance of the inputs to the fair value measurement in its
entirety which are described as follows:

° Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can
access at the measurement date;

o Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included
within Level 1, that are observable for the asset or liability,

either directly or indirectly; and

° Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or
liability.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

The principal accounting policies adopted are set out below.

Going concern

The directors have, at the time of approving the financial
statements, a reasonable expectation that the Group have
adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the
foreseeable future. Thus, they continue to adopt the going concern
basis of accounting in preparing the financial statements.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities (including structured
entities) controlled by the Company and its subsidiaries. Control is
achieved when the Company:

° has power over the investee;

° is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

° has the ability to use its power over the investee to affect its
returns.

When the Company has less than a majority of the voting rights of
an investee, it considers that it has power over the investee when
the voting rights are sufficient to give it the practical ability to direct
the relevant activities of the investee unilaterally. The Company
considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether
or not the Company’s voting rights in an investee are sufficient to
give it power, including:

° the size of the Company’s holding of voting rights relative to
the size and dispersion of holdings of the other vote holders;
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

° potential voting rights held by the Company, other vote
holders or other parties;

° rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

° any additional facts and circumstances that indicate that the
Company has, or does not have, the current ability to direct
the relevant activities at the time that decisions need to be
made, including voting patterns at previous shareholders’
meetings.

The Company reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if
facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or
more of the three elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Company obtains
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Company loses
control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses
of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are
included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income from the date the Company gains control
until the date when the Company ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income
are attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-
controlling interests.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements
of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies in line with the
Group’s accounting policies.

All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and

cash flows relating to transactions between members of the Group
are eliminated in full on consolidation.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Investments in joint venture

A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that have
joint control of the arrangement have rights to the net assets of the
joint arrangement. Joint control is the contractually agreed sharing
of control of an arrangement, which exists only when decisions
about the relevant activities require unanimous consent of the
parties sharing control.

The results and assets and liabilities of joint ventures are
incorporated in these financial statements using the equity method
of accounting, except when the investment is classified as held for
sale, in which case it is accounted for in accordance with IFRS 5.

Under the equity method, an investment in a joint venture is
recognised initially in the consolidated statement of financial
position at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group’s
share of the profit or loss and other comprehensive income of the
joint venture. When the Group’s share of losses of a joint venture
exceeds the Group’s interest in that joint venture (which includes
any long-term interests that, in substance, form part of the Group’s
net investment in the joint venture), the Group discontinues
recognising its share of further losses. Additional losses are
recognised only to the extent that the Group has incurred legal or
constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of the joint
venture.

An investment in a joint venture is accounted for in the consolidated
financial statements using the equity method from the date on
which the investee becomes a joint venture. On acquisition of
the investment in a joint venture, any excess of the cost of the
investment over the Group’s share of the net fair value of the
identifiable assets and liabilities of the investee is recognised as
goodwill, which is included within the carrying amount of the
investment. Any excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value of
the identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of the investment,
after reassessment, is recognised immediately in profit or loss in the
period in which the investment is acquired.

The requirements of IAS 36 are applied to determine whether it
is necessary to recognise any impairment loss with respect to
the Group’s investment in a joint venture. When necessary, the
entire carrying amount of the investment (including goodwill) is
tested for impairment in accordance with IAS 36 as a single asset
by comparing its recoverable amount (higher of value in use and
fair value less costs of disposal) with its carrying amount. Any
impairment loss recognised is not allocated to any asset, including
goodwill that forms part of the carrying amount of the investment.
Any reversal of that impairment loss is recognised in accordance
with 1AS 36 to the extent that the recoverable amount of the
investment subsequently increases.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Investments in joint venture (Continued)

The Group discontinues the use of the equity method from the
date when the investment ceases to be a joint venture. When the
Group retains an interest in the former joint venture and the retained
interest is a financial asset, the Group measures the retained
interest at fair value at that date and the fair value is regarded as
its fair value on initial recognition in accordance with IFRS 9. The
difference between the carrying amount of the joint venture at
the date the equity method was discontinued, and the fair value
of any retained interest and any proceeds from disposing of a
part interest in the joint venture is included in the determination of
the gain or loss on disposal of the joint venture. In addition, the
Group accounts for all amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income in relation to that joint venture on the
same basis as would be required if that joint venture had directly
disposed of the related assets or liabilities. Therefore, if a gain or
loss previously recognised in other comprehensive income by that
joint venture would be reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of
the related assets or liabilities, the Group reclassifies the gain or loss
from equity to profit or loss (as a reclassification adjustment) when
the joint venture is disposed of.

When the Group reduces its ownership interest in a joint venture
but the Group continues to use the equity method, the Group
reclassifies to profit or loss the proportion of the gain or loss that
had previously been recognised in other comprehensive income
relating to that reduction in ownership interest if that gain or loss
would be reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of the related
assets or liabilities.

When a Group entity transacts with a joint venture of the Group,
profits and losses resulting from the transactions with the joint
venture are recognised in the Group’s consolidated financial
statements only to the extent of interests in the joint venture that are
not related to the Group.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the Group’s
statement of financial position when the Group becomes a party to
the contractual provisions of the instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at
fair value except for trade receivables arising from contracts with
customers which are initially measured in accordance with IFRS 15.
Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or
issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other than financial
assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss) are
added to or deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or
financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction
costs directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

Financial assets

All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are recognised
and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular way purchases
or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require
delivery of assets within the time frame established by regulation or
convention in the market place.

All recognised financial assets are measured subsequently in their
entirety at either amortised cost or fair value, depending on the
classification of the financial assets.

Classification of financial assets

Debt instruments that meet both of the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

° the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is to hold financial assets in order to collect
contractual cash flows; and

° the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on
specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Classification of financial assets (Continued)

Debt instruments that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at fair value through other comprehensive
income (“FVTOCI”):

° the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is achieved by both collecting contractual cash
flows and selling the financial assets; and

° the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on
specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

By default, all other financial assets are subsequently measured at
fair value through profit or loss (“‘FVTPL™).

Despite the aforegoing, the Group may make the following
irrevocable election/designation at initial recognition of a financial
asset:

o the Group may irrevocably elect to present subsequent
changes in fair value of an equity investment in other
comprehensive income if certain criteria are met; and

° the Group may irrevocably designate a debt investment that
meets the amortised cost or FVTOCI criteria as measured
at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces an
accounting mismatch.

All recognised financial assets that are within the scope of IFRS
9 (including trade and other receivables and cash and cash
equivalents) are subsequently measured at amortised costs.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Amortised cost and effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a debt instrument and of allocating interest
income over the relevant period.

For financial instruments other than purchased or originated credit-
impaired financial assets, the effective interest rate is the rate that
exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts (including all fees
and points paid or received that form an integral part of the effective
interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts)
excluding expected credit losses, through the expected life of the
debt instrument, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the
gross carrying amount of the debt instrument on initial recognition.
For purchased or originated credit-impaired financial assets, a
credit-adjusted effective interest rate is calculated by discounting
the estimated future cash flows, including expected credit losses, to
the amortised cost of the debt instrument on initial recognition.

The amortised cost of a financial asset is the amount at which
the financial asset is measured at initial recognition minus the
principal repayments, plus the cumulative amortisation using the
effective interest method of any difference between that initial
amount and the maturity amount, adjusted for any loss allowance.
On the other hand, the gross carrying amount of a financial asset
is the amortised cost of a financial asset before adjusting for any
allowance.

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method
for debt instruments measured subsequently at amortised cost
and at FVTOCI. For financial instruments other than purchased
or originated credit-impaired financial assets, interest income
is calculated by applying the effective interest rate to the gross
carrying amount of a financial asset, except for financial assets that
have subsequently become credit-impaired. For financial assets
that have subsequently become credit-impaired, interest income is
recognised by applying the effective interest rate to the amortised
cost of the financial asset. If, in subsequent reporting periods, the
credit risk on the credit-impaired financial instrument improves so
that the financial asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest income
is recognised by applying the effective interest rate to the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset.

Interest income is recognised in profit or loss and is included in the
“Other operating income” line item.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being measured at
amortised cost or FVTOCI are measured at FVTPL.

Specifically:

Investments in equity instruments are classified as at FVTPL,
unless the Group designates an equity investment that
is neither held for trading nor a contingent consideration
arising from a business combination as at FVTOCI on initial
recognition.

Debt instruments that do not meet the amortised cost criteria
or the FVTOCI criteria are classified as at FVTPL. In addition,
debt instruments that meet either the amortised cost criteria
or the FVTOCI criteria may be designated as at FVTPL upon
initial recognition if such designation eliminates or significantly
reduces a measurement or recognition inconsistency that
would arise from measuring assets or liabilities or recognising
the gains and losses on them on different bases. The Group
has not designated any debt instruments as at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value as at each
reporting date, with any fair value gains or losses recognised in
profit or loss to the extent they are not part of a designated hedging

relationship. The net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss

includes any dividend or interest earned on the financial asset and
is included in the “Other operating expenses” line item.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises a loss allowance for expected credit losses
(‘ECLs”) on financial assets which are subject to impairment
under IFRS 9 (including trade and other receivables, finance
lease receivables and cash and cash equivalents). The amount of
expected credit losses is updated at each reporting date to reflect
changes in credit risk since initial recognition of the respective
financial instrument.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivables
and lease receivables. The expected credit losses on these
financial assets are estimated using a provision matrix based on
the Group’s historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors
that are specific to the debtors, general economic conditions and
an assessment of both the current as well as the forecast direction
of conditions at the reporting date, including time value of money
where appropriate.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

For all other financial instruments, the Group recognises lifetime
ECL when there has been a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition. If, on the other hand, the credit risk on
the financial instrument has not increased significantly since initial
recognition, the Group measures the loss allowance for that
financial instrument at an amount equal to 12-months ECL. The
assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised is based
on significant increases in the likelihood or risk of a default occurring
since initial recognition instead of on evidence of a financial asset
being credit-impaired at the reporting date or an actual default
occurring.

Lifetime ECL represents the expected credit losses that will result
from all possible default events over the expected life of a financial
instrument. In contrast, 12-months ECL represents the portion
of lifetime ECL that is expected to result from default events on a
financial instrument that are possible within 12 months after the
reporting date.

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial instrument has
increased significantly since initial recognition, the Group compares
the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the
reporting date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of initial recognition. In making this
assessment, the Group considers both quantitative and qualitative
information that is reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information that is available without
undue cost or effort. Forward-looking information considered
includes the future prospects of the industries in which the Group’s
debtors operate, obtained from economic expert reports, financial
analysts, governmental bodies, relevant think-tanks and other
similar organisations, as well as consideration of various external
sources of actual and forecast economic information that relate to
the Group’s core operations.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

In particular, the following information is taken into account when
assessing whether credit risk has increased significantly since initial
recognition:

° existing or forecast adverse changes in business, financial or
economic conditions that are expected to cause a significant
decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations;

° an actual or expected significant deterioration in the operating
performance or results of the debtor; and

° an actual or expected significant adverse change in the
regulatory or economic environment of the debtor that results
in a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to mest its
debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the Group
presumes that the credit risk on a financial asset has increased
significantly since initial recognition when contractual payments
are generally more than 30 days past due, unless the Group
has reasonable and supportable information that demonstrates
otherwise.

Despite the foregoing, the Group assumes that the credit risk on
a financial instrument has not increased significantly since initial
recognition if the financial instrument is determined to have low
credit risk at the reporting date. A financial instrument is determined
to have low credit risk if i) the financial instrument has a low
risk of default, ii) the borrower has a strong capacity to meet its
contractual cash flow obligations in the near term and ii) adverse
changes in economic and business conditions in the longer term
may, but will not necessarily, reduce the ability of the borrower to
fulfil its contractual cash flow obligations.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria used
to identify whether there has been a significant increase in credit
risk and revises them as appropriate to ensure that the criteria are
capable of identifying significant increase in credit risk before the
amount becomes past due.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Definition of default

The Group considers the following as constituting an event of
default for internal credit risk management purposes as historical
experience indicates that receivables that meet either of the
following criteria are generally not recoverable.

° information developed internally or obtained from external
sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely to pay its
creditors, including the Group, in full (without taking into
account any collaterals held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above analysis, the Group considers that default
has occurred when a financial asset is more than 90 days past
due based on factors considered such as past payment history,
ongoing business dealings, settlement arrangements and financial
status of the debtor, being reasonable and supportable information
to demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion is more
appropriate.

In considering the 90 days past due deemed defaulted
presumption, it is not expected to be significantly consequential
on the amount of expected credit losses measured because of the
counterbalancing interaction between the way the Group defines
default and the credit losses that arise as a result of that definition
of default. Differences in default definition for the Group is not
as pertinent because the Group does not have to determine the
significant increase in credit risk indicators given that the Group has
simplified approach to impairment model.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events that
have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of
that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset
is credit-impaired includes observable data about the following
events:

a) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the borrower; or

b) a breach of contract, such as a default or past due event; or

C) the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or contractual
reasons relating to the borrower’s financial difficulty, having
granted to the borrower a concession(s) that the lender(s)
would not otherwise consider; or

d) it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or

e) the disappearance of an active market for that financial asset
because of financial difficulties.

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is information
indicating that the counterparty is in severe financial difficulty and
there is no realistic prospect of recovery, e.g. when the counterparty
has been placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy
proceedings and there is no realistic prospect of recovery. Financial
assets written off may still be subject to enforcement activities
under the Group’s recovery procedures, taking into account legal
advice where appropriate. Any recoveries made are recognised in
profit or loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Measurement and recognition of expected credit losses

The measurement of expected credit losses is a function of the
probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of
the loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default. The
assessment of the probability of default and loss given default is
based on historical data adjusted by forward-looking information as
described above. As for the exposure at default, for financial assets,
this is represented by the assets’ gross carrying amount at the
reporting date.

For financial assets, the expected credit loss is estimated as the
difference between all contractual cash flows that are due to the
Group in accordance with the contract or invoice and all the cash
flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted at the original
effective interest rate. For a lease receivable, the cash flows used
for determining the expected credit losses is consistent with the
cash flows used in measuring the lease receivable in accordance
with IFRS 16 Leases.

Where lifetime ECL is measured on a collective basis to cater for
cases where evidence of significant increases in credit risk at the
individual instrument level may not yet be available, the financial
instruments are grouped on the following basis:

° Nature of financial instruments (i.e. the Group’s trade and
other receivables are each assessed as a separate group or
individual basis.);

° Past-due status;

° Nature or industry of debtors; and

° External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is reviewed periodically by management to ensure

the constituents of each group continue to share similar credit risk
characteristics.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Measurement and recognition of expected credit losses
(Continued)

If the Group has measured the loss allowance for a financial
instrument at an amount equal to lifetime ECL in the previous
reporting period, but determines at the current reporting date
that the conditions for lifetime ECL are no longer met, the Group
measures the loss allowance at an amount equal to 12-months
ECL at the current reporting date.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit or loss
for all financial instruments with a corresponding adjustment to
their carrying amount through a loss allowance account, except
for investments in debt instruments that are measured at FVTOCI,
for which the loss allowance is recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in the investment revaluation reserve, and
does not reduce the carrying amount of the financial asset in the
statement of financial position.

Derecognition

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual
rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or when it transfers
the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership of the asset to another entity. If the Group neither
transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership and continues to control the transferred asset, the Group
recognises its retained interest in the asset and an associated
liability for amounts it may have to pay. If the Group retains
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of a transferred
financial asset, the Group continues to recognise the financial asset
and also recognises a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds
received.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised cost,
the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum
of the consideration received and receivable is recognised in profit
or loss. In addition, on derecognition of an investment in a debt
instrument classified as at FVTOCI, the cumulative gain or loss
previously accumulated in the investments revaluation reserve is
reclassified to profit or loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments issued by a group entity are classified
as either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with the
substance of the contractual arrangements and the definitions of a
financial liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its liabilities.
Equity instruments issued by a group entity are recognised at the
proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities including trade and other payables are
subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective
interest method.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating interest
expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is
the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments
(including all fees paid or received that form an integral part of
the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums
or discounts) through the expected life of the financial liability, or,
where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount on
initial recognition.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when,
the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or they expire.
The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability
derecognised and the consideration paid and payable is recognised
in profit or loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Plant and equipment

Plant and equipment are measured at cost less accumulated
depreciation and accumulated impairment losses.

Cost includes expenditures that are directly attributable to the
acquisition of the asset and the estimated cost of asset retirement.
The cost of replacing part of an item of plant and equipment is
recognised in the carrying amount of the item if it is probable that
the future economic benefits embodies within the part will flow to
the Group and its cost can be measured reliably. The costs of the
day-to-day servicing of plant and equipment are recognised in the
profit or loss as incurred.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of items of
plant and equipment, less their residual values over their estimated
useful lives, using the straight line method. The estimated useful
lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at the
end of each reporting period, with the effect of any changes in
estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

An item of plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or
when no future economic benefits are expected to arise from the
continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on the disposal
or retirement of an item of plant and equipment is determined as
the difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount
of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
Cost comprises direct materials and, where applicable, direct
labour costs and those overheads that have been incurred in
bringing the inventories to their present location and condition. Cost
of inventories are determined on a weighted average basis. Net
realisable value represents the estimated selling price for inventories
in the ordinary course of business less all estimated costs of
completion and costs necessary to make the sale.

Intangible assets

Intangible assets carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and
less any impairment loss. Cost includes professional fees and other
directly attributable costs of developing the software for its intended
use. Intangible assets with finite useful lives are amortised on a
straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives. The estimated
useful life and amortisation method are reviewed at the end of each
reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimate being
accounted for on a prospective basis.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Impairment of plant and equipment, right-of-
use assets and intangible assets excluding
goodwill

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its plant and equipment, right-of-use assets
and intangible assets to determine whether there is any indication
that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such
indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated
in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any).
When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of
an individual asset, the Group estimates the recoverable amount
of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. When a
reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be identified,
corporate assets are also allocated to individual cash-generating
units, or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group of cash-
generating units for which a reasonable and consistent allocation
basis can be identified.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal
and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future
cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time
value of money and the risks specific to the asset for which the
estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash-generating unit) is
estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount
of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable
amount. An impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or
loss.

For corporate assets or portion of corporate assets which cannot
be allocated on a reasonable and consistent basis to a CGU,
the Group compares the carrying amount of a group of CGUs,
including the carrying amounts of the corporate assets or portion
of corporate assets allocated to that group of CGUs, with the
recoverable amount of the group of CGUs. In allocating the
impairment loss, the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the
carrying amount of any goodwill (if applicable) and then to the other
assets on a pro-rata basis based on the carrying amount of each
asset in the unit or the group of CGUs. The carrying amount of an
asset is not reduced below the highest of its fair value less costs of
disposal (if measurable), its value in use (if determinable) and zero.
The amount of the impairment loss that would otherwise have been
allocated to the asset is allocated pro rata to the other assets of
the unit or the group of CGUs. An impairment loss is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Impairment of plant and equipment, right-of-
use assets and intangible assets excluding
goodwill (Continued)

When an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is increased to
the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the
increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount
that would have been determined had no impairment loss been
recognised for the asset (or cash-generating unit) in prior years. A
reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or
loss.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation
(legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it is probable that
the Group will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable
estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the
consideration required to settle the present obligation at the end of
the reporting period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties
surrounding the obligation. When a provision is measured using the
cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying
amount is the present value of those cash flows (when the effect of
the time value of money is material).

When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle
a provision are expected to be recovered from a third party, a
receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain that
reimbursement will be received and the amount of the receivable
can be measured reliably.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Leases
The Group as lessee

The Group assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease,
at inception of the contract. The Group recognises a right-of-use
asset and a corresponding lease liability with respect to all lease
arrangements in which it is the lessee, except for short-term leases
(defined as leases with a lease term of 12 months or less and do
not contain a purchase option) and leases of low value assets (such
as tablets and personal computers, small items of office furniture
and telephones). For these leases, the Group recognises the lease
payments as an operating expense on a straight-line basis over
the term of the lease unless another systematic basis is more
representative of the time pattern in which economic benefits from
the leased assets are consumed.

Lease Liabilities

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the
lease payments that are not paid at the commencement date,
discounted by using the rate implicit in the lease. If this rate cannot
be readily determined, the lessee uses its incremental borrowing
rate.

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability
comprise:

° Fixed lease payments (including in-substance fixed
payments), less any lease incentives receivable;

o The amount expected to be payable by the lessee under
residual value guarantees; and

° Payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease
term reflects the exercise of an option to terminate the lease.

The lease liability is presented as a separate line in the consolidated
statement of financial position.

The lease liability is subsequently measured by increasing the
carrying amount to reflect interest on the lease liability (using the
effective interest method) and by reducing the carrying amount to
reflect the lease payments made.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Leases (Continued)
The Group as lessee (Continued)

The Group remeasures the lease liability (and makes a
corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use asset)
whenever:

° The lease term has changed or there is a significant event
or change in circumstances resulting in a change in the
assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in which case
the lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised
lease payments using a revised discount rate.

° The lease payments change due to changes in an index or
rate or a change in expected payment under a guaranteed
residual value, in which cases the lease liability is remeasured
by discounting the revised lease payments using an initial
discount rate (unless the lease payments change is due to
a change in a floating interest rate, in which case a revised
discount rate is used).

° A lease contract is modified and the lease modification is not
accounted for as a separate lease, in which case the lease
liability is remeasured based on the lease term of the modified
lease by discounting the revised lease payments using a
revised discount rate at the effective date of the modification.

The Group did not make any such adjustments during the periods
presented.

Right-of-use assets

The right-of-use assets comprise the initial measurement of the
corresponding lease liability, lease payments made at or before the
commencement day, less any lease incentives received and any
initial direct costs. They are subsequently measured at cost less
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Leases (Continued)
The Group as lessee (Continued)

Whenever the Group incurs an obligation for costs to dismantle
and remove a leased asset, restore the site on which it is located or
restore the underlying asset to the condition required by the terms
and conditions of the lease, a provision is recognised and measured
under IAS 37. To the extent that the costs relate to a right-of-
use asset, the costs are included in the related right-of-use asset,
unless those costs are incurred to produce inventories.

Right-of-use assets are depreciated over the shorter period of lease
term and useful life of the underlying asset. The depreciation starts
at the commencement date of the lease.

The right-of-use assets are presented as a separate line in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

The Group applies IAS 36 to determine whether a right-of-use
asset is impaired and accounts for any identified impairment loss as
described in the ‘Impairment of plant and equipment, right-of-use
assets and intangible assets excluding goodwill’ policy.

As a practical expedient, IFRS 16 permits a lessee not to separate
non-lease components, and instead account for any lease and
associated non-lease components as a single arrangement. The
Group has not used this practical expedient. For a contracts that
contain a lease component and one or more additional lease or
non-lease components, the Group allocates the consideration in
the contract to each lease component on the basis of the relative
stand-alone price of the lease component and the aggregate stand-
alone price of the non-lease components.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Leases (Continued)
The Group as lessor

Leases for which the Group is a lessor are classified as finance
or operating leases. Whenever the terms of the lease transfer
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership to the lessee,
the contract is classified as a finance lease. All other leases are
classified as operating leases.

When the Group is an intermediate lessor, it accounts for the head
lease and the sub-lease as two separate contracts. The sub-lease
is classified as a finance or operating lease by reference to the right-
of-use asset arising from the head lease.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised on a straight-line
basis over the term of the relevant lease. Initial direct costs incurred
in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are added to the
carrying amount of the leased asset and recognised on a straight-
line basis over the lease term.

Amounts due from lessees under finance leases are recognised
as receivables at the amount of the Group’s net investment in the
leases. Finance lease income is allocated to accounting periods so
as to reflect a constant periodic rate of return on the Group’s net
investment outstanding in respect of the leases.

Subsequent to initial recognition, the Group regularly reviews the
estimated unguaranteed residual value and applies the impairment
requirements of IFRS 9, recognising an allowance for expected
credit losses on the lease receivables.

Finance lease income is calculated with reference to the gross
carrying amount of the lease receivables, except for credit-impaired
financial assets for which interest income is calculated with
reference to their amortised cost (i.e. after a deduction of the loss
allowance).

When a contract includes both lease and non-lease components,
the Group applies IFRS 15 to allocate the consideration under the
contract to each component.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Foreign currency transactions and translation

The individual financial statements of each Group entity are
measured and presented in the currency of the primary economic
environment in which the entity operates (its functional currency).
The consolidated financial statements of the Group are presented in
Singapore Dollars, which is the functional currency of the Company
and the presentation currency for the consolidated financial
statements.

In preparing the financial statements of the individual group entities,
transactions in currencies other than the entity’s functional currency
(foreign currencies) are recognised at the rates of exchange
prevailing at the dates of the transactions. At the end of each
reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies
are retranslated at the rates prevailing that date. Non-monetary
items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign
currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items,
and on retranslation of monetary items are included in profit or loss
for the period in which they arise. Exchange differences arising on
the retranslation of non-monetary items carried at fair value are
included in profit or loss for the period except for differences arising
on the retranslation of non-monetary items in respect of which gains
and losses are recognised in other comprehensive income. For
such non-monetary items, any exchange component of that gain or
loss is also recognised in other comprehensive income.

For the purpose of presenting consolidated financial statements,
the assets and liabilities of the group’s foreign operations are
translated into the presentation currency of the Group at exchange
rates prevailing on the reporting date. Income and expense items
are translated at the average exchange rates for the period, unless
exchange rates fluctuate significantly during that period, in which
case the exchange rates at the dates of the transactions are
used. Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in a foreign currency
translation reserve (attributed to non-controlling interests as
appropriate).
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Borrowings costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction
or production of qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily
take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use
or sale, are added to the cost of those assets, until such time as the
assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured based on the consideration to which the
Group expects to be entitled in a contract with a customer and
excludes amounts collected on behalf of third parties. The Group
recognises revenue when it transfers control of a promised goods
or service to a customer.

The Group recognises revenue from the following major sources:

Revenue from provision of consultation services (“Consultation
Services”) relate to contracts with patients in which our
performance obligations are to provide consultation to the patients.
Performance obligations for consultation services are generally
satisfied over a period of less than one day.

Revenue from dispensing of medical skincare products
(“Prescription and Dispensing Services”) is recognised at point in
time when the patient has obtained the control of the medication
and skincare products when the dispensing is made and the
patient has substantially obtained all the remaining benefits of these
products.

Revenue from provision of medical skincare treatments of surgical
and non-invasive/minimally invasive in nature (“Treatment Services”)
generally relate to contracts with patients in which our performance
obligations are to provide the required treatment services to the
patients. Performance obligations for treatment services are
generally satisfied over a period of less than one day.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Revenue from provision of non-surgical/non-invasive medical
skincare treatments (“Aesthetic Services”) generally relate to
contracts with patients in which our performance obligations are
to provide the required services to the patients. Considerations are
generally received upfront and recognised as deferred revenue.

Revenue from the sale of medication and skincare products is
recognised at the point in time when the patient has obtained the
control of the medication and skincare products.

Revenue from the sales of healthcare products (“Sales of
Healthcare Products”) is recognised at the point in time when the
control of the goods has transferred, being at the point the goods
are delivered to the customer. Delivery occurs when the goods have
been shipped to the customer’s specific location.

Revenue from other services (“Other Services”) generally relate
to laboratory test carried out as part of treatment procedures.
Performance obligation for such services are generally satisfied at
point in time when the relevant test has been completed.

Contract assets and contract liabilities

A contract asset represents the Group’s right to consideration in
exchange for goods or services that the Group has transferred to a
customer that is not yet unconditional. It is assessed for impairment
in accordance with IFRS 9. In contrast, a receivable represents the
Group’s unconditional right to consideration, i.e. only the passage
of time is required before payment of that consideration is due.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to transfer
goods or services to a customer for which the Group has received
consideration from the customer.

For a single contract with the customer, either a net contract
asset or a net contract liability is presented. For multiple contracts,
contract assets and contract liabilities of unrelated contracts are not
presented on a net basis.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Government grants

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on a systematic
basis over the periods in which the Group recognises as expenses
the related costs for which the grants are intended to compensate.
Specifically, government grants whose primary condition is that the
Group should purchase, construct or otherwise acquire non-current
assets are recognised as deferred income in the consolidated
statements of financial position and transferred to profit or loss on
a systematic and rational basis over the useful lives of the related
assets.

Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions attaching
to them and that the grants will be received.

Government grants that are receivable as compensation for
expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose of giving
immediate financial support to the Group with no future related
costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they
become receivable.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable
and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit/(loss) differs from ‘profit/(loss) before tax’ as
reported in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income because of items of income or expense that
are taxable or deductible in other years and items that are never
taxable or deductible. The Group’s current tax liability is calculated
using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted in
countries where the Company and subsidiaries operate by the end
of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated
financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the
computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets
are generally recognised for all deductible temporary differences
to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available
against which those deductible temporary differences can be
utilised. Such deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised
if the temporary difference arises from the initial recognition (other
than in a business combination) of assets and liabilities in a
transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting
profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised on taxable temporary
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries, except where the
Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary difference
and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in
the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible
temporary differences associated with such investments and
interests are only recognised to the extent that it is probable that
there will be sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise the
benefits of the temporary differences and they are expected to
reverse in the foreseeable future.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are attributable
to the lease liabilities, the Group applies IAS 12 Income Taxes
requirements to the leasing transaction as a whole. Temporary
differences relating to right-of-use assets and lease liabilities are
assessed on a net basis. Excess of depreciation on right-of-use
assets over the lease payments for the principal portion of lease
liabilities resulting in net deductible temporary differences.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of
each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or
part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax liabilities and assets are measured at the tax rates that
are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is settled
or the asset is realised, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the
tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which the
Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or
settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss.

Retirement benefits costs

Payments to the Central Provident Fund (“CPF”) in Singapore
and Mandatory Provident Fund (“MPF”) in Hong Kong as defined
contribution plan are recognised as an expense when employees
have rendered service entitling them to the contributions.

Short-term benefits

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees in
respect of wages and salaries, annual leave and sick leave in the
period that related services is rendered at the undiscounted amount
of the benefits expected to be paid in exchange for that service.

Liabilities recognised in respect of short-term employee benefits are
measured at the undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to
be paid in exchange for the related service.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Cash and Cash Equivalents in the Consolidated
Statement of Cash Flows

Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of cash flows comprise
cash on hand and at bank that are readily convertible to a known
amount of cash and are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in
value.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are
described in Note 4, management is required to make judgements,
estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The
estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical
experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant.
Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in
the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only
that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the
revision affects both current and future periods.

Critical judgements in applying the group’s
accounting policies

Management is of the opinion that any instances of application of
judgements are not expected to have a significant effect on the
amounts recognised in the consolidated financial statements (apart
from those involving estimates, which are dealt with below).

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following is the key assumptions concerning the future, and
other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of each
reporting period that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets within the next twelve
months.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(Continued)

Impact on COVID-19

The impact from COVID-19 pandemic has continued to impact
certain operations of the Group during the year. Measures
implemented by the government including travel restrictions,
lockdowns and safe distancing has impacted the Group’s business
operations such as the demand of services in Hong Kong. These
challenges faced by the Group resulted in the following key
judgements and estimates relating to the valuation of receivables,
the carrying amount of investment in a joint venture and the carrying
amount of plant and equipment, right-of-use assets and intangible
assets taking into consideration available current market information
and conditions.

i) Impairment of trade and other receivables and finance
lease receivables

The Group records any ECLs on its trade and other
receivables and finance lease receivables based on the
likelihood of default. During the year, the Group carried out
a review of the recoverability of trade and other receivables
and finance lease receivables taking into consideration the
profile of debtors, period that the amounts were past due,
as well as results of any collection efforts to determine if any
credit loss allowance is required. This led to the recognition
of impairment loss of trade receivables of S$779,000 (2020:
Nil) and other receivables of S$35,000 (2020: $767,000) and
finance lease receivables of Nil (2020: S$541,000) in profit or
loss.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s trade and other
receivables and finance lease receivables at the end of the
reporting period are disclosed in Notes 23 and 17.
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5 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS

AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(Continued)

Impact on COVID-19 (Continued)

ii) Impairment of carrying amount of investment in joint

venture and amount owing from joint venture

The Group has a joint venture in Hong Kong which operates
a chain of clinics. Due to the pandemic, not all the clinics are
in operations as at end of the reporting period and actual
sales from the operating clinics has been below expectations.
For the year ended 31 December 2021, the joint venture
Group has incurred a loss and current liabilities exceeded its
current assets. The business of the joint venture continues to
be severally impacted by COVID-19 safety measures in Hong
Kong. Given the uncertainty surrounding the lifting of safety
restrictions and the additional cash flow requirements of the
joint venture, management has performed an assessment
which led to a impairment of S$1,994,000 during the year
ended 31 December 2020 on the advances to the joint
venture and S$1,558,000 on the carrying amount of the
investment. In 2021, the Group recognised a reversal of
impairment loss of S$124,000 upon repayment by the
joint venture. No reversal of investment in joint venture is

considered necessary.

iii)  Impairment of carrying amount of plant and equipment,

right-of-use assets and intangible assets

Given that continuing loss with the amount of S$8,785,000
and $9,272,000 incurred for the year ended 31 December
2021 and 2020 respectively, the Group considered the
impairment indicator exists for both Singapore and Hong
Kong business. The Group performed the impairment
assessment of the cash generating units (“CGUs”) where
the plant and equipment, right-of-use assets and intangible
assets belong to by assessing the recoverable amount of the
CGUs which is the higher of the value-in-use (“VIU") and fair
value less cost of disposal. The Group estimated the VIU by
making an estimate of the expected future cash flows from
CGUs and also applying a suitable discount rate in order to
calculate the present value of those cash flows. This led to
the recognition of impairment loss on plant and equipment of

S$887,000 (2020: Nil).
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6 REVENUE 6 Uk
Revenue analysis &b
Revenue represents the net amounts received and receivable for W HIEMAEE R —REKBEAINR
goods sold and services rendered by the Group in normal course of BRHEERMIEMHRE B U A E R
business to outside customers. The following is an analysis of the B UTATEBRRBEFEERZE
Group’s revenue from its major business activities: U E 24T -
A disaggregation of the Group’s revenue is as follows: AREBW@RDIFUWT :
2021 2020
2021%F 20204
S$°000 S$°000
TN T TFHETIN T
Types of services: ARFS AR ©
Aesthetic Services %EHEV 520 220
Consultation Services BEARTS 2,022 1,328
Prescription and Dispensing Services BE 5 R EC B AR 75 3,074 1,949
Treatment Services FEIZARTS 2,863 1,835
Other services (Note 1) HupR® Bat1) 1,571 692
Trading Sales BiHE 239 1,785
Total st 10,289 7,809
Timing of revenue recognition: SR B
At a point in time RE BB RY 4,884 4,426
Over time PN—EX R 5,405 3,383
Total st 10,289 7,809
Note 1: Other services mainly represent service income from patients in Bt . EERF = EIes B2 ARETHNER
relation to laboratory tests carried out during the treatment. ZEERERAWBMRSE -

20214FE T o PENHERR AR AT 155



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

o s R Bk

For the year ended 31 December 2021 #4Z20214£ 12531 H IEFZ

7

156

OPERATING SEGMENTS

For management purposes, the Group is organised into business
units based on their services, and has two reportable segments as
follows:

Healthcare service; and

i Trading sales

Healthcare service relates primarily to the consultation services,
prescription and dispensing services and treatment services and
other services such as laboratory carried out as part of treatment
procedures. Healthcare service focuses on provision of dermatology
treatment solutions, specialised in skin cancer, skin diseases and
aesthetic procedures.

Trading sales relates to supplies of health supplement products and
medical products including hand sanitiser, disposal medical mask
and other medical products.

Management monitors the operating results of the segment
separately for the purposes of making decisions about resources
to be allocated and of assessing performance. Information is
reported to the executive directors of the Company, being the chief
operating decision maker (“CODM”) of the Group, for the purposes
of resource allocation and performance assessment. The CODM
reviews the segment performance based on operating profit or loss
which is similar to the accounting profit or loss.

Segment results, assets and liabilities include items directly
attributable to a segment as well as those that can be allocated
on a reasonable basis. Unallocated expense and income comprise
of expense and other sources of income which are not directly
attributable to the identified segments.

Intersegment sales and transfers are on terms’ agreement in
a manner similar to transactions with third parties at the then
prevailing market prices. Segment revenue, expenses and results
include transfers between business segments. These transfers are
eliminated on consolidation.
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7 OPERATING SEGMENTS (Continued)
Segment revenue and profits/(loss)/segment

7 EEHE @
SEHGE TR, (5H) /HEBE

assets and liabilities EREE
The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and results by UTAHEZIERDEHAER KNG RE
reportable segments: BEHBI DT
Adjustments and
Healthcare service Trading sales eliminations Total
BERS EAHE HERHY st
2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020
20215 2020F 20215 2020F 20215 2020E 20215 2020F
$$'000 $$'000 $$'000 S$'000 $$'000 S$000 $$°000 $$'000
g THRMET FHMERT THEMET  FENER TROET  TRMERT  FRNET
Revenue Wiz
Revenue from REMEEEH
external customers W& 10,050 6,024 239 1,785 - - 10,289 7,809
Inter-segment revenue  DEBRERE 147 555 102 211 (249) (766) - -
Segment revenue nEE 10,197 6,579 34 1,096 (249) (766) 10,289 7,809
Other direct costsand ~ EfERMAR
cost of consumable ERHER
and medical supplies BEADAE
used (2,418) (2,152) (168) (1,224) 306 691 (2,280) (2,685)
Gross profit Z7 17,119 4,421 173 772 57 (79) 8,009 5124
Results £ 1
Other operating income~ EETEUA 412 580 958 2,197 - S 1,430 2,777
Employee benefits BERTRZ
eXpenses (6,838) (3,359) (197) (525) - - (7,035) (3,884)
Depreciation of right- RRESE HE
of-use assets, plant R&EE
and equipment NURENEE
and amortisation of 1]
intangible assets (2,399) (1,499 (1,357) (1,199) - - (3,756) (2,69)
Other operating expenses  EAEEES (4,827) (3,684) (775) (618) - - (5,602) (4,302)
Impairment loss on mﬁﬁﬁ O]
finance lease R E
receivables - - - (541) - - - (541)
Impairment loss on RERENERE
investment in joint B8
venture - (1,558) - - - - - (1,558)
Impairment loss on B3 REMEN
trade and other ERESE
receivables, net of ML
reversal 5 (1,994) (742) (767) - - ©90)  (2761)
Impairment loss on plant T&E&uﬂﬁ
and equipment HEBE - - (887) - - - (887) -
Finance costs Mzts (301) (139) (39) (122) - S (340) (261)
Share of loss EiEEERT
of joint venture 8 - (1,093) - - - - - (1,093)
Loss before tax bRt (8,871) (9.197)
Income tax credit/{expense) Fif§HER/
#) 86 (79)
Loss for the year FEER (8,785) (9.272)
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OPERATING SEGMENTS (Continued) 7 KEDE @
Segment revenue and profits/(loss)/segment P EBU S ez, (B548) 2 ERE
assets and liabilities (Continued) EREE @
The accounting policies of the reportable segments are the same AR ED 2 BB R AN 4TI AE
as the Group’s accounting policies described in Note 4. Segment Bz st BERER D EbRT) (B518) 15
profit/(loss) represents the profit earned by each segment without EZ D EATEHREA AT B A I A R1T
allocation of central administration costs and directors’ salaries, B AREEFHFE - DEHEaEREESE
share of results of joint venture, other operating income, finance HMKE WA BRI EREASE
costs and income tax expense. This is the measure reported to the Ao BB IR D B 5T 2 ERIR
CODM for the purposes of resource allocation and assessment of BEFERERAREERNAEIEE
segment performance.
Adjustments and
Healthcare service Trading sales eliminations Total
BERS ERHE HERHY e
2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020
20215 2020F 20215 2020 2021 2020 20215 2020F
$$'000 $$'000 $$°000 S$'000 $$'000 $$'000 $$°000 $$'000
THMET FTHgx FHEMER TENET FE0ERT RS FENET TRER
Assets: BE.
Intangible assets EVEE 83 50 706 266 - - 789 316
Plant and equipment ElP &L 1,893 1,936 34 650 - = 1,927 2,586
Right-of-use assefs FREgE 5472 4,292 385 1,127 - - 5,857 5419
Other segment assets e 47,993 33,586 4,965 10,437 (42,624) (31,854) 10,334 12,169
Total assefs wEE 55441 39,864 6090 12480  (42624) (31854 18907 20490
Liabilities: af
Segment liabilities AHER (40,723) (23,848) (9,939) (16,539) 36,322 25,428 (14,340) (14,959)
Totallibiities e (@0723) (3849  (0939) (16539 3632 25428 (14340 (14959
Capital expenditure BARY 3,888 4,400 1,131 3,284 - = 5,019 7,684
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7 OPERATING SEGMENTS (Continued)
Geographical information
The Group’s revenue from external customers was mainly derived
from its operation in Singapore and Hong Kong, and the non-

current assets of the Group were located in Singapore and Hong
Kong as at 31 December 2021 and 2020.
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Revenue from external customers: RKEIMNREE BN

Singapore s 10,051 6,024

Hong Kong &8 193 1,720

Others Hih 45 65
10,289 7,809

The revenue information above is based on the locations of the

M EWGEERUE R UERKE-

customers.

Non current assets* JERENE E

Singapore s 4,328 3,699

Hong Kong 54 4,245 4,622
8,573 8,321

* Non-current assets exclude financial instruments. * FERBEEFETSMIA

Information about major customers EREXERFNEN

For the year ended 31 December 2021, there was no revenue
from customers from sales of healthcare products individually
contributing over 10% of the total revenue of the Group (2020:
1 major customer of the Group amounted to approximately
S$1,124,000 of the total revenue from sales of healthcare
products).

There was no revenue from patients individually contributing over
10% of the total revenue of the Group for the years ended 31
December 2021 and 2020.
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OPERATING SEGMENTS (Continued)
Information about major customers (Continued)

An analysis of revenue from healthcare solutions and insurance
companies which paid on behalf of aggregate number of patients
and contributed over 10% of the Group’s total revenue for the year
is as follows:
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2021 2020
20214 20204
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Healthcare Solutions Company A RIBFRFEAT

1,547 996

Other than Healthcare Solutions Company A, there was no revenue
from healthcare solutions and insurance companies which paid
on behalf of aggregate number of patients individually contributing
over 10% of the total revenue of the Group for the years ended 31
December 2021 and 2020.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 #2021 12531 HIFFZE

8.

DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’ 8. EENKEEM=E
EMOLUMENTS

Directors’ and Chief Executive’s emoluments EERTETHRASME

The emoluments paid or payable to the directors and chief ENHENEARBEERFETHAEN
executive of the Company (including emoluments for services as B (BIERRAR AT EEFIEERE
directors of the entities comprising the Group prior to becoming the EETERESNRENS WT

directors of the Company) by the entities comprising the Group are
as follows:

Contributions
Salaries  to retirement

Fee and allowances benefit scheme Total
BKER
e HEREMERN sHEI R izt
S$'000 5$'000 5$'000 S$'000
FHmKT FHmgT FHmgT FHIH T
For the year ended 31 December 2021  #Z2021&E12831HILEE
Executive Directors (Note ¢) BTER (Iite)
Dr. Loh Teck Hiong Loh Teck HiongZ& 4 - 1,294 12 1,306
Mr. Liu Yang (ceased on 10 January 2022)  2IF8%4 (120224

(Note ¢) 1B10B %) (stc) - - - -
Dr. Seow Swee How BB L (1R2022F

(resigned on 10 January 2022) (Note ¢) 1R 108 &) (fzte) 240 40 12 292
Mr. He Weiging ARERE (1120224

(appointed on 10 January 2022) (Note @)~ 1B10BE &) (Wita)

Independent Non-Executive Directors B IFHITES (f7:tr)

(Note 1)

Mr. Cheung Kiu Cho Vincent RERLE (1R202145F

(resigned on 21 April 2021) (Note b) 48218 FHE) (Wb) 6 - - 6
Mr. Ong Kian Guan FRREE (1020214

(resigned on 24 September 2021) OB24HEHT) (M)

(Note b) 23 - - 23
Mr. Yang Zhang Xin BEELE 21 - - 21
Ms Wu Xiao Xia SEHETL (Ro021E

(appointed on 27 September 2021) 9B27THEZRT) 5 - - 5
Mr. Loke Wai Ming BB A (20214

(appointed on 11 May 2021) 5A11HEZM) 13 - - 13

308 1,334 24 1,666
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DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’

EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

8 EFREESME®

Directors’ and Chief Executive’s emoluments EERFEBITHASME @
(Continued)
Contributions
Salaries  to retirement
Fee and allowances benefit scheme Total
RIREF
g FERHEMBEF BEGE szt
S$°000 S$°000 S$°000 S$'000
FHMET FHmET FHmET T T
For the year ended 31 December 2020 #2020 128310 LEE
Executive Directors (Note ¢) WITEE (17te)
Dr. Loh Teck Hiong Loh Teck HiongE = 600 23 623
Mr. Liu Yang (appointed on 23 April 2020)  2IFg54 (120204
4A2HERD) Wiita) - 45 - 45
Dr. Seow Swee How EmREL (1120205
(appointed on 8 June 2020) 6HSHERMT) (ffita)
(Note &) 122 131 10 263
Dr. Ee Hock Leong Ee Hock LeongZ 4
(resigned on 8 June 2020) (Note b) (FA20205E6H8H B#/T)
(Wztp) 423 - - 423
Dr. Kwah Yung Chien Raymond Tk B4 (522020
(resigned on 8 June 2020) (Note b) 6ABHE ) (Hitb) 312 - - 312
Independent Non-Executive Directors B JFHITES (f7:tr)
(Note 1)
Mr. Cheung Kiu Cho Vincent RARRE 21 - - 21
Mr. Ong Kian Guan IRERE 32 - - 32
Mr. Wang Ning FEEE (R2020F
(resigned on 31 March 2020) 3HS1HED) 5 - - 5
Mr. Yang Zhangxin BEELE (112020F
(appointed on 8 June 2020) 6H8HEZRT) 12 = = 12
927 776 33 1,736

RMH HOLDINGS LIMITED e Annual Report 2021



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ey M B R B ik

For the year ended 31 December 2021 #{Z20214£ 12531 H 1L FZ

8

DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’
EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

Directors’ and Chief Executive’s emoluments
(Continued)

Notes:

a)

Dr. Seow Swee How was designated as the chief executive officer of
the Company on 8 June 2020.

Mr. Cheung Kiu Cho Vincent, Mr. Ong Kian Guan resigned as
independent non-executive director. Dr. Ee Hock Leong and Dr. Kwah
Yung Chine Raymond resigned as executive director. Thereafter, they
did not hold any directorship nor key management position.

Dr. Seow Swee How resigned as executive director and Mr. Liu
Yang was vacated by resolution of the Board and ceased to be an
executive director with the effect from 10 January 2022. Thereafter,
they did not hold any directorship nor key management position
except Dr. Seow Swee How continued to be the chief executive
officer of the Company.

Mr.He Weiging was appointed as an executive director of the
Company on 10 January 2022.

The executive directors’ emoluments shown above were for their
services in connection with the management of the affairs of the
Company.

The independent non-executive directors’ emoluments were for their
services as directors of the Company.

None of the directors of the Company waived or agreed to waive
any emoluments during both reporting periods. No emolument were
paid by the Group to the Directors as an inducement to join or upon
joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office.

EFhEEME @

EFRTETHAEME @

et

a)
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EXFRABATEENE I MREEE
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DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’ 8 EFENKEEME®
EMOLUMENTS (Continued)
Employees’ emoluments EEME

AR REHFALEELARFTMEA (2020
F O RTES HNEE 5 A LR
BofR N =4 (2020%F : —%) EEMNE

The five highest paid individuals included the two (2020: four)
executive directors of the Company whose emoluments are
included in the disclosures above. The emoluments of the remaining

three (2020: one) individuals were as follows: DR
2021 2020
2021%F 20204
S$°000 S$'000
T T FHME T
Salaries, bonuses and other benefits e AL R HAthsg R 1,371 1,855
Contributions to retirement benefits scheme  RBRKIEF] 5+ 2R 50 35
1,421 1,890

haEsHAL (BEAATES) BFHM
TFLUR AR -

The five highest paid individuals including the directors of the
Company whose remuneration were within the following bands:

2021 2020

20214 20204

Nil to HK$ 1,000,000 T ZE1,000,0005 70 - -
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 75 ZE1,500,0007 7T - 1
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,00178 75 %£2,000,0007 7T 1 2
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 2,000,00178 7 £2,500,00078 7T 1 1
HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000 2,500,00178 7t £3,000,00078 7T 1 =
HK$3,000,001 to HK$3,500,000 3,000,00178 7t £3,500,0007 7T 1 =
HK$3,500,001 to HK$4,000,000 3,500,001 75 £4,000,0007 7T - 1
Over HK$4,000,000 #8384,000,0005 70 1 -
5 5

No emoluments were paid by the Group to the five highest paid
individuals, including directors of the Company, as an inducement
to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of

office.
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9 OTHER OPERATING INCOME 9 Ht&K=EIRA
2021 2020
20214 20204
Notes S$°000 S$°000
[l T N3 T TN T
Interest income on bank deposits and  $E1T1F R BT A f%
convertible note ZERFEWA 5 =
Interest income on rental deposits HeEsf EWA 32 21
Interest income on finance lease MERERE WA 9 21
Gain on disposal of right-of-use assets & B E ZE I W &% (b) 82 1,061
Gain on termination of sublease HKIEDTBZHERW S (©)
arrangement 311 S
License fee HEEER - 427
Government grants IEgiSREE) @) 388 570
Other rental income HniE S WA 540 677
Others Hih 63 -
1,430 2,777
Notes: Vg
(@)  Government grant represents primarily government subsidies in (@ BUNHBIEEIEMMFEREERIHBEIZE

form of cash payout from Inland Revenue Authority of Singapore in
relation to support business embarking on transformation efforts and
encourage sharing of productivity gains with workers until year 2021.
Following with the outbreak of COVID-19, the Singapore Government
introduced the Jobs Growth Incentive (“JGI”) to support employers
to accelerate their hiring of local workforce so as to create good and
long term jobs for locals. All of them are compensation for expenses
or losses already incurred or for the purpose of giving immediately
financial support to the Group with no future related costs and no
unfulfilled conditions and other contingencies attached to receipts
of the grants. Besides, rental support scheme payout is announced
by the Singapore Government, which is to support businesses with
rental costs. The Senior Employment Credit (SEC) were introduced by
the Singapore Government which to provide wage offsets to support
the employment of senior workers.

The gain on disposal of right-of-use assets arose due to a lease
novated to joint venture as well as the granting of the use of certain
leased space to external parties with similar tenure at higher rates
than the head lease.

The gain on termination of sublease arrangement arose due to
resumption of use of certain leased space to external parties with the
amount of approximately $$52,000 and gains on unreturned rental
deposit from the sublessor upon termination of sublease arrangement
with the amount of approximately S$259,000.

20214F %

%%%Ew&ﬁ%ﬁlAﬂﬂiFﬁ%
BREUREZ A AT BT/
BE2021FAIL -RHESKRREIEE
% NIRRT H IR SR B st 8 U E
BREMPIBEE A S5 8 /7 AR H AR
BEREREHANMER S -SRIML2E
REEERTRGEENHEES HBER
I EE BB BN RE B B B - BN /R Bh AR
BEARERZREREMIRAB IR L5
WMMEB RN AM— R A& A
sTE UEBh P AER S - F0E
BNESFERE TriEmMa > UZ e
BRERTARMBIERE-

HECBEEENRDEHEARBENER
ERERE DURNRBAEEFEHER
SNEHEEEINBATERETHES
FIFTEL -

RIEDHELZENRETDEREE BN
ATMEFERETHEEZR  €BOA
52,0005 I3 T M AL IE DA LT HE B 2 B
PHRANKXEENR SR ESSBENS
259,000 103 7T ©
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10 FINANCE COSTS

10 BAFERZA

2021 2020
20214 20204
S$°000 S$'000
T Ern T TFHTINE T
Interest expense on borrowings ERA SR 176 69
Interest expense on lease liabilities HEaEMNERZ 164 192
340 261
11 LOSS BEFORE TAX 1 BRIRAIESIE
Loss before tax has been arrived at after charging/(crediting): BMEIERDINR, S GEA)
2021 2020
20215 20204
S$°000 S$'000
T Hrn T TN T
Audit fees BIZER
(included in other operating expenses) GIAEM&ERY) 244 164
Administrative fees THER
(included in other operating expenses) GITAEMKERS) 372 279
Net foreign currency exchange (gain)/loss SNESBE D (I E) K518 7328
(included in other operating expenses) Gt AEMEKE%) (220) 454
Professional and consulting fees BEKEHER
(included in other operating expenses) GIAEM&ERY) 3,738 2,604
Government rate =
(included in other operating expenses) GITAEMKERS) 103 78
Research fees 3t E A
(included in other operating expenses) Gt AEMEKE%) 112 92
Travelling expenses EikFAX
(included in other operating expenses) GIAHMKERS) 22 113
Written off of plant and equipment EH RS S 55 1 5
Gain on disposal of plant and equipment HERE KRB S 9)
Realised losses on FVTPL instrument BAFESFABRNTIAZ
BEIRE1E 265 =
Unrealised gain on FVTPL instrument, net BAFESABENTAZ
FREIR W FEE (15) =
Employee benefits expense: BERABXE
Directors’ remunerations (Note 8) BRI (WaE8) 1,666 1,736
Other staff costs HB T A
— salaries, bonus and other benefits — & (EA R HAEF 5,071 1,985
— contributions to retirement benefits scheme —3ERBFI 52 HRR 298 163
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12

INCOME TAX (CREDIT)/EXPENSE 12 FRiS# (K%) B
2021 2020
20214 20204
S$°000 S$°000
T T TN T
Tax expense comprises: MBS EIE
Current tax BERTR 1B
— Singapore Corporate Income Tax (“CIT”) — ¥ e 2 FTER
(TR ZEFR1HR0) 13 17
— Hong Kong Profits Tax —&5BFER - =
13 17
Deferred tax (credit)/expense (Note 28) IRIEIRIE (ER) /B (H1at28)
— Singapore CIT — NN (B 2RISR (99) 58
— Hong Kong Profits Tax —&BFER - =
(86) 75

Singapore CIT is calculated at 17% (2020: 17%) of the estimated
assessable profit eligible for CIT rebate 25%, capped at $$15,000
for the Year of Assessment 2020 and not eligible from the Year of
Assessment 2021 onwards. Singapore incorporated companies
can enjoy 75% tax exemption on the first S$10,000 (2020:
S$10,000) of normal chargeable income and a further 50% tax
exemption on the next S$190,000 (2020: S$190,000) of normal
chargeable income.

Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% (2020: 16.5%) of the
estimated assessable profit for the year.

M B EMESRIZGHTERR G N
17% (2020%F : 17%) st B> WEEKA
5% EFRE IR > 1R2020F 1R 4
FE Ry _E PR 215,000 M3 7T K 12021 4
HINEEERFBEER (EMIKEMAR
A B]IE B ERR U A E 10,0000
¥ 7t (20204 : 10,000F7 103 7T) BI75%
AEREER HBE EENERR KA S
190,000 N3 7t (20204 : 190,000 110
W 7T) BI50%F] E— A R ©

EBMNERIDUEEGBTERREFZ
16.5% (20204F : 16.5%) MEKHH o

20214FE T o PENHERR AR AT 167
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12

168

INCOME TAX (CREDIT)/EXPENSE (Continued) 12 FRiS# (K%) Bz @
The income tax (credit)/expense for the year can be reconciled to RER PRER (B%R) FXZEgE1E
the loss before taxation per the consolidated statement of profit or A E At 2 U 2R PR B BR AR Bl A
loss and other comprehensive income as follows: HERWMT -
2021 2020
20214 20204
S$°000 S$°000
TFHrn T THTINE T
Loss before taxation BRI AT RSB (8,871) (9,197)
Tax at applicable tax rate of 17% (2020: 17%) EAIREA17% (20204 : 17%)
iRIE (1,508) (1,563)
Non-deductible items AEIRIER 265 669
Effect of unutilised tax losses not recognised ~ REESRREN MG IE & 1,117 977
Effect of tax concessions and tax exemptions FRIBEBERRFEHRR L - (19)
Income not subject to tax BERRIA (61) -
Deductible temporary difference FERN IR GREEER
not recognised 187 -
Over provision in respect of prior year B FEBREREE (86) -
Others Hith - 11
Income tax (credit)/expense FrigiR (8%) (86) 75

Subject to the agreement by the tax authority at the end of
the reporting period, the Group has unutilised tax losses of
approximately S$11,371,000 (2020: S$4,800,000) and other
temporary differences of approximately S$1,741,000 (2020:
S$641,000) available for offset against future profits. No deferred
tax asset has been recognised due to the unpredictability of future
profit streams.

The Group has recognised underprovision in prior year for current

tax with the amount of S$13,000 and overprovision for deferred tax
liabilities in prior year with the amount of S$99,000.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 #2021 12531 HIFFZE

13

14

DIVIDENDS 13 K2
The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend for BEEELAEEMNE E2021F12H31H1E
the year ended 31 December 2021 (2020: Nil). FEIRMNFEAKE (20205  2HMK
JT) ©
BASIC AND DILUTED LOSS PER SHARE 14 SREXRKRIEFEE
2021 2020
20215 20204
Loss attributable to the owners of KABVHEB AEILEE
the Company (S$’000) (F# N3 7o) (8,785) (9,272)
Weighted average number of ordinary shares B 3517 Z @I hN#E 58
in issue ('000) (T8 745,973 600,000
Basic and diluted loss per share SREAKREEEE
(Singapore cents) GrmEs) (1.18) (1.59)
For the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020, no separated EEH’;‘E&;ZE2_O21 F%2020F12H31H L
diluted loss per share information has been presented as there was EI BT BEREEER > R
= SEEE RNl o
no dilutive potential ordinary shares outstanding. BER 25 Sk#EHREL

20214EEH Y o FEITPEREABRAH] 169
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15 PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 15 BERSRE

170

Computer
Medical and office Leasehold
equipment equipment improvements Total
Bk HE
BERHE WAERE MERE st
S$°000 $$'000 $$'000 S$'000
TN T TN FHIMET FHMET
Cost: %9
At 1 January 2020 20201811 1,119 156 1,339 2,614
Additions "E 1,103 94 613 1,810
Disposals HE (120) - - (120)
Written off b (436) (12) (140) (588)
At 31 December 2020 2020128311 1,666 238 1,812 3,716
Additions "E 504 86 438 1,028
Written off i =) (251) (10) = (261)
Exchange alignments ER A 10 1 3 14
At 31 December 2021 R2021F12831H 1,929 315 2,253 4,497
Accumulated Depreciation BEHFERRE
and Impairment:
At 1 January 2020 1202051818 795 75 361 1,231
Provided for the year FREE 196 30 265 491
Disposals HE 9 - - 9
Witten off 15 (431) (12) (140) (583)
At 31 December 2020 120205128310 551 93 486 1,130
Provided for the year FREE 332 52 426 810
Written off b e} (248) (10) - (258)
Impairment loss AEEE 887 - - 887
Exchange alignments fE R 1 - - 1
At 31 December 2021 R2021F12831H 1,623 135 912 2,570
Carrying Values: IREE -
At 31 December 2021 12021128310 406 180 1,341 1,927
At 31 December 2020 2020128311 1,115 145 1,326 2,586
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15

16

PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued) 15 HERKRE @
The above items of plant and equipment are depreciated on a Tl EERZLFEBEERARERGEERE
straight-line basis after taking into account of their residual values at BRUTFELXEUEGEERE -
the following rates per annum:
Medical equipment 20% to 33% g% %] 20%%E33%
Computer and office equipment 20% to 33% «‘73’2#}]#’2\?:&{% 20%%E33%
Leasehold improvements Shorter of 5 years or EYEREE 2 A F SRR
over the lease term
During 2021, the pandemic of COVID-19 continued to have 20215 A ERRB R BEFEHER
adverse impact on many businesses in Hong Kong. The Group was LIFEBEM AT E o AEE AR
unable to launch the stem cell business as planned, management EREE N S M@Jﬁ.ﬁ'ﬁ%
as such has carried out an assessment on the impairment of the Eﬂﬁlﬁﬁ BAERE R 2 R EE T W53
relevant equipment acquired and considered that an impairment #887,0007 N3 7T BV B (B B 18 FE AR R (F
loss of S$887,000 should be recognised in profit or loss based on AEERENILDKRERAFERHE
the recoverable amount which is higher of the VIU and fair value AR B e AR T o
less cost of disposal.
INTANGIBLE ASSETS 16 EHEE
Software
E/gEs
S$'000
TN T
Cost: s :
At 1 January 2020 F£2020FE181H S
Additions B 316
At 31 December 2020 and 1 January 2021 720205128310 K20215181H 316
Additions //J\E 636
Exchange alignment PR 6
At 31 December 2021 12021412831 H 958
Accumlated amortisation: Rty -
At 1 January 2020, 31 December 2020 F£2020FE181H ~ 202012831 H &20215F181H
and 1 January 2021 =
Provided for the year FEE 169
Exchange alignments FE A =
At 31 December 2021 R2021412831H 169
Carrying value: REE -
At 31 December 2021 72021%12831H 789
At 31 December 2020 $22020512831H 316

Intangible assets comprise software purchased from vendors with
the estimated useful life of 5 years.

BEEGRESBENRME  GstafE
FEFHAREE -
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17

172

FINANCE LEASE RECEIVABLES

17 RBEHERWRIEAE

2021 2020
20214 20204
S$’000 S$'000
T N3 T TR0 T
Amounts receivable under finance leases: FEAEE T ERRE
Year 1 F1E 19 963
Year 2 E2E - 276
Undiscounted lease payments KEIRFAEN™R 19 1,239
Less: Unearned finance income L RBEERE WA (1) (23)
Present value of lease payment receivable FEWHEENRIRE 18 1,216
Net impairment loss allowance DoAY SEi=b e LRt - (541)
Net investment in the lease HEKEFEE 18 675
Undiscounted lease payments analysed as: KREIRBECSRANS -
Recoverable within 12 months 1218 B WA Yk [a] 19 963
Recoverable after 12 months 121@ B & ATk [a] - 276
19 1,239
Net investment in the lease analysed as: HEREREINS
Recoverable within 12 months 1218 B AT 4k [a] 18 564
Recoverable after 12 months 128 A& AU [al - 111
18 675
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17

FINANCE LEASE RECEIVABLES (Continued)

The following table presents the amounts included in profit or loss:

Al EFEWREIE @
TREFSTAEBRNEEE !

2021 2020

20214 20204

$$°000 S$'000

T T TN T

Gain on disposal of right-of-use assets HESAEBEENR G 82 718

The Group entered into sublease arrangements as a lessor for
certain office space to its tenants. The average term of sublease
entered into range from 1 to 2 years.

The Group’s sublease arrangements do not include variable
payments.

The average effective interest rate contracted approximately 3%
(2020: 3%) per annum.

Management estimates the loss allowance on finance lease
receivables at the end of the reporting period at an amount equal
to lifetime ECL. In determining the expected credit losses of these
receivables, management taking into account the historical default
experience and the future prospects of the industries in which the
lessees operate, as appropriate, in estimating the probability of
default of each of these receivables occurring within their respective
loss assessment time horizon, as well as the loss upon default in
each case.

There has been no change in the estimation techniques or
significant assumptions made during the current reporting period in
assessing the loss allowance for finance lease receivables.

As at 31 December 2020, the net impairment loss allowance that
has been recognised for a finance lease receivable that has been
assessed individually and is past due with indicators of impairment
resulting in significant increase in credit risk in 2020. As at 31
December 2021, no loss allowance has been recognised as the
amount involved is insignificant.

FERFAHEAMREFEARNET
MAEZEBI L DB L HE-PRE]IZLDER
THERBIE2F

AEEN DAL RO 2 AR

TR ERA RO A ENEKIE
(20204 : 3E) °

EEBMAGNEREMARNBEHAERK
mEGEEREEASNR2NRANES
BE-REEZSRIRENRREES
B BEEF RBEEAKRKEEA

FRQEITHEBIRRATR WERA) - UG

ZEBPRAL BN HERBRFGEE
BERANELENNT SN UREEBR
THEMNER-

B ST B TR B B RS IR B 7
o435 45 5 R (F th B0 £ BRI LB A B 28
i o

2020512831 H > FE BT EM E A HA
A RE R BB F A B W R IE FE R
R EBEREEFESEERRRN2020
FEAREEF - FR2020512831 8 » B ER
REEEE TTRRSBEMTIRE
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174

FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS 18 ‘R AT(EFTAEZMIA
INSTRUMENT
2021 2020
20214 20204
S$’000 S$'000

T h03K T TN TT

Non-current JERE
Convertible loan notes AERERER
Current TRED

Equity securities listed in Hong Kong REZA MR

58 55 616 =

The convertible loan notes were purchased in December 2020.
The notes together with all accrued and unpaid interest will
be converted into the highest class of shares of the investee
on the maturity date. The maturity date is 24 months following
the drawndown of the investment. The convertible notes were
redeemed during the year ended 31 December 2021.

The convertible loan notes are determined to be unquoted in an
active markets with the fair value of the convertible notes of initial
recognition approximating to be the transaction price.

The equity securities listed in Hong Kong are determined based on

quoted market price in an active market and categorised as level 1
in the fair value hierarchy.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 #2021 12531 HIFFZE

19 RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 19 EFRAEEE

2021 2020

2021%F 20204

S$°000 S$°000

T T TN T

Rented properties TR 5,568 5,419
Plant and equipment i 5= B &4 289 =
5,857 5,419

The Group leases several leasehold office, clinics and plant and
equipment at fixed rentals. The average lease term is 2 to 5 years
(2020: 3 to 5 years).

Extension options are not included in the lease of rented properties
and none of these leases include variable lease payments.

Additions to the right-of-use assets for the year ended 31
December 2021 include an amount of S$$2,950,000 (2020:
S$$5,558,000) upon commencement of new leases of rented
properties and medical equipment.

In 2021, the Group entered into sublease arrangements as a
lessor for certain office space, resulting in derecognition of right-
of-use assets of approximately S$213,000. Subsequently, certain
sublessees early terminated the sublease agreement which led to
resumption of right-of-use assets of approximately S$472,000 by
the Group.

The depreciation charges in respect of rented properties and
plant and equipment for the year ended 31 December 2021 are
approximately $$28,000 (2020: nil) and S$2,749,000 (2020:
$%$2,207,000) respectively.

The total cash outflows for leases are approximately S$3,204,000
(2020: S$2,131,000) for the year ended 31 December 2021.

SEEHEBZERERAERSH-FY
FTHHEAB2ZE 54 (20204 © 3FES54F) o

AR EERERAERMABMERZ

HE2021512B31BLEE  AEFEH
HEEORERMERBEEREBNIE
E R %2,950,000HT 103 7T ( 20204 -
5,558,000 N3 7T) B9 & %58 ©

PRo021E  AEEME TIHAE TR HEY
FAASTA DML HE BRI FEDE R
B EX213,0008 Mo 8% HHHE
ABARBAIEDHERE BERAEE R
EE B EA472,0005 NI TT °

HZE2021FE12831HIEEE - AEAHE
BMEUNEBEREZENITEE D7
##928,000/ M T (202045 | &) &
$2,749,000%7 103 7T (20204 : 2,207,000
o ) o

HZE2021F12831HILFE » HERAEIR

%7 H 2 493,204,0005 N3 7T (20204 :
2,131,000% 103 7o) ©
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 #4Z20214£ 12531 H IEFZ

20 INVESTMENT IN JOINT VENTURE

2021 2020

20214 20204

S$°000 S$'000

T N3 T FHME T

Cost of investment KB K 2,651 2,651
Share of loss fEILES1E (1,093) (1,093)

Less: Loss allowance on investment in B eERERERBEE

joint venture (1,558) (1,558)

A review of the recoverable amount of the joint venture led to the

B E2020F12831HLEFEE - HEE AT

recognition of an impairment loss allowance of S$1,558,000 for the
year ended 31 December 2020. No reversal of investment in joint
venture is considered necessary for the year ended 31 December

2021.

Details of joint venture:

B Uk [O] & 38 A9 25 B B8 B0 e 5 R (B S 1B
5 #1,558,000F7 N3 7T o B E2021512

B31HLEFE #BiEOEHSESREMFR
B EIRE
SERFNEFE -

Proportion

Place of
incorporation

of ownership
interest and

and principal voting rights

place of held by

Name of joint venture Principal activity business the Group
TEEFRE

=t ith B R BEEEER

AERNERTE FEES FTEEEME BREELLA
Queen’s Road Medical Operating aesthetic medical beauty Hong Kong, Central 51%

Company Limited
ECEBERRAT

clinic and trading medicine.
REER BEETIMK
BEEZEY)

176 RMH HOLDINGS LIMITED e Annual Report 2021

BRPIR



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ko B bk

For the year ended 31 December 2021 #{Z20214£ 12531 H 1L FZ

20 INVESTMENT IN JOINT VENTURE (Continued) 20 RERTIRE @
The above investment is accounted as a joint venture as the HR KR ERZBREBEITELRIEGIRE
shareholders exercise joint control pursuant to the shareholders WM EEREE AT AR
agreement.
The above joint venture is accounted for using the equity method Ll EERB R ARG E T ERT AP URE
in these consolidated financial statements as set out in the Group’s A AR WM sS4 AN E B 2 5T BSR P
accounting policies in note 4. o
The summarised financial information below represents amounts T HBEER I E kMR R B R
in a joint venture unaudited financial statements prepared in SENFEN —BHEERBDRKEZY
accordance with IFRS Standards. BHRERP 25
2021 2020
20215 20204F
S$°000 S$°000

T A3 7T TR0 T

Current assets RENEE 2,630 3,499
Non-current assets JERENEE - 8,063
Current liabilities mENAaE 5,368 3,782
Non-current liabilities EREEE 3,235 4,715
Net (iabilities)/assets T BR BE (5,973) 3,065

The above amounts of assets and liabilities NEEEREBESEET T

include the following: BH
Cash and cash equivalents HekReEEBY 198 723
Current financial liabilities (excluding trade and ENHiS Rt &E (FEEZE S

other payables and provisions) HMEARIB R B 2,618 1,524
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20 INVESTMENT IN JOINT VENTURES (Continued) 20

2021 2020

20215 20204

S$°000 S$°000

TN T FHNE T

Revenue W 1,943 350

Loss for the year, representing total FAREBE BERERN

comprehensive loss for the year T HEEEEEE (9,068) (2,144)

The above loss for the year include M EFEARBESE T
the following: BH

Depreciation and amortisation HTEE R i 6 1,984 1,289

Employee benefits expense EEEFHHZ 653 246

Interest expense on lease liabilities HEaEMNERZ 173 157

21 DEPOSITS 21 &

2021 2020

20214 20204

$$°000 S$'000

TF# % T TN T

Rental and other deposits e kEMZE 700 1,076

Deposit from a third party RKE—HBEZHNEED - 1,265

700 2,341

(1) This is due to the medical equipment amounting to S$1,265,000,
which has not been delivered as at year ended 31 December
2020. In 2021, the Group utilised approximately S$462,000 for
the purchase of plant and equipment, the remaining balance of
approximately S$823,000 would be refunded by the supplier as the
purchase was cancelled by the Group, and such amount is included

in other receivable at 31 December 2021.

Details of impairment assessment of deposits at 31 December 2021

are set out in note 23.
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#7823,000# N3 7T 89 85 BB E(H FE 4R
B THRAEECEERNEE A
SRRt A2021FE 12831 B E M FEUR

RIE

18202112831 B H 7BV R B 5T 5F

TBEHECHIEE23



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ko B bk

For the year ended 31 December 2021 #2021 12531 HIFFZE

22

INVENTORIES 22 F&
2021 2020
20214 20204
S$°000 S$'000
TN T TN T
Consumables and medical supplies JEFE R B A R 1,096 849
23 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 23 B KRHEMEKSRIEA
2021 2020
20214 20204
S$°000 S$°000
T T TN T
Trade receivables B 5 EWR IS 2,230 2,362
Less: Loss allowance on trade receivables B B EWEIENEEEE (779) -
1,451 2,362
Deposits B 1,958 650
Prepayment BIRIB 1,038 141
Prepayment to a director BN —REENHRIE 315 =
Other receivables HhpE U zkis 1,039 895
Less: Loss allowance on other receivables L B EWGERIEN R IR R (35) (767)
Amount owing from joint venture — non-current 45 &% /A B FRIE—IEREN 1,898 1,994
Less: Loss allowance on amount owing from & : &5 R & & A S IER
joint venture a1 (1,898) (1,994)
5,766 3,281

The patients of the Group usually settle their payments by cash,
Network for Electronic Transfer (“NETS”), credit cards and claiming
from healthcare solutions and insurance companies. For credit
cards and NETS, the bank will deposit the money in the following
day after the date of invoice. For payment claiming from healthcare
solutions and insurance companies, the Group allowed a credit
period ranging from 45 to 90 days to healthcare solutions and
insurance companies and it would generally grant payment terms
of 90 days if payment terms are not specified in the contracts. The
average credit period of trade receivables from sales of healthcare

products is 90 days.

20214FE T o PENHERR AR AT

AEBRABEEURE Network for
Electronic Transfer (INETS J) ~ 15 FB £ K 1%
BEERFRERFRABDREGEEEL TR
MIERAERNETSTE  RITHNERER
BB T —REAREB SLURBRASE
KRB AR REBARME M E4IP I &
FIRE RS AEBBRERRA S E
BRI AT IRMHASKRERMEEH > —
ARG % T (I B ER0K o 2k B &R Y
B RENRIEFEEERAB0K
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 #4Z20214£ 12531 H IEFZ

23

180

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)

The following is an aging analysis of trade receivables of the Group
presented based on invoice dates, net of impairment loss for the
trade receivables from the customers who settle payments by
claiming from healthcare solutions and insurance companies and
trade receivables from sales of healthcare products at the end of
each reporting period:

23 B REMMEWRIA @

UTREEREEFNEZBERREE
HEZ27 AL EE 5 BUGRE (RRE
BR) NIREDT ARESRRERESN
REBRARBBRAEZRFBEATDRR
UKk BHERERNE S BURRIES
N HERERIE :

2021 2020

20214 20204

S$°000 S$'000

T N3 T FHME T

0-30 days 0&E30H 305 1,398
31-60 days 31E60H 262 175
61-90 days 61290H 264 123
over 90 days HEiEo0H 620 666
1,451 2,362

Loss allowance for trade receivables has been measured at an
amount equal to lifetime ECL. The ECL on trade receivables are
estimated using a provision matrix by reference to past default
experience of the debtor and an analysis of the debtor’s current
financial position, adjusted for factors that are specific to the
debtors, general economic conditions of the industry in which the
debtors operate.

There has been no change in the estimation techniques or
significant assumptions made during the current reporting period.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 #2021 12531 HIFFZE

23 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)

A trade receivable is written off when there is information indicating

that the debtor is in severe financial difficulty and there is no realistic

prospect of recovery.

The Group recognised lifetime ECL for trade receivables based
on past due status of customers of healthcare service and trading

sales respectively as follows,

23

B 7 R HAthEUTRIE (@)
EEENETESAARREY BRY
R TR R M ERUER ) 6 B M E B
R o

FERRBETIARR TN DB 5 E
RHBEREZHENZ R EE%T%’JMHE!I,\%
PR IBRE 2 RTRIIE ERB1E

Healthcare service BRIRTE
Weighted
average Gross
expected loss Carrying Life time
rate Amount ECLs
N#EFg ZHATAHA
FEHARS1E HHERTE{E 5818
S$°000 S$°000
T T T T
As at 31 December 2021 2021512831H
Current (not past due) BNHEA (RiaHER) 1.8% 838 (15)
Less than 1 month past due DRE B @R 6.4% 94 (6)
1 to 3 months past due 12318 B A 8.3% 48 4
More than 3 months past due % FA31E B #HR 24.1% 116 (28)
1,096 (53)
Trading sales BoHE
Weighted
average Gross
expected loss Carrying Life time
rate Amount ECLs
IN#EFs 2 HATEHA
FEHAESIEEE HHERTE{E E8E518
S$°000 S$’000
T T T T
As at 31 December 2021 72021E12831H
Current (not past due) BPER (GR#HA) 58.8% 17 (10)
Less than 1 month past due DRE B A ER 61.5% o1 (56)
More than 3 months past due % R31E B #iHR 64.3% 1,026 (660)
1,134 (726)
202U4EE Y o PUTPERTA FRAT] 181
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23

24

182

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)

At 31 December 2020, included in the Group’s trade receivables
balance were debtors with a carrying amount of S$666,000 which
were past due at the end of reporting period for which the Group
had not provided as there had not been as significant change in
credit quality and the amounts were still considered recoverable.
The Group’s remaining trade receivables were not past due nor
impaired at 31 December 2020 and were due from debtors who
do not have historical default of payments. Accordingly, no loss
allowance was recognised at 31 December 2020.

In respect of other receivables and deposits at 31 December 2021,
the Group estimated the loss allowance on an individual basis and
the loss allowance is measured at an amount equal to 12-month
ECL of approximately $$35,000, taking into account the probability
of default and loss given default of respective balances.

Movement in the loss allowance account in respect of trade and
other receivables are as follow,

23

B 5 REhEWTRIA @

R2020F12831H » EBR E 7 FE U
T8 1 51 4% BR [ {8666, 00037 N 35 7T B9 FE Uk
RIE ARRERRSEHERERE EBH
REEEEZTES KES BNMARBAE
e TWE WAEETERERE
BIEHEE AEBGTHNEZEKIE
72020512831 B i ok 781 #A & 36 R &
BAXRBIEBEFHA IR EHENES
Ao R - 15 8 5 38 35 45 72202012 8 31
H#rEsR o

Fh2021FE 12831 AN EHMEKRRIERF
RME o ANE B2 @R 1B R et B 18 3
B> mEs B E U S BHEE R4 435,000
o+ @B TERE BB 2
TWEZERAEEGINENTEERELN
BHREo

B REMBUWRIENBRREFHRED
m:

Trade receivables Other receivables Total
BAEWRIE HitE KA it
2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020
20215 2020 20215 2020F 20215 2020F
$$'000 $$'000 $$'000 $$'000 $$'000 $$'000
THmET  FTHOET  FHMERT 0 TEMET O FENERT TSR
As at 1 January H1 H - - 2,761 - 2,761 =
Written off W - = (767) = (767) -
Impairment losses recognised during £ A HESR AT ER 18
the year - 779 = 35 2,761 814 2,761
Reversal of impairment losses ER TR
previously recognised during the REBRERD
year \ - - (124) - (124) -
Exchange alignments ERAZ - - 28 - 28 -
As at 31 December 128310 779 = 1,933 2,761 2,712 2,761
Analysed by: iR
Non-current JEEDHR — -
Current BER 5,766 3,281
5,766 3,281
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENT 24 RERFAEFEY

As at 31 December 2021, certain balances amounting to
S$374,000 (2020: S$311) which carry interest at prevailing market
rate of 0.01% (2020: 0.01%) per annum, the remaining balances do
not carry interest.

The credit risk on cash and cash equivalent is limited because
the counterparties are banks with high credit ratings assigned by
international credit-rating agencies. As such, no loss allowance is
recognised at 31 December 2021 and 2020.
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25

TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

25 BHKRHEMENRIE

2021 2020

20214 20204

S$°000 S$'000

TN T FEINR T

Trade payables B S ENRIE 592 675
Accrued legal and professional fees Est iR EEER 1,068 561
Accrued operating expenses ESHEER X 52 674
Accrued staff cost FEst B TR 632 65
Accrued director fees EstEERE 18 44
Deferred revenue IR SE W a2 343 197
Amount due to directors ETEEFUE 6 273
Other tax payables HhELRIE 125 59
Other payables HhpETIE 423 470
3,259 3,018

Deferred revenue as contract liabilities represents upfront receipt

from customers.

For aesthetic services sales, revenue is recognised when control of
the goods has transferred to the customer, being at the point the
goods are delivered to the customer. When the customer initially

FRaNaBEREEREERLEEER

YT EY B9 R IE ©

HREBRBIHEE > W

RERIERIES

ETERR MERXNTFERZEBE

urchases the package, the transaction price received at that point LEOO SN Lok S e U
P package. P & nap 20 R B T U BIB9S 53 (B R B 2 MR RE U
by the Group is recognised as deferred revenue until the goods R ERERERNTEESL
have been delivered to the customer. ui BER@EXN P& A

2021 2020
20214 20204
S$°000 S$'000
T N3 T TR0 T
At the beginning of the year R 197 52
Receipt from customers EEIEN 666 420
Revenue recognised that was included in the 5t AFEHI&HI B EERH
contract liabilities balance at the beginning BN
of the year (137) (36)
Revenue recognised during the year that REMERBEER W BREN
was related to receipt from customers FAERBW R
in the same period (383) (239)
At the end of the year RER 343 197

20214F %
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25

184

TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (Continued)

The Group applies the practical expedient of not disclosing the
transaction price allocated to remaining performance obligations
that is part of a contract that has original expected duration of one
year or less.

The average credit period on purchase of goods is 30 days. The
following is an aging analysis of trade payables of the Group
presented based on the invoice date at the end of each reporting
period:

25

B 5 REMELRIA @

ZK;%@FEFH_MT%EE& T%ﬁﬁi’\ﬁﬂi

BHEE (FREH—E %ﬁ*ﬂ_—
EW"\ fEE’\JJ?ﬁé‘?EHH:.“’JHH) SR
g o

BEERNTHEERR0R - UTAK
EENESREHRRERHHPR2IINE
2 RURIRE DA

2021 2020
20214 20204
S$°000 S$'000

T h03K 7T TR0 T

0-30 days 0Z30H 233 469
31-60 days 31E60H 273 78
61-90 days 61290H - 29
Over 90 days Q0HM £ 86 99
592 675

Analysed as: SaNiIv=T
Non-current JERPHA 277 337
Current BPHA 2,982 2,681
3,259 3,018
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26 LEASE LIABILITIES 26 HE&E

2021 2020
20214 20204
S$°000 S$'000
TN T TN T

Maturity analysis: EIEA DT
Year 1 $F1E 2,685 2,926
Year 2 Pk 1,967 1,560
Year 3 H3E 1,298 892
Year 4 FA4E 370 598
Year 5 55 - 408
6,320 6,384
Less: Unearned interest B REREVH 2 (253) (301)
6,067 6,083

Analysed as: DA

Current BPHR 2,544 2,776
Non-current JERNER 3,523 3,307
6,067 6,083

As at 31 December 2021, the lease liabilities in respect of leased
plant and equipment under hire purchase agreements amounting
to §$275,000 (2020: Nil) was secured by personal joint and several
guarantees by directors of the Company. During the year ended 31
December 2021, the Group entered into a number of new lease
agreements in respect of renting properties and recognised lease
liability of $2,950,000 (2020: S$5,558,000).

R20215F128310 > RFEHEEHE > 58

#275,000H7 N3 7T (2020 :

T)WHEE

BERXREEFANEESEHMEAKRE
NEEFZHHLIERFEIEIE 52021412
BI1BLLEE > ARABEIJZHEEAREY

# R HEFE2,950,000%7 113 7T

(20204 :

5,558,000 N 7T) 78 & & [RAARABRTE

RE 7 2
B

20214FJE Y o PRIHEREA R 2 H]
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27

186

BORROWINGS 27 f&W

2021 2020
20214 20204
S$’000 S$'000

T h03K T TN TT

Secured borrowing at amortised cost SR A ST B IR IR AR

Bank loans IRITEMR 4,992 5,673
The Group’s borrowings are scheduled to repay as follows. AEBNERIRETIRBRES

2021 2020

20214 20204

S$°000 S$°000

TF# N3 T TFHETNE T

Within on year or on demand —FELARTIZEX 1,309 2,829

In the second year I == 1,365 720

In the third to fifth year, inclusive RE=ZZFLF (BIEERMF) 2,318 2,124

4,992 5,673

Non-current JERNER 3,683 2,844

Current BNHA 1,309 2,829

The Group has the following bank loans: AEBEBLTRITERR
a. Loan of S$3 million with repayment over 60 monthly a. SEBMMMKITER  H202046H

instalments comprising principal and interest and
commenced on 22 June 2020. The loan is secured by
a corporate guarantee from the Company and personal
guarantee from a director of the Company. The loan carries
interest at 3% per annum.

b. Loan of S$2 million with repayment over 60 monthly b.
instalments comprising principal and interest and
commenced on 12 October 2020. The loan is secured by
a corporate guarantee from the Company and personal
guarantee from a director of the Company. The loan carries
interest at 3% per annum.
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27 BORROWINGS (Continued)

C.

Loan of S$500,000 with repayment over 60 monthly
instalments comprising principal and interest commenced
on 23 October 2020. The loan is secured by a corporate
guarantee from the Company and personal guarantee from a
director of the Company. The loan carries interest at 4.5% per
annum.

Loan of $$500,000 with repayment over 60 monthly
instalments comprising principal and interest commenced
on 2 November 2020. The loan is secured by a corporate
guarantee from the Company and personal guarantee from a
director of the Company. The loan carries interest at 4.5% per
annum.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, one of the
subsidiaries of the Company has breached a loan covenant
for a bank loan from a financial institution amounting
S$$2,673,494. Subsequent to the year end, the Group has
obtained a waiver from financial institution relating to the
breach till 29 July 2022.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group has no
breach of any financial covenant from financial institution.

The weighted average interest rates paid during the year were as

27 B @

C.

500,000 103 Tt E R » B2020410
B23BEDE0HEAEE (4%
Ezﬂ%') BRAEFHEREREN
NEEREREARBE —REEWN
B AEREILIF > RENEL 5F 5t
Bo

500,000 N3 T E RN > B20204F
11828#ES 60%55&3@(52{&%
)S’U’F' B) - ARENHAATIRHES

NEEREREEERAT— %%%Eﬁ
BAERIEIEFT > R EN KL 5B 5t
Bo

HE2020F12B31HIEFE » &AE
EHEP—EREARMRKE—RE
B4 HE 25 32,673,494 NI 7T AR
TERERTBZN - REXRER
AEMERKEEERIZYEEER
BRI EA T » EE202287H29H ©

HZE2021F12B31HIEEE » &

B 3 4 < R A 1Y 1T ] B 75 32

RERNBIRIMNEFERELT :

follows:
2021 2020
20214 20204
% %
Bank loans RITER 3.00-4.50 3.00-4.50
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28 DEFERRED TAX LIABILITY 28 RIEIRIEE(E
Accelerated tax
depreciation
TR IEITE
S$°000
TFHETI T
At 1 January 2020 12020F181H 41
Charged to profit or loss (Note 12) Bi8milks (Wat12) 58
At 31 December 2020 and 1 January 2021 72020F 12831 H K2021F181H 99
Credited to profit or loss (Note 12) ST AIBE (Wat12) (99)
At 31 December 2021 72021%12831H =
29 SHARE CAPITAL 29 fgZ
Details of the share capital are disclosed as follows: EAEFIEW BN T !
Number
of shares Par value Share capital
e E [} 1) [
HK$ HK$’000
BT FAET
Authorised share capital of the Company:  Z<A TR EE A
At 1 January 2020, 1220201818
31 December 2020, 1 January 2021 2020128310
and 31 December 2021 202151 B1H K
2021F12831H 10,000,000,000 0.01 100,000
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29 SHARE CAPITAL (Continued) 29 [e7s (@)
Number of

shares Share capital
liitdhE 2 4=] [N
S$°000
TN T

Issued and fully paid shares of the Company: Z<~A & B 217 R4 E &% :

At 1 January 2020, Fr2020F1 818 ~

31 December 2020 and 2020128318 &

1 January 2021 2021%F181H 600,000,000 1,037
Placing of shares on 12 January 2021 (Note) ~ F22021E18 1283 EE R&1D (#15L) 120,000,000 206
Placing of shares on 18 October 2021 (Note) 1420218108 18 A EC & IR 19 (A7aL) 144,000,000 250
At 31 December 2021 2021512831H 864,000,000 1,493
Note: ez -

On 12 January 2021, the Company completed placement of 120,000,000 EEZBZJ[EﬁHW_E ’ff&ﬁn%@ﬁa\%/IZ%OO0,000

ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each, for consideration of HK$0.225 per share. H}HX(EL-OJ Brh fﬁiﬂf » (VEAER0.225%8

The new shares rank pari passu with the existing shares in all respects. ?E oM AR BIRB R AR PR 5 E R B HE
IL o

On 18 October 2021, the Company completed placement of 144,000,000 R2021 %1 Oﬁfj 8 H ’_Z‘S /L\;a 5 ﬁi\?ﬁi%

ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each, for consideration of HK$0.135 per share. B4AOOO,OQOH_§§H22.O\1 %Eﬂgfiéﬁf ER

The new shares rank pari passu with the existing shares in all respects. & h20.1 35%?5 o MR BIRE R AR B PR 75
BB R
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30

31

190

SHARE PREMIUM

Details of the share premium are disclosed as follows:

30

B8

BB IS BT ¢

Share premium

IR & E
2021 2020
20214 2020%F
S$°000 S$'000
TR TT FHNEE T
Premium arising on issue of equity shares BITHERRMMELERE 17,011 9,589

On 12 January 2021, the Company completed placing of share by
issuing 120,000,000 new shares with par value of HK$0.01 each at
the price of HK$0.225 each.

On 18 October 2021, the Company completed placing of share by
issuing 144,000,000 new shares with par value of HK$0.01 each at
the price of HK$0.135 each.

The amounts of the Company’s share premium and the movements
therein during the years ended 31 December 2021 and 31
December 2020 are presented in the consolidated statement of
changes in equity.

Share premium represents the excess of total amount received for
share issued for the shares issued over the aggregate par value.

RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEME

The Group participates in both Central Provident Fund (“CPF”)
in Singapore and a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the
“MPF Scheme”) in Hong Kong. From 1 January 2017 onwards,
the Group’s contribution rates of the eligible employees’ salaries
remain the same, with each employee’s qualifying salary capped at
S$$6,000 and HK$1,500 per month. No forfeited contributions have
been used by the Group to reduce its exiting level of contributions
for the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020 respectively.

The total cost of $$322,000 for the year ended 31 December 2021
(2020: S$196,000) charged to the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income represents contributions
paid or payable for retirement benefit scheme by the Group.
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R2021FE1B12B KRB EBETT
120,000,000 Z R EEC.0O1EBTHEE
AL E  REAER0.2258 T

R2021F10B18H > AR B HEBE 1T
144,000,000 E K EEC.0O1BTHEE
KM E  RKEAERK0.1358 T e

B E2021F12831H /&2020FE12831H
IEFFEERARABNRD EEREEH &
BN R EREREEHRPET] o

R mEIEMETRONMEGEZER
HEEEASHER.

BRIAERN TS
REESEFNMNIFRRAES (HPRAE
&) REBRFMABSE (aksst
2)) cB2017E1R1EE AEBSER
BEHFSHHAERMHFTIE  SMREN
BB E LR%AS B6,000% 113 T &
1,500 7T © 8, £ 20214 K 20204 12 8 31
B IEFE A B E 6 B U FURE
HAEHHKFE-

HZE2021F12831HEEENER A
322,000 N3 7t ( 20204 : 196,000%7 /0
o) ERGEBEa R EMEERERF
FAR » 5 AR B BT S E (T BV R AKB R 5T

BlftRRo
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 #2021 12531 HIFFZE

32 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The remuneration of executive directors of the Company and other
members of key management personnel during the year was as

32

RAE 5 32 5
ERBRTEEFREMEIBEEAESR
REEAFRBIT

follows:
Compensation of key management personnel FEEEASHM
2021 2020
20215 20204
S$°000 S$'000
F#r 03K 7T TR0 T
Salaries, performance bonus and e  RIBTEA R EHMER
other benefits o 2,100 2,446
Contributions to retirement benefits scheme  BRIEF 5t 8 70 26 50
2,126 2,496

In addition to the provision of personal guarantee from directors
of the Company for the Group’s lease liabilities and borrowings
as disclosed in notes 26 and 27, the Group has the following
significant transaction with related party on terms agreed between
the parties are follow:

FRUDMFE26 M 27IREE » N AR EEMAE
EmiEEa R REREHRBAERZIN
AEBERE TN HEBRREAR S
ETHNERRZUT !

2021 2020
20215 20204
S$°000 S$°000
T ¥ T TN T
Disposal of fixed assets to joint venture AEENBAHERETEE - 120
Balance with a related party was as follows, BARAM S S RRUD T
2021 2020
20214 20204
Name of related pa Relationshi Nature of business
75 % F = % | i} ¥i‘: kA=Y - S$'000 581000
R B B EAREA E$ 73 — _
” T 27 IN3E T TR
Dr. Loh Director Prepayment 315 -
LohB& 4 5 FE I
Dr. Loh Director Amount due to a director (Note) 6 -
LohE 4 =5 FE(TEERIA (IEE)
Mr. Wu A director of a Amount due to a director (Note)
subsidiary N - 273
RESE WEBABES FE(TEERIA (IEE)

Note: The amount was unsecured interest free and repayable on demand.
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33 PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 33 FARFEMBATR
OF THE COMPANY
Attributable equity
Place of incorporation/ interests of the Group Issued and fully paid share
operation and date of and the respective voting capital as at date of
Name of Company incorporation right held by the Group as at  this report Principal activities
FEBERMERE
SRS A R REERE REREABHBRTR
RERTE ARz B A FREsHERR IR A BRRE TELH
31 December 31 December
2021 2020
20215 20204
12A31H 12A31H
Directly held
ERRE
Unified Front Limited BVI/Singapore 100% 100%  Ordinary shares of Investment holding.
8 December 2016 US$1,542,506 (equivalent to
approximately $$2,164,000)
Unified Front Limited EEELHE/ MR 1,642,506 70 (HERA RELER
20165 12A8H 2,164,000%7 3K 0) BB AR
RMH (Hong Kong) Hong Kong/Hong Kong 100% 100%  Ordinary shares of Provision of medical aesthetic services
Holdings Limited 2 October 2018 HK$10,000,000 (equivalentto  and sale of skin care products and
approximately S$1,752,000) was remained dormant during the
year.
B (BB BERERAR BB/5F 10,000,000% 7T (*E“ﬁ\“ REER
20185F1082H 1,752,000%7 045 70) B9 &
Desimei Medical Hangzhou/China 100% - - Inactive
(Hangzhou) Co., Ltd 9 December 2021
(Note a)
BEERE (M) M/ FRE THEEE
BRAR (Hfata) 2021512F9H
Indirectly held
BRERE
Dermatology & Singapore/Singapore 100% 100%  Ordinary shares of S$900 Provision of all-round dermatology
Surgery Clinic Pte Ltd 5 September 2013 treatment solutions, specialised in skin
cancer, skin diseases and aesthetic
procedures.
Dermatology & Surgery N3,/ H R QORI e S B REZHUEBRABBARR BA
Clinic Pte Ltd 2013F9A5H RERE RERRESREF
Dermatology & Surgery Singapore/Singapore 100% 100%  Ordinary shares of S$300 Provision of all-round dermatology
Clinic (Orchard) Pte Ltd 20 January 2014 treatment solutions, specialised in skin
cancer, skin diseases and aesthetic
procedures.
Dermatology & Surgery ¥/ #i0iE 3003 NI AV E B RH2FURERGRRAAE EA
Clinic (Orchard) Pte Ltd 2014415208 BEE EERRERRER
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33 PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 33 HTARETEMBAFFE @

OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

Place of incorporation/
operation and date of

Attributable equity
interests of the Group
and the respective voting

Issued and fully paid share
capital as at date of

Name of Company incorporation right held by the Group as at  this report Principal activities
FEMEGRE
SRR SR A R REEHE REREABHERTR
AERE B AL FRistRRIR R BERE TEREH
31 December 31 December
2021 2020
20215 20206
128318 12A31H
Indirectly held (Continued)
EE (8B)
Dermatology & Surgery Singapore/Singapore 100% 100%  Ordinary shares of S$300 Provision of all-round dermatology
Clinic (Shenton) Pte Ltd 6 February 2014 treatment solutions, specialised in skin
cancer, skin diseases and aesthetic
procedures.
Dermatology & Surgery ¥/ #i0iE 3003 NI T AV E B RE2FURERGRBALE B4
Clinic (Shenton) Pte Ltd ~ 2014%286H REE EERRRERER
RMH Family Clinic Pte Ltd  Singapore/Singapore 100% 100%  Ordinary shares of S$300 Provision of community dermatology
6 March 2018 services for less complicated
dermatological conditions and non-
invasive medical aesthetic treatments.
RMH Family Clinic Pte Ltd ~ ¥7/03% / #r i03% 300K T EBR ABHENRER TR B ER
2018%3H6H BREARBET AR
DS Skin & Aesthetics Singapore/Singapore 100% 100%  Ordinary shares of S$300 Specialised Medical Services (Including
Clinic Pte Ltd 16 July 2020 Day Surgical Centers).
DS Skin & Aesthetics g,/ FnK 3003 NI T AV E B BRBRRY QFEEBFHHL)
Clinic Pte Ltd 2020%7H16H
RMH Imaging Limited Hong Kong/Hong Kong 100% 100%  Ordinary shares of HK$1,000 Provision of diagnostic & screening
5 August 2020 (equivalent to approximately service offered through imaging
S$180) machines, including but not limited to
Computed Tomography Scanner (CT),
Magnetic Resonance Imaging (MRI),
Ultrasounds (US) and Mammography
(MG)
RMH Imaging Limited e 1,000%7T BB ABRREZ O RERRY 8F
202048A5H (IEER L1805 M) BARNEREERHC) B
BER 1R(VRI)~ BE (U R ILBEFMG)
DS Regenerative Hong Kong/Hong Kong 100% 100%  Ordinary shares of HK$1,000 Trading of health supplement and skin
Medicine Limited 8 June 2020 (equivalent to approximately care products
S$175)
BHBLESERAT BB/EE 1,00077T BREMETRREEEEERES
2020%6A8H (HEERLH175H M TT)
VERR
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PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

33

TRATEEMB AT FRE @)

Attributable equity
Place of incorporation/ interests of the Group Issued and fully paid share
operation and date of and the respective voting capital as at date of
Name of Company incorporation right held by the Group as at  this report Principal activities
AEBRERE
SRR SRR R REEHE REREABHERTR
NERHE B AL FrestRRIR R BRRE TEREH
31 December 31 December
2021 2020
20215 20206
12A318 12A31H

Indirectly held (Continued)

ERfE (8B)

DES (Shenzhen) Enterprise  Shenzhen/China 100% 100% - Trading of health supplement and skin
Development Co., Ltd 22 October 2020 care products
(Note a)

=i (RYN) bR #/RE = rREREEERES
BRAR (Hfata) 2020105228

Zhongshan Des Enterprise  Zhongshan/China 100% - - Inactive
Management Co., Ltd 3 December 2021
(Note b)

e REE U,/ HE e
BRAR (Hazp) 2021512530

EHREEERAT Hong Kong/Hong Kong 70% - Ordinary shares of HK$10 Inactive

30 December 2021 (equivalent to approximately S$2)

BHRSEERAT &8/ E8 107870 (SRR3R B LHRED

20215128308 Rk

Unified Front Limited, RMH (Hong Kong) Holdings Limited and
Desimei Medical (Hangzhou) Co., Ltd are directly held by the
Company. All other subsidiaries are indirectly held by the Company.
All entities comprising the Group are limited liability companies and
have adopted 31 December as their financial year end date.

None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities at the end
of the year.

Notes:

(@) The company was incorporated as limited liability company (Taiwan,
Hong Kong and Macau legal person sole proprietorship) in the PRC.

(b) The company was incorporated as limited liability company (wholly
owned foreign enterprise) in the PRC.
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34 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND 34 FEATWMBRRREERRER
RESERVES OF THE COMPANY EREADRBREPREBRRENSE

Information about the statement of financial position of the wBanr
Company at the end of the reporting period is as follows:

2021 2020
20214 20204
S$°000 S$'000

T A3 7T TR0 T

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BEKRERE

Non-current asset EREBEE

Investments in subsidiaries NSRS = 3,353 5,105

Current assets REEE

Amounts due from subsidiaries FEUR I B AT RRIE 4,049 6,299

Other receivables Hh g8 350 42

Fair value through profit or loss instrument BAFEFABERNTAR 616 =

Cash and cash equivalents RERIREEEY 197 25
5,212 6,366

Current liabilities mEAaRE

Amounts due to subsidiaries N ENCIEIR =] 5,940 5,819

Other payables and accruals HAMEN & ESTRIE 152 124
6,092 5,943

Net current (liabilities)/assets WE(BR) EBEFE (880) 423

Net assets FEE 2,473 5,528

EQUITY s

Capital and reserves BARKEE

Share capital [N 1,493 1,037

Reserves 5 980 4,491

Equity attributable to owners of AT EE AEL#ERD

the Company 2,473 5,628
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34 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND 34 ZFATHNMBERIKREREIRRTR

35

196

RESERVES OF THE COMPANY (Continued) €=)
The movement of the Company’s capital and reserves is as follows: KABERREHEEBUWT :
Share Share Other Accumulated
capital premium reserves losses Total
s a0 Bt HitnfkE RitHE st
S$'000 S$'000 S$'000 S$°000 S$°000
FHmgT  FEHmET  FENEx FENET TERIER
At 1 January 2020 1202018108 1,037 9,589 3,353 (4,222) 9,757
Loss and total comprehensive expense FREEREERS R
for the year - - - (4,229) (4,229)
At 31 December 2020 and 122020F128310
1 January 2021 K2021F181H8 1,037 9,589 3,353 (8,451) 5,528
Loss and total comprehensive expense FREBRREERSRHE
for the year - - - (10,933) (10,933)
Issuing of shares by placing FBRERTRM 456 7,542 - - 7,098
Transaction costs attributable to issue of ~ BREEETRHM
shares by placing FEIG R 7 AR = (120) = = (120)
At 31 December 2021 20215128310 1,493 17,011 3,353 (19,384) 2,473

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group
will be able to continue as a going concern while maximising the
return to owners of the Company through the optimisation of the
debt and equity balance. The Group’s overall strategy remains
unchanged in 2021 and 2020.

The capital structure of the Group represents borrowings and equity
attributable to owners of the Company, comprising issued share
capital and reserves.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure on a
regular basis. As part of this review, the directors of the Company
consider the cost of capital and the risks associated with each
class of capital. Based on recommendations of the directors of
the Company, the Group will balance its overall capital structure
through issue of shares, payment of dividends and return of capital
to shareholders.
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36 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 36 FTH
Categories of financial instruments EMTARSHE
2021 2020
20214 20204
S$°000 S$'000
TN T FEINR T
Financial assets ERIEE
Financial assets at amortised cost B IE R A SR E E 7,251 9,148
Fair value through profit or loss instrument NREEFABTNWITA 616 91
Finance lease receivables MEHEERWRIE 18 675
Financial liabilities THaE
Financial liabilities at amortised cost HEER AN EREE 7,908 8,494
Lease liabilities HEAas 6,067 6,083

Financial risk management objectives and
policies

Details of these financial instruments are disclosed in respective
notes. The risks associated with these financial instruments include
market risk (interest rate risk, other price risk and currency risk),
credit risk and liquidity risk. The policies on how to mitigate these
risks are set out below. The management of the Group manages
and monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate measures are
implemented on a timely and effective manner.

Market risk
Interest rate risk

The Group does not have any exposure to cash flow interest rate
risk. The Group’s profit and loss and other comprehensive income
are not affected by the changes in interest rates as the interest-
bearing instruments carry fixed interest.

The Group currently does not have any interest rate hedging policy.
However, management of the Group closely monitors its exposure
to interest rate risk as a result of change on market interest rate and
will consider hedging changes in market interest rates should the
need arise.

TREEEIEEERER

ZEEM T AENFBERIERMMERE-
HZEERITAMEMNARSET SRR
FXRRR HMERRRREERR -
SERMERENE S B o T X HFRE
ZERABRHNBR AEEEEEEEKRS
BZERBARE BERFAEWRNEE

B o

35 B B
FUEmEE
AERUEEDREIMRESREFXEAR-
MRETE TAMBEEF S  BMAEE
B K H A 2 e R 2 ) KB

=45
o

4 4 [ B A 3 48 RS8R IRE o AT &
EEERERERERE DR
BORIR ARG AR BB E B
BRI E -
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)
Other price risk

The Group is exposed to equity price risk through its investments
in listed equity securities for the year ended 31 December 2021.
The management manages the exposure to equity price risk
of investments in listed equity securities by closely monitoring
fluctuation of these investments.

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based on the
exposure to equity price risks relating to held-for-trading equity
instruments investments at the reporting date.

If the price of the respective equity instruments had been 5%
higher/lower, the Group’s loss for the year ended 31 December
2021 would decrease/increase by S$31,000 as a result of the
changes.

Currency risk

The Group undertakes certain transactions denominated in foreign
currencies, which expose the Group to foreign currency risk. The
Group currently does not have a foreign currency hedging policy,
but the management will consider hedging significant foreign
currency exposure as necessary. The Group manages the foreign
currency risk by closely monitoring the movement of the foreign
currency exchange rates.

As at 31 December 2021 and 2020, except for the followings,
the Group does not have significant financial assets or financial
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies other than the functional
currencies of the respective group companies. The carrying
amounts of the Group’s foreign currency denominated monetary
assets at the end of each reporting period are as follows.
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36 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 36 EEMTH®
Financial risk management objectives and EREEEEBRREE @
policies (Continued)
Market risk (Continued) HiEAKE (&)
Currency risk (Continued)) B ()
Assets
BE
2021 2020
20214 20204
S$°000 S$'000
F#INiE T ¥ 0T
Cash and bank RITIRE
- HKD —B7T 23 -
Intra-group balance EEANLATMER
- HKD —B7T 18,177 13,785
As at 31 December 2021 and 2020, the Group is mainly exposed 1220214 }2020F12A31H > A EE X E
to the foreign currency risk of HKD against the functional currency ARBTRSEEERENNEGEZ
of each group entity. SN BB
The following table indicates the approximate change in the —Fﬁﬁﬁ{%jg%@ﬂzmgﬂé (20204 * f548)
Group’s loss (2020: loss) for the year in response to 5% (2020: 5%) MAKNES UEERSEEEERZ AR
increase or decrease in HKD against the functional currency of each RINAERIEZ5% (20204 : 5%) BN
group entity to which the Group has significant exposure at the D (RRERAHEEEBREARR)
end of reporting period. A sensitivity rate of 5% (2020: 5%) on HKD ATTORNERERREREF B
represents management’s assessment of the reasonably possible ATEENSER PR
change in HKD exchange rate.
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

=R T A @
TREREERBRREEE @

Market risk (Continued) HigEK ()
Currency risk (Continued) EgmEEE (48)
2021 2020
20214 20204
Increase/ Increase/
(decrease) (decrease)
in loss in loss
EEi8igm, E5183E .,
GRiL) R
S$°000 S$°000
T ¥ N T TN T
Increase in foreign exchange rate SN B =R 1 0 (910) (689)
Decrease in foreign exchange rate 4 i B 2 L 910 689

In management’s opinion, the sensitivity analysis is unrepresentative
of the inherent foreign exchange risk as the year end exposure at
the end of the reporting period does not reflect the exposure during
the year.

Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its
contractual obligations resulting in financial loss to the Group. At the
end of reporting period, the Group’s maximum exposure to credit
risk which will cause a financial loss to the Group due to failure
to discharge an obligation by the counterparties arises from the
carrying amount of the respective recognised financial assets as
stated in the consolidated statement of financial position.

In order to minimise credit risk, the Group has delegated its finance
team to develop and maintain the Group’s credit risk grading to
categorise exposures according to their degree of risk of default.
The finance team uses publicly available financial information and
the Group’s own historical repayment records to rate its major
customers and debtors. The Group’s exposure and the credit
ratings of its counterparties are continuously monitored and the
aggregate value of transactions concluded is spread amongst
approved counterparties.

RMH HOLDINGS LIMITED e Annual Report 2021

EEERD ARNBRSHRNERERE
ERBENRE > ZEREDMEEAER
E5 SME R o

EERRE
EERBENFORRERTHEHGNE
EMERFEBRZYMBERER R
BEAR AEBREFHARERTER
AEENNMBBERMEAENRSEE
BEEAEEEREENGSFHRRIE
FREEsBRYARE(E ©

AR EERREERE FEEBEIKE
MHEEENERBIAEENEED R
DR HREN R R EY BRET
DE-MBEEANBRARBSNMBEE
HRAERESNBTENCHREEE
EERPREBANETIR -FEEG T
ERHAEYEBRREFHNEETR
MAFETZZHNBEED DT EZEL
ERNHEFT -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ko B bk

For the year ended 31 December 2021 #2021 12531 HIFFZE

36 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 36 EEMTH®
Financial risk management objectives and EREEEEBRREE @
policies (Continued)
Credit risk (Continued) EERK (&
The Group’s current credit risk grading framework comprises the AREBERENEERMARERCEMN
following categories: IO
Category Description Basis for recognising ECL
£l i HNTRIEE R EE
Performing The counterparty has a low risk of default and does not have 12-month ECL
any past-due amounts.
B HFEFWENRKRE BlaiREin + @B RIEEEHRE
Doubtful Amount is >30 days past due or there has been a significant Lifetime ECL — not credit impaired

increase in credit risk since initial recognition.

RAB ORS00 REERMBEEREILRE AR L L£anEHARREEEEB
Fto —EEILEZE

In default Amount is >90 days past due or there is evidence indicating Lifetime ECL — credit impaired
the asset is credit-impaired.

BH TREBEM-00 RERBRTEECSHIREGRE . LonBHRREEHE

—EEBE®E

Write-off There is evidence indicating that the debtor is in severe Amount is written off
financial difficulty and the Group has no realistic prospect
of recovery.

Hi 24 ARBRNEFAENBREMBEE BAEERER LT SRREMH
mAEWREMIE.
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36 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 36 ERITHE®
Financial risk management objectives and TREEEEBRREBE @)
policies (Continued)
Credit risk (Continued) EERAK (&
The table below details the credit quality of the Group’s financial TE&RET A % EsmEENEEERNU
assets as well as maximum exposure to credit risk by credit risk Ez Bz SERBTRISNESEER
rating grades: T
Internal Gross Net
credit carrying Loss carrying
rating E-n}or}gg{)r lifetime ECL amount allowance amount
it )=
REMEETHR SHBHEREESRE MEREE  BERE  REEE
Notes $000 $'000 $'000
B & TR FHMET FHMET
2021
20214
Trade receivables 23 U Lifetime ECL (simplified approach) 2,230 (779) 1,451
B3 EWEIE SaBRIEEER (G855
Other receivables 23 @ 12-month ECL 1,039 (35) 1,004
H M EW RIS +ZEREHREEEE
Amount owing from 23 @ Lifetime ECL 1,898 (1,898) -
Jomt venture
G EETNNIA S BHEIREERE
Flnance lease 17 @ Lifetime ECL 18 - 18
receivables ‘
R ETRA RIS o BHITRIAE BE1E
Deposits 21,23 @ 12-month ECL 2,658 S 2,658
e +ZEREHREEEE
2020
20204
Trade receivables 23 U Lifetime ECL (simplified approach) 2,362 - 2,362
B3 ENEIE SaBRIEEEE (85
Other receivables 23 @ 12-month ECL 895 (767) 128
HhEWRIE +ZEREEEEE
Amount owing from 23 @ Lifetime ECL 1,994 (1,994) -
Jomt venture
AEEGE B S BHEIREEEE
Finance lease 17 @ Lifetime ECL 1,216 (541) 675
receivables
R ETRAEWEIE S BHITRIAE BE1E
Deposits 21,23 @ 12-month ECL 1,726 = 1,726
e +ZEREEEEE
M The Group determines the expected credit losses on trade 0 AEEFEREBEERETESEKRTRIE
receivables by using a provision matrix, estimated based on historical NTERREERE > HREEWEIEN A
credit loss experience based on the past due status of the debtors, R LUBEE B IBARETET W1
adjusted as appropriate to reflect current conditions and estimates of H B E B DR IR B Y IE  Re (5t Y
future economic conditions. RAASFAR T ©
@ The Group determines that these receivables are not past due and @ AEERDS BRZERICEERREY
have low risk of default, apart from those receivables which credit risk REEDLIRE Ag L F ’JF@&(TAIE% PN
is assessed to have increased significantly since initial recognition. EERAZSRRTBEA L AAHEE
KRR AK
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 #{Z20214£ 12531 H 1L FZ

36 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 36 HRITH@®@
Financial risk management objectives and EREEEEBRREE @
policies (Continued)
Credit risk (Continued) EERK (&
The Group has adopted procedures in extending credit terms to TEBERMERIEREZFREE HHE’ZE
customers and in monitoring its credit risk. The Group only grants REERB - AEEERFEERENR

credit to creditworthy counterparties. Cash is held with creditworthy
institutions.

Top 3 corporate customers of the Group accounts for
approximately 40% of the trade receivables for the year ended 31
December 2021 (2020: 78%). Management assesses and monitors
credit risk and debt collection efforts on a regular basis. Allowance
for potential credit losses is adjusted when necessary.

Liquidity risk

The Group’s approach in managing liquidity is to ensure, as far
as possible, that it will always have sufficient liquidity to meet its
liabilities when due, under both normal and stressed conditions,
without incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to the
Group’s reputation. The Group monitors its liquidity risk and
maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed adequate
by management of the Group to finance the Group’s operations
and to mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash flows. Typically, the
Group ensures that it has sufficient cash on hand to meet expected
operational expenses; this excludes the potential impact of extreme
circumstances that cannot reasonably be predicted, such as natural
disaster.

The following table details the Group’s remaining contractual
maturity for its non-derivative financial liabilities based on the agreed
repayment dates. The table has been drawn up based on the
undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on the earliest
date on which the Group can be required to pay.

The table includes both interest and principal cash flows. To the
extent that interest flows are floating rate, the undiscounted amount
is derived from interest rate at the end of each reporting period.

HARHEE -REFRNER Eﬁ%ﬁ%&
1o

NEBN=ZAABDETR(EE E20214F
12831HIEEENE S EWEIELAI40%
(2020%F : 78%) - EEE AT EKME
REERARKREHLR TIE BEEEEH
BEENEEERIERARE.

MBEEER
AEREERPESN A EEN —REK
ZEBEATERSERFREBEHARDY
BESEMIPERE cEFRARKETR
FERZZERNBETRAR -~EEE
Qﬁm@]ﬁ%ﬂﬁmjﬁ R EREEERE
RREABMNAEREERGREER
ERPTENRERREEBY KT -—
fRms > AEEEREFRRSEURAM
RKER>  BETEREXRKERESE
FRARIRIRIER 2 BEZE -

TRFALAEBEFTESREGRBTE
B H AR T SAEIEER - KRR
BrERANETRMEERFZHNRM
RIVEREMHIE

AROBENERATREMNE - HA 2R
ERFPANR ARMBREBREZRED
EEIESE
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36

37

204

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 36

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

=R T A @
TREREERBRREBER @

Liquidity tables mREBEER
Carrying
Weighted amount at
average Total the end of
effective Within 2to 5 undiscounted the reporting
interest rate 1 year years cash flows date
KR RERSEH
T RERE BRI
EES 1ER 2F5%F B IREE
% S$'000 S$'000 S$'000 S$'000
%  TEMET  FEMET  FEET TERER
At 31 December 2021 120214128310
Non-derivative financial liabilities FiTESRBE
Trade and other payables BHREMENHIE N/ATER 2,639 277 2,916 2,916
Lease liabilities HESE 2.66-3.00 2,685 3,635 6,320 6,067
Borrowings R 3.00-4.50 1,454 3,851 5,305 4,992
At 31 December 2020 1#2020612831H
Non-derivative financial liabilities FEiTEERBER
Trade and other payables B RAMENHE N/A R EH 2,484 337 2,821 2,821
Lease liabilities HE&E 2.66-3.00 2,926 3,458 6,384 6,083
Borrowings EEN 3.00-4.50 3,119 3,041 6,160 5,673

Subsequent to the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group
refinanced by issuing additional new shares to increase its working
capital (Note 39).

Fair value

Management of the Group considers that the carrying amounts of
financial assets and financial liabilities recorded at amortised cost
approximate their fair values.

REE2021F12831HIEEER  mER
BBBETHREINTRDETBRERIEF
EEES (WaE39) o

AT
AEBEERRD  BBHMAATRNE
MEEREREECREERARATE
GEEER

COMMITMENTS 37 KiE
2021 2020
20214 20204
S$°000 S$'000
T3 03k T TR T

Commitments for the software and B R P8 AN AR TR = e
development cost and plant and equipment =R & IE

Contracted but not provided [EHESEES 4 5,490 708
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38. NOTE TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS
OF CASH FLOWS

(a)

(b)

Major non-cash transactions

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the major non-
cash transactions are related to new leases for the use
of rented properties and plant and equipment as well as
sublease arrangements entered by the Group. Details are set
out in Notes 9 and Notes19.

Reconciliation of liabilities arising from
financing activities

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities
arising from financing activities, including both cash and non-
cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are
those for which cash flows were, or future cash flows will be,

38 ZEWREMERMEE

(@) FEIFREXRSH
HE2021F12831HLEEE T8
JEIR &3 5 HFE A Y MU R R
ERBENHAERAERT LMW
DHEZHEE R o EIBEFMY SO R M
£X190

(b) MEZBEENEEHER

TRENAEBBEREDSREE
WEaENES BFEREERIFRE
2E -METHELENEBELHR

EREFRKBEERELEARE

classified in the consolidated statement of cash flows as cash Eﬁ HERERERPOBEAMES
flows from financing activities. BREMENEE-
Borrowings Lease liabilities Total
&R HEaR st
S$°000 S$°000 S$°000
TN T TFHrni T TN T
Balance at 1 January 2021 20211 B1 B4R 5,673 6,083 11,756
Changes from financing cash MERESTEEF .
flows:
— Interest paid —BNHE (176) (164) (340)
- Prepayment of lease liabilites ~—fE & & E&TETRIB - (3,040) (3,040)
- Repayment of borrowings —(BIEEMN (681) - (681)
Total changes from financing MERESMEEERER
cash flows (857) (3,204) (4,061)
Non-cash changes: JEIREEE)
- New lease liabilities — Mg EARE - 2,950 2,950
— Interest expense (Note 10) —FEMX 176 164 340
- Exchange alignments —ERRE - 74 74
176 3,188 3,364
Balance at 31 December 2021 132021412831 H 45 4,992 6,067 11,059
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38 RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING
FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES (Continued)

(b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from

38 RMEZFEENERNHEEK®

(b) MEZBEENEEHEK

financing activities (Continued) (€=))
Borrowings Lease liabilities Total
R HEAaR Wt
S$'000 S$'000 S$°000
TR T TN TT TN T
Balance at 1 January 2020 2020181 8 &6k - 9,989 9,989
Changes from financing cash MERESTEEE) .
flows:
~ Interest paid —BfFE (69) (192) (261)
— Repayment of lease liabilities ~ —fEEHEEE - (1,939) (1,939)
— Proceeds from borrowings — &SRR 6,000 - 6,000
- Repayment of borrowings —(EIEEMN (327) = (327)
Total changes from financing MEIRESMEEERE
cash flows 5,604 (2,131) 3,473
Non-cash changes: JEIREEE)
- New lease liabilities —HgEEaE - 5,558 5,558
- Disposal of lease liabilities —HEHRESaR - (7,525) (7,525)
— Interest expense (Note 10) — MBI (B5E10) 69 192 261
69 (1,775) (1,706)
Balance at 31 December 2020 22020812831 H & i 5,673 6,083 11,756
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 #2021 12531 HIFFZE

39 SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 39 &EBEFRIF
Subsequent to the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group HE2021F12H31H L EEHR » AEER
has completed a right issue of 432,000,000 new Shares on 21 202243H21H 5E M 4 #%432,000,0008%
March 2022 of which 196,917,077 right shares was accepted and ¥rh&n > HH196,917,07 7R AR IR 1D &
235,082,923 was undersubscribed by underwriter. The estimated 4> 235,082,923 R ERHERE
net proceeds is approximately HK$41,000,000 (equivalent to FHEIEE SR A SR o TS TS AN IE F 28
approximately S$7,104,000). #97341,000,0007 7 (£ 72 497,104,000
o oT) ©
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY

HA P2

For the year ended 31 December

HE12831HLLEE
2018 2019 2020 2021
20184 20194 20204 20214
S$'000 S$'000 S$°000 S$’000
TN T T TR FHmET
RESULTS E4
Revenue Wz 6,987 7,225 7,809 10,289
Profit/(loss) before taxation BRI AR (B518) 2,131 379 9,197 (8,871)
Income tax (credit)/expenses Frigi %) /B (280) (221) (75) 86
Profit/(loss) for the year FEEHA, (BB 1,851 158 9,272) (8,785)
As at 31 December
#¥12831H
2018 2019 2020 2021
20184 20194 20204 20214
S$'000 S$'000 S$'000 S$’000
TN T T TR FHMET
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BERAE
Total assets MEE 15,813 25,654 20,490 18,907
Total liabilities N =E 1,207 10,910 14,959 14,340
Total equity attributable to owners of EhEA AT R AR
the Company Y 14,606 14,744 5,531 4,567
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